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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024

or

[0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from ___ to

Commission file number 001-38160

Redfin Corporation

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 74-3064240
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
1099 Stewart Street Suite 600
Seattle WA 98101
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)
(206) 576-8333

Registrant's telephone number, including area code

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share RDFN The Nasdaq Global Select Market

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule
405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit such files). Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
Emerging growth company O
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If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with
any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). O Yes No

The registrant had 115,241,638 119,470,881 shares of common stock outstanding as of October 27, 2023 May 2, 2024.
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Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024
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As used in this quarterly report, the terms "Redfin,"” "we," "us," and "our" refer to Redfin Corporation and its subsidiaries taken as a whole, unless otherwise noted or unless
the context indicates otherwise. However, when referencing (i) the 2023 notes, the 2025 notes, and the 2027 notes, the terms “we,” “us,” and “our” refer only to Redfin Corporation
and not to Redfin Corporation and its subsidiaries taken as a whole, (ii) the Apollo term loan, the terms “we,” “us,” and “our” refer only to Redfin Corporation and its subsidiaries
except for Bay Equity LLC, taken as a whole, and (ii) each warehouse credit facility, the terms "we," "us," and "our" refer to Bay Equity LLC.

Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report contains forward-looking statements. All statements contained in this report other than statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our
future operating results and financial position, our business strategy and plans, our market growth and trends, and our objectives for future operations, are forward-looking
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statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “plan,” "hope,” “potentially,” “preliminary,” “likely,” and
similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about
future events and trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short-term and long-term business operations and objectives,
and financial needs. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, including those described under Item 1A of our annual
report for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, as supplemented by Part Il, Item 1A of this report. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly
changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the effect of all factors on our business or
the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light
of these risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, the future events and trends discussed in this report may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those
anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. Accordingly, you should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, performance, or events and circumstances reflected in the
forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur. We undertake no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements for any reason after the date of this report or to
conform these statements to actual results or revised expectations.

Note Regarding Industry and Market Data

This quarterly report contains information using industry publications that generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to
be reliable, but such information may not be accurate or complete. While we are not aware of any misstatements regarding the information from these industry publications, we have
not independently verified any of the data from third-party sources nor have we ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied on therein.

i

PART | - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.

Redfin Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts, unaudited)

September December
30,2023 31,2022

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Assets Assets
Current assets Current assets

Current assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents

Cashand $ 125,803 $ 232,200

Cash and cash cash
equivalents equivalents

Restricted 1,414 2,406
Restricted cash cash
Short-term Short-term 41,752 122,259
investments investments
Accounts receivable, net of 55,118 46,375
allowances for credit losses of
$2,529 and $2,223

Accounts receivable,
net of allowances for
credit losses of

$3,658 and $3,234

Loans held 137,680 199,604
Loans held for sale for sale

Prepaid 26,248 34,006
Prepaid expenses expenses

Other 8,811 7,449

current

Other current assets ~ assets
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Total current assets

Total current assets

Property and

equipment, net

Mortgage servicing

rights, at fair value
Goodwill

Other assets,

noncurrent

Total assets

Total assets

Total assets
Liabilities, mezzanine
equity, and
stockholders’ (deficit)
equity

Current liabilities

Current liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable

Accounts payable

Accrued and other
liabilities

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities
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Total current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Total 248,824

Total current current
liabilities liabilities
Lease 31,416
Lease liabilities, liabilities,
noncurrent noncurrent
Convertible 799,665

Convertible senior

notes, net, noncurrent

senior notes,

net, noncurrent

Term loan
Term loan
Term loan
Deferred tax
Deferred tax liabilities  liabilities 260

Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued

operations —
Total liabilities
Total liabilities
Total 1,080,165
Total liabilities liabilities
Commitments
and
Commitments and contingencies

contingencies (Note 7) (Note 7)

Series A convertible preferred stock— 39,047
par value $0.001 per share; 10,000,000

shares authorized; 40,000 shares

issued and outstanding at September

30, 2023 and December 31, 2022,

respectively

Stockholders’ equity

Common stock—par value $0.001 per 115
share; 500,000,000 shares authorized;

115,210,998 and 109,696,178 shares

issued and outstanding at September

30, 2023 and December 31, 2022,

respectively

Series A convertible

preferred stock—par

value $0.001 per share;

10,000,000 shares

authorized; 40,000

shares issued and

outstanding at March

31, 2024 and December

31, 2023

Stockholders’

(deficit)

equity

Common stock—par value $0.001 per
share; 500,000,000 shares authorized;
119,440,241 and 117,372,171 shares
issued and outstanding at March 31,
2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively

Common stock—par value $0.001 per
share; 500,000,000 shares authorized;
119,440,241 and 117,372,171 shares
issued and outstanding at March 31,
2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively

Common stock—par value $0.001 per
share; 500,000,000 shares authorized;
119,440,241 and 117,372,171 shares
issued and outstanding at March 31,
2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively
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354,639

36,906

1,078,157

243

392

1,470,337

39,914

110

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
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Additional paid-in

capital

Accumulated other

comprehensive loss

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ equity 5,753 63,953

Additional 806,330 757,951
paid-in capital

Accumulated (257) (801)
other

comprehensive

loss

Accumulated (800,435)  (693,307)

deficit

Total liabilities, mezzanine equity, $1,125,865 $1,574,204

and stockholders’ equity

Total
stockholders’
(deficit) equity
Total liabilities,
mezzanine
equity, and
stockholders’

(deficit) equity

Revenue

Revenue

Revenue

Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

Gross profit

Gross profit
Operating expenses
Operating expenses

Operating expenses

See Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Redfin Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts, unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

Technology and development

Technology and development

Technology and

development
Marketing

Marketing

2023 2022 2023 2022
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
2024
2024
2024
Revenue $ 268,956 $ 305,774 758,595 $ 877,639
Cost of revenue 170,616 215,109 501,927 624,089
Gross profit 98,340 90,665 256,668 253,550
Operating expenses
Technology and 44,392 43,335 139,196 135,678
development
Marketing 24,095 33,242 97,531 131,352
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Marketing
General and administrative

General and administrative

General and General and 55,380 57,976 186,584 182,640
administrative administrative
Restructuring and Restructuring and — 284 7,159 18,399
reorganization reorganization
Restructuring and reorganization
Restructuring and reorganization
Total operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Total operating Total operating 123,867 134,837 430,470 468,069
expenses expenses
Loss from continuing Loss from continuing (25,527) (44,172) (173,802) (214,519)
operations operations
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from continuing operations
Interest income
Interest income
Interest income Interest income 2,060 1,174 8,170 1,948
Interest expense Interest expense (1,603) (2,219) (5,291) (6,648)
Income tax expense (239) (132) (882) (425)
Interest expense
Interest expense
Income tax benefit (expense)
Income tax benefit (expense)
Income tax benefit (expense)
Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes
Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes
Gain on extinguishment of Gain on extinguishment of 6,495 — 68,848 —
convertible senior notes  convertible senior notes
Other expense, net Other expense, net (158) (902) (537) (3,077)
Other expense, net
Other expense, net
Net loss from continuing operations
Net loss from continuing operations
Net loss from continuing  Net loss from continuing (18,972) (46,251) (103,494) (222,721)
operations operations
Net loss from discontinued Net loss from discontinued — (43,994) (3,634) (36,476)
operations operations
Net loss from discontinued operations
Net loss from discontinued operations
Net loss Net loss $ (18,972) (90,245) (107,128) $ (259,197)
Net loss
Net loss
Dividends on convertible preferred stock
Dividends on convertible preferred stock
Dividends on convertible  Dividends on convertible (335) (272) (858) (1,416)
preferred stock preferred stock
Net loss from continuing ~ Net loss from continuing  $ (19,307) (46,523) (104,352) $ (224,137)
operations attributable to  operations attributable to
common stock—basic and common stock—basic and
diluted diluted
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Net loss from continuing operations attributable to

common stock—basic and diluted

Net loss from continuing operations attributable to
common stock—basic and diluted

Net loss attributable to common stock—basic and
diluted

Net loss attributable to common stock—basic and

diluted

Net loss attributable to Net loss attributable to $ (19,307)
common stock—basic and common stock—basic and

diluted diluted

Net loss from continuing ~ Net loss from continuing  $ (0.17)
operations per share operations per share
attributable to common attributable to common

stock—basic and diluted  stock—basic and diluted

Net loss from continuing operations per share

attributable to common stock—basic and diluted

Net loss from continuing operations per share

attributable to common stock—basic and diluted

Net loss attributable to Net loss attributable to $ (0.17)
common stock per share— common stock per share—

basic and diluted basic and diluted

Net loss attributable to common stock per share—

basic and diluted

Net loss attributable to common stock per share—

basic and diluted

Weighted-average shares to compute net loss per

share attributable to common stock—basic and diluted

Weighted-average shares to compute net loss per

share attributable to common stock—basic and diluted

Weighted-average shares Weighted-average shares 114,592,679
to compute net loss per  to compute net loss per

share attributable to share attributable to

common stock—basic and common stock—basic and

diluted diluted

Net loss Net loss $ (18,972)

Other comprehensive income
Net loss

Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Foreign currency Foreign currency (15)
translation translation

adjustments adjustments

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale debt 210
securities

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale debt
securities

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale debt
securities

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale debt
securities

(90,517)

(0.43)

(0.83)

108,618,491

(90,245)

27

34

(107,986)

(0.93)

(0.96)

112,141,342

(107,128)

(73)

617

$ (260,613)

$ (2.08)

$ (2.42)

107,566,894

$ (259,197)

65

812

Comprehensive loss Comprehensive loss $ (18,777)

(90,184)

(106,584)

$ (258,320)

Comprehensive loss

Comprehensive loss
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See Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Redfin Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands, unaudited)

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2023 2022
Three Months Ended March 31, Three Months Ended March 31,
2024 2024 2023
Operating
Operating Activities
Activities
Net loss Net loss $(107,128) $ (259,197)
Net loss
Net loss
. Adjustments to
Adjustments to
. reconcile net loss
reconcile net loss to
to net cash
net cash provided
provided by
by operating
e operating
activities:
activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation Depreciation
and and
amortization amortization 48,443 47,438
Stock-based Stock-based
compensation compensation 55,382 51,672
Amortization of Amortization of
debt discount debt discount
and issuance and issuance
costs costs 2,873 4,358
Non-cash lease Non-cash
expense lease expense 12,909 11,313
Impairment Impairment
costs costs 113 913
Net (gain) loss on IRLCs, forward
sales commitments, and loans held
for sale (1,767) 4,228
Net gain on
IRLCs, forward
sales
commitments,
and loans held
for sale
Change in fair Change in fair
value of value of
mortgage mortgage
servicing rights, servicing
net rights, net 1,065 (1,472)
Gain on Gain on
extinguishment extinguishment
of convertible of convertible
senior notes senior notes (68,848) —
Other Other (2,013) 3,254
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Accounts receivable, net

Accounts receivable, net

Accounts
receivable,

net

Prepaid
expenses
and other

assets

Accrued and
other
liabilities,
deferred tax
liabilities,
and payroll
tax liabilities,

noncurrent

Origination
of mortgage
servicing

rights

Origination

of loans held

for sale

Net cash

(used in)
provided
by
operating
activities
nvsingaciviies msingaetites
Purchases of property and
equipment
Purchases of property and

equipment
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Purchases of
property and

equipment

Sales of

investments

Net cash provided by

investing activities
Net cash provided by
investing activities
Net cash provided by

investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from the issuance of

1 stock p to employ

equity plans

Proceeds from the issuance of

common stock pursuant to employee

equity plans

Tax payments
related to net
share

settlements on
restricted stock

units

Repayments to

warehouse

credit facilities

Principal payments under finance

lease obligations

Principal payments under finance

lease obligations
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Principal
payments under
finance lease

obligations

Repurchases of
convertible

senior notes

Principal
payments
under finance
lease
obligations
Repurchases
of convertible

senior notes

Repayments of convertible senior

notes

Net cash (used in) provided

(73) (680)

(212,401)

(23,512) =

(304,347) 15,098

by financing activities
Repayment of term loan principal
Repayment of term loan principal

Repayment of term loan principal

Net cash
used in
financing

activities

Effect of
exchange rate
changes on
cash, cash
equivalents, and

restricted cash

Net change in cash,
cash equivalents,
and restricted cash
Cash, cash
equivalents, and

restricted cash:

Effect of
exchange rate
changes on
cash, cash
equivalents,
and restricted

cash

Net change in cash,

cash equivalents,

and restricted cash
Cash, cash

equivalents, and

restricted cash:

3 ()

(115,029)  (314,565)

Beginning of Beginning of 242,246
period() periodq) 718,281
Beginning of period)
Beginning of period)
End of periode) End of periode) $ 127,217 $ 403,716
discl e of cash discl e of cash
flow information flow information
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow
information
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow
information
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for Cash paid for
interest interest $ 13540 $ 12,887
Non-cash Non-cash
transactions transactions
Stock-based Stock-based
compensation compensation
capitalized in capitalized in 3,173 2,983
property and property and
equipment equipment

Stock-based compensation

capitalized in property and equipment
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Stock-based compensation

capitalized in property and equipment

Property and Property and

equipment equipment

additions in additions in

accounts accounts

payable and payable and

accrued accrued

liabilities liabilities 29 28

(1) Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash consisted of the following (beginning of period):

Continuing

operations

As of December 31,

As of December 31,

2022 2021

As of December 31,

2023 2023

Continuing

operations

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and
cash
equivalents
Restricted

cash

Total

Cash and
cash
equivalents $232,200 $571,384

Restricted
cash 2,406 5,244
Total 234,606 576,628

Discontinued Discontinued

operations
Cash and
cash

equivalents

operations
Cash and
cash

equivalents 7,640 19,619

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted

cash
Total

Total cash,
cash
equivalents,
and
restricted

cash

Restricted
cash — 122,034

Total 7,640 141,653

Total cash,
cash
equivalents,
and
restricted

sl $242,246 $718,281

(2) Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash consisted of the following (end of period):

Continuing

operations

As of September 30,
2023 2022

As of March 31,

2022

As of March 31,

2024 2024

Continuing

operations

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and
cash
equivalents
Restricted

cash
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Cash and
cash

equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

See Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Redfin Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Mezzanine Equity and Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity
(in thousands, except share amounts, unaudited)
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Series A

Convertible

Accumulated
Series A Convertible Preferred | Common piional Other Total
Preferred Stock Stock Stock  paig.in - Accumulated Comprehensive Sto(;l:n ﬁzl;:)e =
Shares Capital Deficit Loss Equity
Balance, December 31, 2022
Balance, December 31, 2022
Balance, December 31, 2022
Issuance of
convertible
preferred
stock, net
Issuance of
common stock
pursuant to
exercise of
stock options
Issuance of common stock
pursuant to exercise of stock
options
Issuance of common stock
pursuant to exercise of stock
options
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Common stock
surrendered
for employees'
tax liability
upon
settlement of
restricted stock

units

Stock-based
compensation

Other
comprehensive
income

Net loss
Balance,

March 31,
2023

Balance, December 31, 2023

Balance, December 31, 2023

Balance, December 31, 2023

Issuance of
common stock
as dividend on
convertible

preferred stock

Issuance of common stock

pursuant to exercise of stock
options

Issuance of common stock
pursuant to exercise of stock

options

Issuance of
common stock
pursuant to
exercise of

stock options

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

17/459

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Issuance of
common stock
pursuant to
settlement of
restricted stock

units

Common stock
surrendered
for employees’
tax liability
upon
settlement of
restricted stock

units

Stock-based

compensation

Stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation

Other
comprehensive

income

Net loss

Balance,
March 31,
2024

Note 1:
Note 2:
Note 3:
Note 4:
Note 5:
Note 6:
Note 7:
Note 8:
Note 9:
Note 10:
Note 11:
Note 12:
Note 13:
Note 14:
Note 15:

See Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Index to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of Accounting_ Policies
Discontinued Operations
Segment Reporting_and Revenue
Einancial Instruments

Leases

Commitments and Contingencies

Acquired Intangible Assets and Gooduwill

Accrued and Other Liabilities

Mezzanine Equity,

Net Loss From Continuing_ Operations per Share Attributable to Common Stock
Income Taxes

Debt

Subsequent Events

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

E'gl\‘ [

RREkKRKRKEIRE
N = o o NN o I

N
(%)

~

18/459

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Redfin Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts, unaudited)

Note 1: Summary of Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation—The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
in the United States of America (“GAAP”).

The financial information as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 that is included in this quarterly report is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements
and notes for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 included in Item 8 in our annual report for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. Such
financial information should be read in conjunction with the notes and management’s discussion and analysis of the consolidated financial statements included in our annual report.

The unaudited consolidated interim financial statements, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary
to present fairly our financial position as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, our statements of comprehensive loss, and statements of changes in mezzanine equity and
stockholders’ (deficit) equity for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, 2023, as well as our statements of cash flows for the nine three
months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022.2023. The results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 are not necessarily
indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 or for any interim period or for any other future year.

We completed the wind-down of our properties segment as of June 30, 2023, at which time it met the criteria for discontinued operations in our consolidated financial
statements. As a result, certain amounts presented in prior period consolidated balance sheets and statements of comprehensive loss have been reclassified to conform to the
current period financial statement presentation. The changes do not affect previously reported consolidated net loss or previously reported total assets, liabilities, or stockholders’
equity on our consolidated balance sheets. See Note 2 for additional information.

Principles of Consolidation—The unaudited consolidated interim financial statements include the accounts of Redfin Corporation and its our wholly owned subsidiaries,
including those entities in which we have a variable interest and of which we are the primary beneficiary. Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of consolidated financial statements, in conformity with GAAP, requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and results of operations during the respective periods. Our estimates include, but are not limited to, valuation of deferred
income taxes, stock-based compensation, capitalization of website and software development costs, the incremental borrowing rate for the determination of the present value of
lease payments, recoverability of intangible assets with finite lives, fair value of our mortgage loans held for sale (‘LHFS”) and mortgage servicing rights, estimated useful life of
intangible assets, fair value of reporting units for purposes of allocating and evaluating goodwill for impairment, and current expected credit losses on certain financial assets. The
amounts ultimately realized from the affected assets or ultimately recognized as liabilities will depend on, among other factors, general business conditions and could differ
materially in the near term from the carrying amounts reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

In July 2023, we completed an assessment of the useful lives of our website and internally developed software. Due to improvements, efficiencies, and
advancements in how we develop, implement, and use our website and internally developed software, we determined we should increase their estimated useful
lives from 2-3 years to 3-5 years. This change in accounting estimate was effective beginning the third quarter of 2023. The effects of this change for the three
months ended September 30, 2023 were as follows: (1) reduced technology and development expenses by $1,648, (2) decreased net loss by $1,648, and (3)
increased basic and diluted net loss per share by $0.01.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements—None applicable. In September 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued authoritative
guidance under ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting - Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The ASU improves reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily
through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim
periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. We early adopted this guidance in first quarter of 2024 and there was no impact on our financial statement
disclosures.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements—None applicable. In December 2023, the FASB issued authoritative guidance under ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes -
Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The ASU enhances annual income tax disclosures to address investor requests for more information about the tax risks and opportunities
present in an entity’s worldwide operations. The two primary enhancements disaggregate existing income tax disclosures related to the effective tax rate reconciliation and income
taxes paid. The amendments in this ASU are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the
potential impact of the guidance on our financial statement disclosures.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

Note 2: Discontinued Operations

In November 2022, our management and board of directors made the decision to wind down RedfinNow. The financial results of RedfinNow have historically been included
in our properties segment. Winding-down RedfinNow was a strategic decision we made in order to focus our resources on our core businesses in the face of the rising cost of
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capital. The wind-down of our properties segment was complete as of June 30, 2023, at which time it met the criteria for discontinued operations in our consolidated financial

statements.

The As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 there were no major classes of assets and liabilities of our discontinued operations were as follows:

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Total current assets of discontinued operations
Property and equipment, net
Right-of-use assets, net
Total assets of discontinued operations
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities
Lease liabilities
Total current liabilities of discontinued operations
Lease liabilities, noncurrent

Total liabilities of discontinued operations

remaining.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

September 30, 2023

December 31, 2022

— 3 7,640
= 8,504
— 114,232
— 500

— 1,283

= 132,159
— 167

= 1,142

_ s 133,468

[ 2,980

— 4,311

— 3 4,703

The major classes of line items of the discontinued operations included in our consolidated statement of comprehensive loss were as follows: follows for the three months

ended March 31, 2023:

Revenue

Cost of revenueq)

Gross profit (loss)

Operating expenses
Technology and development()
Marketing()
General and administrative()

Restructuring and reorganization

Total operating expenses

Loss from discontinued operations
Interest expense

Other expense, net

Net loss from discontinued operations

Net loss from discontinued operations per share—basic and diluted

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
294,744  $ 122576  $ 927,139
327,331 124,422 932,072
(32,587) (1,846) (4,933)
4,728 552 13,531
506 523 2,480
3,030 638 9,065
— 75 271
8,264 1,788 25,347
(40,851) (3,634) (30,280)
(3,140) = (6,192)
(3) — 4)
(43,994) $ (3,634) $ (36,476)
0.41) $ 0.03) $ (0.34)
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022
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111,578
Cost of revenue

i

13,509
(1,931)

Operating expenses

520
Marketing 505
523
Restructuring and reorganization —
Loss from discontinued operations (3,488)

nterest income

Interest expense —

ncome tax expense

Other expense, net

Net loss from discontinued operation:

Significant non-cash items and capital expenditures of the discontinued operations were as follows: follows for the three months ended March 31, 2023:

Stock-based compensation

Depreciation and amortization 85

Charges specifically relating to the wind-down of our properties segment were as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023 Ci i i as of March 31, 2023
Cost type Cost type Financial statement line item
Asset write-
offs
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Acceleration Acceleration Interest — 481
of debt of debt expense
issuance issuance

costs costs

Total Total $ 74 $ 8,671

Restructuring and reorganization charges related
Index to our continuing_operations primarily consist of employee termination costs (including_severance, retention, benefits, and payroll taxes) associated with the restructuring_and reorganization activities from our acquisitions
of Bay Equity LLC (“Bay Equity”), our mortgage business, and Rent Group Inc. (“Rent.”), our rentals business, and from our June 2022 and April 2023 workforce reductions. These expenses are included in restructuring_and

reorganization in our consolidated statements of comprehensive loss and in accrued and other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. Notes to Financial Statements

Note 3: Segment Reporting and Revenue

In its operation of our business, our management, including our chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), who is also our chief executive officer, evaluates the performance
of our operating segments based on revenue, gross profit, operating income, and gross profit. net income. We do not analyze discrete segment balance sheet information related to
long-term assets, substantially all of which are located in the United States. We have five operating segments and three reportable segments, real estate services, rentals, and
mortgage. As a result of our decision to wind-down RedfinNow operations in November 2022, we report our properties segment as a discontinued operation as we completed wind-
down of the business during the three months ended June 30, 2023.

We generate revenue primarily from commissions and fees charged on each real estate services transaction closed by our lead agents or partner agents, from subscription-
based product offerings for our rentals business, and from the origination, sales, and servicing of mortgages. Our key revenue components are brokerage revenue, partner revenue,
rentals revenue, mortgage revenue, and other revenue.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

Information on each of our reportable and other segments and reconciliation to net (loss) income from continuing operations is presented in the tables below. We have
assigned certain previously reported expenses to each segment to conform to the way we internally manage and monitor our business. We allocated indirect costs to each segment
based on a reasonable allocation methodology, when such costs are significant to the performance measures of the segments.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2023

Real estate services Rentals Mortgage Other Corporate overhead Total

Revenue $ 177,750 $ 47,410 $ 32,923 $ 10873 $ — 3 268,956
Cost of revenue 123,684 10,824 29,629 6,479 — 170,616
Gross profit 54,066 36,586 3,294 4,394 — 98,340
Operating expenses

Technology and development 25,711 15,813 800 1,133 935 44,392

Marketing 10,785 12,245 1,088 20 (43) 24,095

General and administrative 18,418 21,838 6,670 952 7,502 55,380

Total operating expenses 54,914 49,896 8,558 2,105 8,394 123,867

(Loss) income from continuing operations (848) (13,310) (5,264) 2,289 (8,394) (25,527)
Interest income, interest expense, income tax
expense, gain on extinguishment of convertible
senior notes, and other expense, net 41 42 (73) 207 6,338 6,555
Net (loss) income from continuing operations $ (807) $ (13,268) $ (5337) $ 249% $ (2.056) $ (18,972)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2022

Real estate services Rentals Mortgage Other Corporate overhead Total
Revenueq) $ 211540 $ 38,686 $ 48,469 $ 7079 $ — % 305,774
Cost of revenue 156,632 8,676 43,783 6,018 — 215,109
Gross profit 54,908 30,010 4,686 1,061 — 90,665
Operating expenses
Technology and development 25,709 15,385 985 751 505 43,335
Marketing 18,772 12,678 1,653 48 91 33,242
General and administrative 20,244 22,722 7,073 784 7,153 57,976
Restructuring and reorganization — — — — 284 284
Total operating expenses 64,725 50,785 9,711 1,583 8,033 134,837
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Loss from continuing operations (9,817) (20,775) (5,025) (522) (8,033) (44,172)
Interest income, interest expense, income tax
expense, and other expense, net — 397 (129) 40 (2,387) (2,079)
Net loss from continuing operations $ 9.817) $ (20,378) (5,154) $ (482) $ (10,420) $ (46,251)
(1) Included in revenue is $4,920 from providing services to our discontinued properties segment.
Three Months Ended March 31, 2024
Real estate services Rentals Mortgage Other Corporate overhead Total
Revenue $ 131,180 $ 49,518 33819 $ 10962 $ — $ 225,479
Cost of revenue 110,914 11,457 25,904 6,392 — 154,667
Gross profit 20,266 38,061 7,915 4,570 — 70,812
Operating expenses
Technology and development 28,507 15,512 656 832 922 46,429
Marketing 11,177 12,788 906 7 — 24,878
General and administrative 19,775 22,478 6,683 1,154 17,783 67,873
Restructuring and reorganization — — — — 889 889
Total operating expenses 59,459 50,778 8,245 1,993 19,594 140,069
(Loss) income from continuing operations (39,193) (12,717) (330) 2,577 (19,594) (69,257)
Interest income, interest expense, income tax
expense, gain on extinguishment of convertible
senior notes, and other expense, net (46) 7 B 244 2,275 2,483
Net (loss) income from continuing operations $ (39,239) $ (12,710) (327) $ 2821 $ (17,319) $ (66,774)
Index to Notes to Financial Statements
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023
Real
estate Corporate
services Rentals Mortgage Other overhead Total
Three Months Ended March 31, 2023 Three Months Ended March 31, 2023
Real estate
services Real estate services Rentals Mortgage Other Corporate overhead Total
Revenueq Revenueq) $485,687 $135,636 $107,838 $29,434 $ — $ 758,595
Cost of revenue Cost of revenue 359,625 31,016 93,108 18,178 — 501,927
Gross profit Gross profit 126,062 104,620 14,730 11,256 — 256,668
Operating Operating
expenses expenses
Technology Technology
and and
development  development 82,650 48,081 2,177 3,475 2,813 139,196
Technology and development
Technology and development
Marketing Marketing 51,849 42,509 3,122 46 5 97,531
General and General and
administrative  administrative 58,997 73,445 20,323 3,049 30,770 186,584
Restructuring ~ Restructuring
and and
reorganization reorganization — — — — 7,159 7,159
Total Total
operating operating
expenses expenses 193,496 164,035 25,622 6,570 40,747 430,470
(Loss) income from continuing
operations (67,434) (59,415) (10,892) 4,686  (40,747) (173,802)
Loss from
continuing
operations
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Interest income, Interest income,

interest interest
expense, expense,
income tax income tax

expense, gain  expense, gain
on on
extinguishment extinguishment
of convertible  of convertible

senior notes,  senior notes,

and other and other
expense, net  expense, net 41 115 (224) 475 69,901 70,308
Net (loss) Net (loss)

income from income from

continuing continuing
operations operations $(67,393) $(59,300) $(11,116) $ 5161 $ 29,154 $(103,494)

(1) Included in revenue is $1,244 from providing services to our discontinued properties segment.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022

Real estate services Rentals Mortgage Other Corporate overhead Total
Revenueq) $ 640,835 $ 114979 $ 104,484 $ 17341 $ — % 877,639
Cost of revenue 488,114 23,769 95,616 16,590 — 624,089
Gross profit 152,721 91,210 8,868 751 — 253,550
Operating expenses
Technology and development 80,144 44,539 5,236 2,975 2,784 135,678
Marketing 90,380 36,806 3,525 173 468 131,352
General and administrative 67,578 68,738 18,047 2,346 25,931 182,640
Restructuring and reorganization — — — — 18,399 18,399
Total operating expenses 238,102 150,083 26,808 5,494 47,582 468,069
Loss from continuing operations (85,381) (58,873) (17,940) (4,743) (47,582) (214,519)
Interest income, interest expense, income tax
expense, gain on extinguishment of convertible
senior notes, and other expense, net (123) 1,098 (164) 51 (9,064) (8,202)
Net loss from continuing operations $ (85,504) $ (57,775) $ (18,104) $ (4,692) $ (56,646) $ (222,721)

(1) Included in revenue is $14,883 $1,149 from providing services to our discontinued properties segment.

Note 4: Financial Instruments
Derivatives

Our primary market exposure is to interest rate risk, specifically U.S. treasury and mortgage interest rates, due to their impact on mortgage-related assets and commitments.
We use forward sales commitments on whole loans and mortgage-backed securities to manage and reduce this risk. We do not have any derivative instruments designated as
hedging instruments.

Forward Sales Commitments—We are exposed to interest rate and price risk on loans held for sale from the funding date until the date the loan is sold. Forward sales
commitments on whole loans and mortgage-backed securities are used to fix the forward sales price that will be realized at the sale of each loan.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

Interest Rate Lock Commitments—Interest rate lock commitments ("IRLCs") represent an agreement to extend credit to a mortgage loan applicant. We commit (subject to
loan approval) to fund the loan at the specified rate, regardless of changes in market interest rates between the commitment date and the funding date. Outstanding IRLCs are
subject to interest rate risk and related price risk during the period from the date of commitment through the loan funding date or expiration date. Loan commitments generally range
between 30 and 90 days and the borrower is not obligated to obtain the loan. Therefore, IRLCs are subject to fallout risk, which occurs when approved borrowers choose not to
close on the underlying loans. We review our commitment-to-closing ratio ("pull-through rate") as part of an estimate of the number of mortgage loans that will fund according to the
IRLCs.

Notional Amounts September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Forward sales commitments $ 322,652 $ 301,548
IRLCs 249,515 210,787
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The notional amounts of our forward sales commitments and IRLCs were as follows:

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Instrument March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Forward sales commitments $ 463,110 $ 274,400
IRLCs 358,903 188,554
Index to Notes to Financial Statements
The locations and amounts of gains (losses) recognized in income related to our derivatives were as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Instrument
Instrument
Instrument Instrument Classification 2023 2022 2023 2022
Forward sales Forward sales Revenue $ 835] $ 11,602 $ 2,367 $ 1,757
commitments commitments
Forward sales commitments
Forward sales commitments
IRLCs IRLCs Revenue (1,567) (8,462) 1,005 (4,433)
IRLCs
IRLCs

A summary of assets and liabilities related to our financial instruments, measured at fair value on a recurring basis and as reflected in our consolidated balance sheets, is

set forth below:

Quoted
Prices in
Active
Markets Significant
for Other Significant
Balance at Identical Observable Unobservable
September Assets Inputs Inputs (Level
30,2023 (Level1l) (Level 2) 3)
Balance at March Balance at March
31, 2024 31, 2024
Assets Assets
Cash equivalents Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents
Money market funds
Money market funds
Money Money $ 91,399 $ 91,399 $ — 3 =
market funds market funds
Total cash Total cash 91,399 91,399 — —
equivalents equivalents
Short-term investments
U.S. treasury securities 8,349 8,349 — —
Agency bonds 33,403 33,403 — —
Total short-term investments 41,752 41,752 — —

Total cash equivalents

Quoted Prices in Active Markets for

Identical Assets (Level 1)
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Total cash equivalents

Loans held for sale

Loans held for sale

Other current

assets

Forward sales commitments

Forward sales commitments

Mortgage
servicing rights, at

fair value

Total assets

Total assets

Total assets

Accrued liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Accrued liabilities

Forward sales commitments

Forward sales commitments

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

Balance at
December 31, 2023

Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents

Cash equivalents

Balance at

December 31, 2023

Quoted Prices in Active Markets for
Identical Assets (Level 1)
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Money market funds

Money market funds

Total cash

equivalents

Total cash equivalents

Total cash equivalents

U.S. treasury securities

U.S. treasury securities

U.S. treasury

securities

Total short-term

investments
Total short-term investments

Total short-term investments

Other current

assets

IRLCs

IRLCs

Mortgage

servicing rights, at

fair value

U.S. treasury

securities
U.S. treasury securities

U.S. treasury securities

Liabilities

Accrued liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Forward sales commitments

Forward sales commitments

Forward

sales

commitments

Total liabilities

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 financial instruments during the periods presented.
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The significant unobservable input used in the fair value measurement of IRLCs is the pull-through rate. Significant changes in the input could result in a significant change
in fair value measurement.

The following is a quantitative summary of key unobservable inputs used in the valuation of IRLCs and Mortgage Servicing Rights (“MSRs"):

p 30, D ber 31,
2023 2022
March 31, March 31, December 31,
2024 2024 2023
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Key Inputs ~ Key Inputs Technique Range Average Range Average Key Inputs Valuation Technique Range Average Range Average
IRLCs IRLCs
- - 0
;L::ugh tF;L:tIlUQh :\)Ar:;:t 69'-7/0 93.5% 62.-0% 91.0%
rate rate 100.0% 100.0%
Pull-through rate
Pull-through rate Market pricing 70.1% - 100.0% 89.2% 67.2% - 100.0% 87.7%
MSRs MSRs
Prepayment speed
Prepayment speed
Prepayment Prepayment Discounted 6.0% - 6.0% - Discounted cash 6.0% - 6.0% -
12.0% il 14.4% Gl 20.0% 6.8% 19.0% 6.8%
speed speed cash flow flow
Default Default Discounted 0.1% - 0.0% - Default
1.0% 0.2% 0.5% 0.1% Discounted cash flow 0.1% - 1.2% 0.2% 0.1% - 1.2% 0.2%
rates rates cash flow rates
Discount Discount Discounted Lot 9.5% - Discount
- 10.1% 45405  9:6% Discounted cash flow 10.0% - 17.0% 10.3% 10.0% - 17.0% 10.2%
rate rate cashflow 1280 rate
Index to Notes to Financial Statements
The following is a summary of changes in the fair value of IRLCs:
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
2024
2024
2024
Balance, net—beginning of period
Balance, net—beginning of period
Balance, net—beginning of period
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
Issuances of IRLCs
2023 2022 2023 2022
Balance, net—beginning of period $ 3,870 $ 9,510 $ 1,297 $ 1,155
IRLCs acquired in business combination — — — 4,326
Issuances of IRLCs
Issuances of IRLCs Issuances of IRLCs 10,638 20,440 39,769 40,740
Settlements of Settlements of (11,650) (23,494) (38,241) (40,762)
IRLCs IRLCs
Settlements of IRLCs
Settlements of IRLCs
Fair value changes recognized in earnings
Fair value changes recognized in earnings
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Fair value changes Fair value changes (556) (5,408) (523) (4,411)
recognized in recognized in
earnings earnings
Balance, net—end of Balance, net—end of $ 2,302 $ 1,048 2,302 $ 1,048
period period
Balance, net—end of period
Balance, net—end of period
The following is a summary of changes in the fair value of MSRs:
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
2024
2024
2024
Balance—beginning of period
Balance—beginning of period
Balance—beginning of period
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
MSRs originated
2023 2022 2023 2022
Balance—beginning of period $ 35,503 $ 35,050 36,261 $ —
MSRs acquired in business combination — — — 33,982
MSRs originated
MSRs originated MSRs originated 120 1,811 699 2,774
MSRs sales MSRs sales (384) (541) (1,122) (1,314)
MSRs sales
MSRs sales
Fair value changes recognized in earnings
Fair value changes recognized in earnings
Fair value changes  Fair value changes (466) 594 (1,065) 1,472
recognized in recognized in
earnings earnings
Balance, net—end of Balance, net—end of $ 34,773 $ 36,914 34,773 $ 36,914

period period

Balance, net—end of period

Balance, net—end of period

The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of our convertible senior notes that are not recorded at fair value on our consolidated balance

sheets:
March
31,
2024
I 30,2023 D ber 31, 2022
Net Net
Carrying i Carrying

Issuance Amount  Fair Value Amount Fair Value

2023 notes $ — 3 — $23431 $ 22,147

2025 notes
2025 notes
2025 2025
notes notes 232,511 192,411 512,683
2027 2027
notes notes 567,154 333,500 565,474
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The difference between the principal amounts of our 2025 notes and our 2027 notes, which were $234,505 and $575,000, respectively, and the net carrying amounts of the
notes represents the unamortized debt issuance costs. The estimated fair value of each tranche of our convertible senior notes is based on the closing trading price of the notes on
the last day of trading for the period and is classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy due to the limited trading activity of the notes. Based on the closing price of our
common stock of $7.04 on September 30, 2023, the if-converted values of both convertible notes were less than the principal amounts, respectively. See Note 14 for additional
details on our convertible senior notes.

See Note 10 for the carrying amount of our convertible preferred stock.

Assets and liabilities recognized or disclosed at fair value on a nonrecurring basis include items such as property and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets, and

other assets. These assets are remeasured at fair value if determined to be impaired.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

The cost or amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, and estimated fair market value of our cash, money market funds, restricted cash, and available-for-sale

investments were as follows:

March 31, 2024

March 31, 2024

Cash, Cash
Equivalents,
Fair Cost or and
Fair Value Value Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated Restricted Short-term Long-term
Hierarchy Hierarchy Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Cash Investments Investment
Cash
Money
markets
funds
Restricted
cash
September 30, 2023
Cash, Cash
Equivalents,
Fair Cost or and
Value Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated Restricted Short-term Long-term
Hierarchy  Cost Gains Losses Fair Value Cash Investments Investments
Cash N/A $ 34,404 $ = — $ 34404 $ 34,404 $ — 3 =
W) LG Level 1 91,399 — — 91,399 91,399 — —
funds
Restricted cash N/A 1,414 — — 1,414 1,414 — —
U.S. treasury
" Level 1 13,876 6 (59) 13,823 — 8,349 5,474
securities
Agency bonds Level 1 33,463 — (60) 33,403 — 33,403 —
Total
Total Total $174,556 $ 6 (119) $174,443 $ 127,217 $ 41,752 $ 5,474
Total
December 31, 2022
Cash, Cash
Fair Value Cost or Amortized 1 Fair Equivalents, and Short-term Long-term
Hierarchy Cost Unrealized Gains  Unrealized Losses Value Restricted Cash Investments Investments
Cash N/A $ 53,430 $ — $ — 3 53,430 $ 45,790 — $ =
Money markets funds Level 1 186,410 — — 186,410 186,410 — —
Restricted cash N/A 2,406 — — 2,406 2,406 — —
U.S. treasury securities Level 1 127,130 28 (753) 126,405 — 96,925 29,480
Agency bonds Level 1 25,339 — (5) 25,334 — 25,334 —
Total $ 394,715 $ 28 $ (758) $ 393,985 $ 234,606 122,259 $ 29,480
REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 30/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

We have evaluated our portfolio of available-for-sale debt securities based on credit quality indicators for expected credit losses and do not believe there are any expected
credit losses. Our portfolio consists of U.S. government securities, all with a high-quality credit rating issued by various credit agencies.

December 31, 2023

Cash, Cash
Fair Value Cost or Amortized Estimated Fair Equivalents, and Short-term Long-term
Hierarchy Cost Unrealized Gains  Unrealized Losses Value Restricted Cash Investments Investments
Cash N/A $ 34,483 $ — 3 — $ 34,483 $ 34,483 $ — 3 —
Money markets funds Level 1 115,276 — — 115,276 115,276 — —
Restricted cash N/A 1,241 — — 1,241 1,241 — —
U.S. treasury securities Level 1 13,895 1 (27) 13,869 — 10,720 3,149
Agency bonds Level 1 31,246 — (14) 31,232 — 31,232 —
Total $ 196,141 $ 13 41) $ 196,101 $ 151,000 $ 41,952 $ 3,149

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had no accrued interest and accrued interest of $611 and $576, $332,
respectively, on our available-for-sale investments, of which we have recorded no expected credit losses. Accrued interest receivable is recorded in other current assets in our
consolidated balance sheets.

Note 5: Property and Equipment

The components of property and equipment were as follows:
Useful
Lives September December
(Years) 30,2023 31,2022
Useful Lives

(Years) Useful Lives (Years) March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Shorter $ 29,683 $ 32,262

of lease
Leasehold Leasehold
term or
improvements improvements
economic
life
Website and Website and 72,409 62,963
software software
3-5

development development
costs costs
Computer  Computer 19,837 19,702
and office and office 3-5
equipment equipment
Software Software 3 1,868 1,871
Furniture Furniture 7 7,696 7,911

Property Property 131,493 124,709

and and

equipment, = equipment,

gross gross
Accumulated Accumulated (88,427)  (76,597)
depreciation depreciation
and and
amortization ~amortization
Construction Construction 5,339 6,827
in progress  in progress

Property Property $ 48,405 $ 54,939

and and
equipment,  equipment,

net net

Index to Notes to Financial Statements
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The following table summarizes depreciation and amortization and capitalized software development costs:

Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
2024
2024
2024
Depreciation and amortization for property and
equipment
Depreciation and amortization for property and
equipment
Depreciation and Depreciation and $ 4,550 $ 5,914 $ 19,113 $ 17,238
amortization for amortization for
property and property and
equipment equipment
Capitalized software  Capitalized software 3,854 4,583 12,700 14,874
development costs, development costs,

including stock-based including stock-based

compensation compensation

Capitalized software development costs,

including stock-based compensation

Capitalized software development costs,

including stock-based compensation

Depreciation and amortization declined in the three months ended September 30, 2023 due

Index to the change in estimated useful lives of our website and internally developed software. Refer Notes to Note 1 for further details. Financial Statements

Note 6: Leases

We lease office space under noncancelable operating leases with original terms ranging from one to 11 years and vehicles under noncancelable finance leases with terms
of four years. Generally, the operating leases require a fixed minimum rent with contractual minimum rent increases over the lease term. The components of lease expense were as

follows:
Three Months Ended September 30,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Lease Cost

Lease Cost

Nine Months Ended September 30,

Lease Cost Lease Cost Classification 2023 2022

2023 2022

Operating lease cost: Operating lease cost:
Operating lease cost() Cost of revenue $ 2,944 $ 3,479

Operating lease cost() Operating expenses 1,292 1,834

Operating lease cost:

Operating lease cost:
Operating lease cost (cost of revenue)
Operating lease cost (cost of revenue)
Operating lease cost (cost of revenue)
Operating lease cost (operating expenses)
Operating lease cost (operating expenses)
Operating lease cost (operating expenses)
Short-term lease cost
Short-term lease cost
Short-term lease cost
Sublease income

Sublease income
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Sublease income
Total operating lease cost
Total operating lease cost
Total operating lease
cost
Finance lease cost:
Finance lease cost:

Finance lease cost:

Amortization of right-of-use assets

Amortization of right-of-use assets

Interest on lease
liabilities

Interest on lease liabilities

Interest on lease liabilities

Total finance lease cost

Total finance lease cost

Lease Liabilities Obligations Lease Liabilities Other Leases

Maturity
of Lease

Liabilities Total Lease Obligations

2024, excluding the
three months ended
March 31, 2024
2024, excluding the
three months ended
March 31, 2024
2024, excluding the
three months ended
March 31, 2024

2028

Less:

Interest(y

Present value of

lease liabilities
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Present value of

lease liabilities

(1) Includes interest on operating leases of $1,708 $1,452 and financing lease of $5 $7 within the next twelve months.

Lease Term and Discount Rate

September 30, 2023

December 31, 2022

Weighted-average remaining operating lease term (years) 313] 3.6
Weighted-average remaining finance lease term (years) 2.7 2.4
Weighted-average discount rate for operating leases 4.5 % 4.5 %
Weighted-average discount rate for finance leases 5.4 % 5.4 %
(2) Excludes sublease income. As of March 31, 2024, we expect sublease income of approximately $1,316 to be received for the remainder of fiscal year 2024.
Lease Term and Discount Rate March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Weighted-average remaining operating lease term (years) 3.1 3.2
Weighted-average remaining finance lease term (years) 29 25
Weighted-average discount rate for operating leases 4.5 % 4.5 %
Weighted-average discount rate for finance leases 5.4 % 54 %
Three Months Ended March 31,
Supplemental Cash Flow Information 2024 2023
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Operating cash flows from operating leases 4,637 5,253
Operating cash flows from finance leases 2 1
Financing cash flows from finance leases 20 13
Right of use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities
Operating leases 896 3,130
Finance leases 68 —
Index to Notes to Financial Statements
Nine Months Ended September 30,
Supplemental Cash Flow Information 2023 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 16,539 $ 14,758
Operating cash flows from finance leases 4 6
Financing cash flows from finance leases 39 36
Right of use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities
Operating leases() $ 7,490 $ (2,257)
Finance leases 59 934

(1) The nine months ended September 30, 2022 include a $5,119 right-of-use asset reduction from the exercise of an early termination option in one of our operating leases.
Note 7: Commitments and Contingencies
Legal Proceedings

Below and in Item 1. Legal Proceedings, is a discussion of our material, pending legal proceedings. We cannot estimate a range of reasonably possible losses Except as
otherwise indicated, given the preliminary stage of these proceedings and the claims and issues presented. presented, we cannot estimate a range of reasonably possible losses.

In addition, to the matters discussed below, from time to time, we are involved inregularly subject to claims, litigation, claims, and other proceedings, arising in the ordinary
course including potential regulatory proceedings, involving employment, intellectual property, privacy and data protection, consumer protection, competition and antitrust laws, and
commercial or contractual disputes, and other matters. The outcomes of our business. legal proceedings and other contingencies are inherently unpredictable, subject to significant
uncertainties, and could be material to our operating results and cash flows for a particular period. We evaluate, on a regular basis, developments in our legal proceedings and other
contingencies that could affect the amount of liability, including amounts in excess of any previous accruals and reasonably possible losses disclosed, and make adjustments and
changes to our accruals and disclosures as appropriate. For the matters we disclose that do not include an estimate of the amount of loss or range of losses, such an estimate is not
possible or is immaterial, and we may be unable to estimate the possible loss or range of losses that could potentially result from the application of non-monetary remedies. Until the
final resolution of such matters, if any of our estimates and assumptions change or prove to have been incorrect, we may experience losses in excess of the amounts recorded,
which could have a material effect on our business, consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. Except for the matters discussed below, and in Item 1. Legal
Proceedings, we do not believe that any of our pending litigation, claims, and other proceedings are material to our business.

Lawsuit by David Eraker—On May 11, 2020, David Eraker, our co-founder and former chief executive officer who departed Redfin in 2006, filed a complaint through
Appliance Computing Ill, Inc. (d/b/a Surefield) ("Surefield"), which is a company that Mr. Eraker founded and that we believe he controls, in the U.S. District Court for the Western
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District of Texas, Waco Division. The complaint alleged that we were infringing four patents claimed to be owned by Surefield without its authorization or license. Surefield sought an
unspecified amount of damages and an injunction against us offering products and services that allegedly infringe the patents at issue. On May 17, 2022, the jury returned a verdict
in our favor, finding that we did not infringe any of the asserted claims of the patents claimed to be owned by Surefield, and accordingly, we do not owe any damages to Surefield.
The jury also found that all asserted claims of Surefield’s claimed patents were invalid. The court entered final judgment on August 15, 2022. On September 12, 2022, Surefield filed
a motion for judgment as a matter of law and a motion for a new trial. In the motions, Surefield asserts that no jury could have found non-infringement based on the trial record,
among other things. We filed oppositions to the motions on October 3, 2022 and Surefield filed replies on October 21, 2022.

Lawsuits Alleging Misclassification—On August 28, 2019, Devin Cook, who was one of our former independent contractor licensed sales associates, whom we call
associate agents, filed a complaint against us in the Superior Court of California, County of San Francisco. The plaintiff initially pled the complaint as a class action and alleged that
we misclassified her as an independent contractor instead of an employee. The plaintiff also sought unspecified penalties pursuant to representative claims under California’s
Private Attorney General Act ("PAGA"). On January 30, 2020, the plaintiff filed a first amended complaint dismissing her class action claim and asserting only claims under PAGA.

On November 20, 2020, Jason Bell, who was one of our former lead agents as well as a former associate agent, filed a complaint against us in the U.S. District Court for the
Southern District of California. The complaint was pled as a class action and alleges that, (1) during the time he served as an associate agent, we misclassified him as an
independent contractor instead of an employee and (2) during the time he served as a lead agent, we misclassified him as an employee who was exempt from minimum wage and
overtime laws. The plaintiff also asserted representative claims under PAGA. The plaintiff sought unspecified amounts of unpaid overtime wages, regular wages, meal and rest
period compensation, waiting time and other penalties, injunctive and other equitable relief, and plaintiff's attorneys' fees and costs.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

On May 23, 2022, pursuant to a combined mediation, we settled the lawsuits brought by Ms. Cook and Mr. Bell for an aggregate of $3,000. This amount is subject to
adjustment if our actual number of associate agents, lead agents, or their respective workweeks differs from the number that we represented to the plaintiffs. This settlement is
subject to court approval. On April 7, 2023, plaintiffs filed a motion for preliminary approval of the class settlements. The motion for preliminary approval of the class settlement was
granted by the court on May 4, 2023. The hearing motion for final approval of the class settlement was granted on November 28, 2023. The settlement funds have been paid and
are being distributed to class members. A final compliance hearing is set for November 27, 2023 July 29, 2024.

Lawsuits Alleging Antitrust Violations—Since October 2023, a number of class action lawsuits have been filed on behalf of putative classes of home buyers and home
sellers against the National Association of Realtors, local real estate associations, multiple listing services, and various residential real estate brokerages in various federal districts
in the United States. Some of these lawsuits name Redfin as a defendant, including:

* Don Gibson, et al. v. National Association of Realtors, et al., Case no. 4:23-cv-00788-SRB, filed on October 31, 2023 in United States District Court for the Western District
of Missouri (the “Gibson Action”).

e Mya Batton et al. v. Compass, Inc., et al., Case no. 1:23-cv-15618, filed on November 2, 2023 in United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois.

e 1925 Hooper LLC, et al. v. The National Association of Realtors, et al., Case no. 1:23-cv-05392-SEG, filed on December 6, 2023 in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Georgia.

» Daniel Umpa v. The National Association of Realtors, et al., Case no. 4:23-cv-00945-FJG, filed on December 27, 2023 in the United States District Court for the Western
District of Missouri (the “Umpa Action”).

« Nathaniel Whaley v. National Association of Realtors, et al., Case no. 2:24-cv-00105-GMN-MDC, filed on January 25, 2024 in the United States District Court for the District
of Nevada.

e Angela Boykin v. National Association of Realtors, et al., Case No. 2:24-cv-00340, filed on February 16, 2024 in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada.
¢ Freedlund v. Redfin Corporation, et al., Case No. 2:24-cv-01561, filed on February 26, 2024 in the United States District Court for the Central District of California.

e Rajninder (Raven) Jutla, et al. v. Redfin Corporation, et al., Case No. 2:24-cv-00464, filed on April 1, 2024 in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of
California and transferred on April 5, 2024, to the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington.

These lawsuits variously allege a conspiracy to fix prices stemming from a National Association of Realtors rule, which allegedly requires brokers to make a blanket, non-
negotiable offer of buyer broker compensation when listing a property on a multiple listing service. The plaintiffs generally seek injunctive relief, unspecified damages under federal
antitrust law, and unspecified damages under various state laws. The Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation denied a motion to consolidate some of these cases as In re Real
Estate Commission Antitrust Litigation, MDL No. 3100 on April 12, 2024. At this time, except as set forth below, we are unable to predict the potential outcome of these lawsuits.

On May 3, 2024 we entered into a settlement term sheet (the “Proposed Settlement”) to resolve, on a nationwide basis, all claims asserted in the Gibson Action and the
Umpa Action, each pending in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri. These two cases are collectively referred to as “The Lawsuits.” The Proposed
Settlement resolves all claims in the Lawsuits and similar claims on behalf of home sellers on a nationwide basis against Redfin (the “Claims”) and releases Redfin, its subsidiaries
and its employees and contractors from the Claims. The Proposed Settlement does not include an admission of liability.

Under the Proposed Settlement, Redfin will pay $9,250 (the “Settlement Amount”) into a qualified settlement fund within 30 business days after preliminary approval by the
court of the Proposed Settlement. Redfin recorded $9,250 in accrued and other liabilities during the quarter ended March 31, 2024.

The Proposed Settlement remains subject to preliminary and final court approval and will become effective upon such final approval.
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Other Commitments

Our title and settlement business and our mortgage business each hold cash in escrow at third-party financial institutions on behalf of homebuyers and home sellers. As of
September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we held $34,980 $48,383 in escrow and did not record this amount on our consolidated balance sheets. We may be held contingently liable for

the disposition of the cash we hold in escrow.

Note 8: Acquired Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Acquired Intangible Assets—The following table presents the gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of intangible assets:

September 30, 2023

December 31, 2022

Weighted-
Average
Useful
Lives Accumulated
(Years) Gross  Amortization Net
March 31, 2024
Weighted-

Average Useful

Lives (Years)

Accumulated

Trade Trade 9.3 $ 82690 $ (21,931) $ 60,759
names names

Developed Developed 33 66,340 (54,520) 11,811
technology technology
Customer  Customer 10 81,360 (20,899) 60,461
relationships relationships

Total Total $230,390 $ (97,359) $133,031

Gross  Amortization Net
March 31, December
2024 31, 2023
Weighted-Average Useful Accumulated Accumulated
Lives (Years) Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net

$ 82,690 $ (14,856) $ 67,834
66,340 (38,465) 27,875
81,360 (14,797) 66,563
$230,390 $ (68,118) $162,272

Amortization expense amounted to $9,747 and $9,747 for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, respectively, and $29,241 and $28,420
for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 2023, respectively.

The following table presents our estimate of remaining amortization expense for intangible assets that existed as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024:

2023, excluding the nine months ended September 30, 2023 $ 9,747
2024 23,741
2024, excluding the three months ended March 31,
2024
2025 2025 17,618
2026 2026 17,380
2027 2027 15,633
2028
Thereafter Thereafter 48,912
Estimated remaining amortization expense Estimated remaining amortization expense $ 133,031
Goodwill—The following table presents the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment:
Real Estate Services Rentals Mortgage Total
Balance as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, $ 250231 $ 150151 $ 51067 $ 461,349
2022
Real Estate Services Rentals Mortgage Total
Balance as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023  $ 250,231 $ 159,151 $ 51,967 $ 461,349
Index to Notes to Financial Statements
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Note 9: Accrued and Other Liabilities

The components of accrued and other liabilities were as follows:

September December
30,2023 31, 2022

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Accrued Accrued
compensation compensation
and benefits ~ and benefits $ 57,934 $ 74,079

Miscellaneous Miscellaneous

accrued accrued
liabilities liabilities 24,139 27,023
Legal

contingencies

Customer Customer

contract contract

liabilities liabilities 6,118 5,661
Total ] $ 88,191 $106,763
accrued and ~ accrued and
other other
liabilities liabilities

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

Note 10: Mezzanine Equity

On April 1, 2020, we issued 4,484,305 shares of our common stock, at a price of $15.61 per share, and 40,000 shares of our preferred stock, at a price of $1,000 per share,
for aggregate gross proceeds of $110,000. We designated this preferred stock as Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (our “convertible preferred stock"). Our convertible preferred
stock is classified as mezzanine equity in our consolidated financial statements as the substantive conversion features at the option of the holder precludes liability classification. We
have determined there are no material embedded features that require recognition as a derivative asset or liability.

We allocated the gross proceeds of $110,000 to the common stock issuance and the convertible preferred stock issuance based on the standalone fair value of the
issuances, resulting in a fair valuation of $40,000 for the preferred stock, which is also the stated value of the mandatory redemption amount.

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, the carrying value of our convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs, is $39,947, $39,970, and holders have earned unpaid
stock dividends in the amount of 30,640 shares of common stock. This stock dividend was issued on October 9, 2023 April 5, 2024. These shares are included in basic and diluted
net loss from continuing operations per share attributable to common stock in Note 12. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, no shares of the preferred stock have been
converted, and the preferred stock was not redeemable, nor probable to become redeemable in the future as there is a more than remote chance the shares will be automatically
converted prior to the mandatory redemption date. The number of shares of common stock reserved for future issuance resulting from dividends, conversion, or redemption with
respect to the preferred stock was 2,622,177 as of the issuance date.

Dividends—The holders of our convertible preferred stock are entitled to dividends. Dividends accrue daily based on a 360-day fiscal year at a rate of 5.5% per annum
based on the issue price and are payable quarterly in arrears on the first business day following the end of each calendar quarter. Assuming we satisfy certain conditions, we will
pay dividends in shares of common stock at a rate of the dividend payable divided by $17.95. If we do not satisfy such conditions, we will pay dividends in a cash amount equal to (i)
the dividend shares otherwise issuable on the dividends multiplied by (ii) the volume-weighted average closing price of our common stock for the ten trading days preceding the date
the dividends are payable.

Participation Rights—Holders of our convertible preferred stock are entitled to dividends paid and distributions made to holders of our common stock to the same extent as
if such preferred stockholders had converted their shares of preferred stock into common stock and held such shares on the record date for such dividends and distributions.

Conversion—Holders may convert their convertible preferred stock into common stock at any time at a rate per share of preferred stock equal to the issue price divided by
$19.51 (the "conversion price"). A holder that converts will also receive any dividend shares resulting from accrued dividends.

Our convertible preferred stock may also be automatically converted to shares of our common stock. If the closing price of our common stock exceeds $27.32 per share
following April 1, 2023 until 30 trading days prior to November 30, 2024, for each day of any 30 consecutive trading days, then each outstanding share of preferred stock will
automatically convert into a number of shares of our common stock at a rate per share of preferred stock equal to the issue price divided by the conversion price. Upon an automatic
conversion, a holder will also receive any dividend shares resulting from accrued dividends.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements
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Redemption—On November 30, 2024, we will be required to redeem any outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock, and each holder may elect to receive cash,
shares of common stock, or a combination of cash and shares. If a holder elects to receive cash, we will pay, for each share of preferred stock, an amount equal to the issue price
plus any accrued dividends. If a holder elects to receive shares, we will issue, for each share of preferred stock, a number of shares of common stock at a rate of the issue price
divided by the conversion price plus any dividend shares resulting from accrued dividends.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

A holder of our convertible preferred stock has the right to require us to redeem up to all shares of preferred stock it holds following certain events outlined in the document
governing the preferred stock. If a holder redeems as the result of such events, such holder may elect to receive cash or shares of common stock, as calculated in the same manner
as the mandatory redemption described above. Additionally, such holder will also receive, in cash or shares of common stock as elected by the holder, an amount equal to all
scheduled dividend payments on the preferred stock for all remaining dividend periods from the date the holder gives its notice of redemption.

Liquidation Rights—Upon our liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, holders of our convertible preferred stock will be entitled to receive cash out of our assets prior to
holders of the common stock.

Note 11: Equity and Equity Compensation Plans

Common Stock—As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorized
us to issue 500,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.001 per share.

Preferred Stock—As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorized
us to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.001 per share.

Amended and Restated 2004 Equity Incentive Plan—We granted options under our 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (our "2004 Plan"), until July 26, 2017, when
we terminated it in connection with our initial public offering. Accordingly, no shares are available for future issuance under our 2004 Plan. Our 2004 Plan continues to govern
outstanding equity awards granted thereunder. The term of each stock option under the plan is no more than 10 years, and each stock option generally vests over a four-year
period.

2017 Equity Incentive Plan—Our 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (our "2017 EIP") became effective on July 26, 2017, and provides for the issuance of incentive and
nonqualified common stock options and restricted stock units to employees, directors, and consultants. The number of shares of common stock initially reserved for issuance under
our 2017 EIP was 7,898,159. The number of shares reserved for issuance under our 2017 EIP will increase automatically on January 1 of each calendar year beginning on January
1, 2018, and continuing through January 1, 2028, by the number of shares equal to the lesser of 5% of the total outstanding shares of our common stock as of the immediately
preceding December 31 or an amount determined by our board of directors. The term of each stock option and restricted stock unit under the plan will not exceed 10 years, and
each award generally vests between two and four years.

We have reserved shares of common stock for future issuance under our 2017 EIP as follows:

September December

30, 2023 31, 2022
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Stock Stock 2,653,619 3,282,789
options options
issued and issued and
outstanding outstanding
Restricted Restricted 13,643,678 15,731,632
stock units  stock units
outstanding outstanding
Shares Shares 11,838,057 7,951,616
available  available
for future  for future
equity equity
grants grants

Total Total 28,135,354 26,966,037

shares shares

reserved  reserved

for future ~ for future

issuance

issuance
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2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan—Our 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (our "ESPP") was approved by our board of directors on July 27, 2017 and enables

eligible employees to purchase shares of our common stock at a discount. Purchases will be accomplished through participation in discrete offering periods. We initially reserved
1,600,000 shares of common stock for issuance under our ESPP. The number of shares reserved for issuance under our ESPP will increase automatically on January 1 of each
calendar year beginning after the first offering date and continuing through January 1, 2028, by the number of shares equal to the lesser of 1% of the total outstanding shares of our

common stock as of the immediately preceding December 31 or an amount determined by our board of directors. On each purchase date, eligible employees will purchase our
common stock at a price per share equal to 85% of the lesser of (i) the fair market value of our common stock on the first trading day of the offering period and (ii) the fair market

value of our common stock on the purchase date.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

We have reserved shares of common stock for future issuance under our ESPP as follows:

Nine
Months
Ended Year
Ended
Sy December

30, 2023 31, 2022
Three Months
Ended March
31,2024

Shares  Shares
available available
for for
issuance issuance
at at
beginning beginning

of period of period

Shares  Shares  (1,150,703) (1,170,106) Shares issued during the period

issued issued

during the during the

period period
Total Total
shares shares
available available
for for
future future
issuance issuance
atend of atend of

period period

4,695,361 5,865,467 Shares available for issuance at beginning of period

3,544,658 4,695,361 Total shares available for future issuance at end of period

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

4,378,042

= (1,491,040)

4,378,042

4,695,361

(1,491,040)

3,204,321

Stock Options—Option activity for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was as follows:

Outstanding as of January 1, 2023
Options exercised

Options expired
Outstanding as of September 30, 2023

Options exercisable as of September 30, 2023

Outstanding as of January 1, 2024

Options exercised

Options expired
Outstanding as of March 31, 2024

Number of Options

Weighted-Average Exercise Price

Weighted-Averag

Contractual Life (Years)

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Aggregate Intrinsic Value

3,282,789 $ 9.10 290 $ 1,145
(579,000) 2.70
(50,170) 9.62
2,653,619 10.48 2.65 795
2,653,619 10.48 2.65 795
Weighted-Average Remaining
Number of Options Weighted-Average Exercise Price Contractual Life (Years) Aggregate Intrinsic Value
2,406,453 $ 11.14 263 $ 3,355
(15,333) 6.12
(19,010) 8.61
2,372,110 11.19 2.41 13,343
39/459
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Options exercisable as of March 31, 2024 2.372,110 11.19 2.41 13,343

The grant date fair value of our stock options was recorded as stock-based compensation over the stock options' vesting period. All outstanding options were fully vested as
of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024. We did not recognize any option-related expense during the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024.

Restricted Stock Units—Restricted stock unit activity for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 was as follows:

Weighted-
Restricted Average
Stock Grant-

Units Date Fair

Value

Outstanding as of 15,731,632 $ 11.53
January 1, 2023

Restricted

Restricted Stock Units Weighted-Average Grant-Date Fair Value

Stock Units
Outstanding
as of
January 1,
2024

Granted Granted 4,996,788 9.41

Vested Vested  (5,330,317) 12.31

Forfeited Forfeited (1,754,425) 11.52
or or

canceled = canceled

Outstanding or deferred 13,643,678 10.45
as of September 30,
2023

Outstanding
or deferred
as of March

31, 2024

(1) Starting with the restricted stock units granted to them in June 2019, our non-employee directors have the option to defer the issuance of common stock receivable upon vesting of such restricted stock units until 60 days following the day they are no
longer providing services to us or, if earlier, upon a change in control transaction. The amount reported as vested excludes restricted stock units that have vested but whose settlement into shares has been deferred. The amount reported as outstanding or
deferred as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 includes these restricted stock units. As no further conditions exist to prevent the issuance of the shares of common stock underlying these restricted stock units, the shares are included in basic and diluted
weighted shares outstanding used to calculate net loss per share attributable to common stock. The amount of shares whose issuance have been deferred is not considered material and is not reported separately from stock-based compensation in our
consolidated statements of changes in mezzanine equity and stockholders’ (deficit) equity.

The grant date fair value of restricted stock units is recorded as stock-based compensation over the vesting period. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, there was
$112,042$98,831 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock units, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.201.93 years.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, there were 2,316,061 1,735,913 restricted stock units subject to performance and market conditions ("PSUs") at 100% of the
target level. Depending on our achievement of the performance and market conditions, the actual number of shares of common stock issuable upon vesting of PSUs will range from
0% to 200% of the target amount. For each PSU recipient, the awards will vest only if the recipient is continuing to provide service to us upon our board of directors, or its
compensation committee, certifying that we have achieved the PSU's related performance or market conditions. Stock-based compensation expense for PSUs with performance
conditions is recognized when it is probable that the performance conditions will be achieved. For PSUs with market conditions, the market condition is reflected in the grant-date
fair value of the award and the expense is recognized over the life of the award.

Stock-based compensation expense associated with the PSUs was as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024
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2024

PSU expense PSU expense $ 1,224 $ 1,867

Expense due to reassessment of

PSU expense

PSU expense

Reassessment of achievement of
performance conditions
Reassessment of achievement of
performance conditions
Reassessment of achievement of

performance conditions

4,405 $ 3,536
achievement related to prior periods (588) (815) (780) (815)
3,625 $ 2121l

Total expense Total expense $ 636 $ 1,052

Total expense

Total expense

Compensation Cost—Stock-based compensation, net of forfeitures and the amount capitalized in website and software development costs were as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
2024
2024
2024
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue Cost of revenue $ 3,037 $ 4,165 10,173 $ 10,771
Technology and Technology and 8,391 6,353 24,759 20,230
developmentq) development()
Technology and development)
Technology and development)
Marketing
Marketing
Marketing Marketing 1,337 1,002 3,836 2,939
General and General and 6,035 4,904 16,380 13,022
administrative administrative
General and administrative
General and administrative
Stock-based compensation from continuing
operations
Stock-based compensation from continuing
operations
Stock-based Stock-based 18,800 16,424 55,148 46,962
compensation from compensation from
continuing operations continuing operations
Stock-based Stock-based — 1,646 234 4,710
compensation from compensation from
discontinued operations(y) discontinued operations()
Stock-based compensation from discontinued
operations()
Stock-based compensation from discontinued
operations()
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Total stock-based Total stock-based $ 18,800 $ 18,070 $ 55,382 $ 51,672

compensation compensation

Total stock-based compensation

Total stock-based compensation
(1) Net of $969 $1,265 and $930 $1,134 of stock-based compensation that was capitalized in the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022, respectively, and $3,173 and $2,983 for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and
2022, 2023, respectively.

Note 12: Net Loss from Continuing Operations per Share Attributable to Common Stock
Net loss from continuing operations per share attributable to common stock is computed by dividing the net loss from continuing operations attributable to common stock by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. We have outstanding stock options, restricted stock units, options to purchase shares under our ESPP, convertible
preferred stock, and convertible senior notes, which are considered in the calculation of diluted net loss from continuing operations per share whenever doing so would be dilutive.
We calculate basic and diluted net loss from continuing operations per share attributable to common stock in conformity with the two-class method required for companies

with participating securities. We consider our convertible preferred stock to be participating securities. Under the two-class method, net loss from continuing operations attributable
to common stock is not allocated to the preferred stock as its holders do not have a contractual obligation to share in losses, as discussed in Note 11.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

The calculation of basic and diluted net loss from continuing operations per share attributable to common stock was as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024

2024

Numerator:

Numerator:

Numerator: Numerator:

Net loss from Net loss from

continuing operations  continuing operations $ (18,972) $ (46,251) $ (103,494) $ (222,721)
Net loss from continuing operations

Net loss from continuing operations

Dividends on convertible preferred stock

Dividends on convertible preferred stock

Dividends on Dividends on
convertible preferred  convertible preferred

stock stock (335) (272) (858) (1,416)

Net loss from Net loss from
continuing operations continuing operations
attributable to attributable to
common stock—basic common stock—basic

and diluted and diluted $ (19,307) $ (46,523) $ (104,352) $ (224,137)

Net loss from continuing operations
attributable to common stock—basic and

diluted

Net loss from continuing operations
attributable to common stock—basic and

diluted

D i H D

Denominator:
Denominator:

Weighted-average shares—basic and

dilutedq)
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Weighted-average shares—basic and

diluted@)

Weighted-average Weighted-average 114,592,679 108,618,491 112,141,342 107,566,894
shares—basic and shares—basic and

dilutedq) diluteda)

Net loss from Net loss from

continuing operations  continuing operations

per share attributable per share attributable

to common stock—  to common stock—

basic and diluted basic and diluted $ 0.17) $ (0.43) (0.93) $ (2.08)

Net loss from continuing operations per share
attributable to common stock—basic and

diluted

Net loss from continuing operations per share
attributable to common stock—basic and

diluted

(1) Basic and diluted weighted-average shares outstanding include (i) common stock earned but not yet issued related to share-based dividends on our convertible preferred stock, and (i) restricted stock units that have vested but whose settlement into

common stock were deferred at the option of certain non-employee directors.

The following outstanding shares of common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of the diluted net loss from continuing operations per share for the

periods presented because their effect would have been anti-dilutive:

Three Months Ended September 30,

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024

2024

2022

2023 notes as if 2023 notes as if — 769,623

converted converted

2025 notes as if converted 3,234,293 9,119,960
2027 notes as if converted 6,147,900 6,147,900
2023 notes as if converted

2023 notes as if converted

2025 notes as if converted()

2025 notes as if convertedq)

2025 notes as if converted)

2027 notes as if convertedq)

2027 notes as if converteda)

2027 notes as if convertedq)

Convertible preferred stock as if converted

Convertible preferred stock as if converted

Convertible preferred Convertible preferred 2,040,000 2,040,000

stock as if converted  stock as if converted

Stock options Stock options 2,653,619 3,309,305

outstanding outstanding

Restricted stock units outstanding@) 13,605,240 11,300,717
Stock options outstanding

Stock options outstanding

Restricted stock units outstanding())

Restricted stock units outstanding())

Restricted stock units outstanding()@)

Employee stock purchase plan

Employee stock purchase plan
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3,234,293 9,119,960

6,147,900 6,147,900

2,040,000 2,040,000

2,653,619 3,309,305

13,605,240 11,300,717
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Employee stock Employee stock 333,131 775,579 333,131 775,579

purchase plan purchase plan
Total Total 28,014,183 33,463,084 28,014,183 33,463,084
Total
Total

(1) Based on the closing price of our common stock of $6.65 on March 31, 2024, the if-converted values of both convertible notes were less than the principal amounts.

(2) Excludes 2,316,061 1,735,913 incremental PSUs that could vest, assuming applicable performance criteria and market conditions are achieved at 200% of target, which is the maximum achievement level. See Note 11 for additional information regarding
PSUs.

(2) (3) Excludes 38,438 restricted stock units that have vested but whose settlement into common stock were deferred at the option of certain non-employee directors as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024.

Note 13: Income Taxes

During the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we recorded an income tax expense benefit of $882 as a component of continuing
operations, $172 resulting in an effective tax rate of (0.85)% with respect to continuing operations, and an effective tax rate of (0.82)% with respect to our total net loss from both
continuing and discontinued operations, 0.26%, which is primarily a result of current state income taxes. Our current income tax expense benefit was partially offset by deferred tax
expenses associated with increases to indefinite-lived deferred tax liabilities created through the Company’s April 2, 2021 acquisition of Rent., and April 1, 2022 acquisition of Bay
Equity. Our March 31, 2023 effective tax rate of (0.72)% is primarily a result of current state taxes which are supplemented by deferred tax expenses associated with increases to
indefinite-lived deferred tax liabilities created through the Company’s April 2, 2021 acquisition of Rent., and April 1, 2022 acquisition of Bay Equity. Our September 30, 2022 effective
tax rate of (0.16)% is primarily a result of current state income taxes which were partially offset by a deferred tax benefit resulting from a reduction to deferred tax liabilities originally
created through our April 2, 2021 acquisition of Rent.

In determining the realizability of the net U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets, we consider numerous factors including historical profitability, estimated future taxable
income, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies, and the industry in which we operate. Management reassesses the realization of the deferred tax assets each reporting period,
which resulted in a valuation allowance against the full amount of our U.S. deferred tax assets for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022.2023.
To the extent that the financial results of our U.S. operations improve in the future and the deferred tax assets become realizable, we will reduce the valuation allowance through
earnings.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

Under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, substantial changes in our ownership may limit the amount of net operating loss ("NOL")
and income tax credit carryforwards that could be utilized annually in the future to offset taxable income and income tax liabilities. Any such annual limitation may significantly
reduce the utilization of the NOLs and income tax credits before they expire. A Section 382 limitation study performed as of March 31, 2017 determined that we experienced an
ownership change in 2006 with $1,506 of the 2006 NOL and $32 of the 2006 research and development tax credit unavailable for future use. Furthermore, in connection with our
acquisition of Rent., Rent. experienced an ownership change that triggered Section 382. As of September 30, 2021, Rent. completed a Section 382 limitation study and, based on
this analysis, we do not expect a reduction in the availability of Rent.'s pre-change NOLs.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had accumulated approximately $651,498 $642,212 of federal net operating losses, approximately $34,718 $32,234 (tax
effected) of state net operating losses, and approximately $5,255 $5,363 of foreign net operating losses. Federal net operating losses are available to offset federal taxable income
and begin to expire in 2023, 2024, with net operating loss carryforwards of $413,145 $449,434 generated after 2017 available to offset future U.S. federal taxable income over an
indefinite period.

Net research and development credit carryforwards of $23,968 and $23,240 are available as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, to reduce
future liabilities. The research and development credit carryforwards begin to expire in 2026.

Deductible but limited federal business interest expense carryforwards of $149,464 and $145,296 are available as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, to offset future U.S. federal taxable income over an indefinite period.

Our material income tax jurisdiction is the United States (federal) and Canada (foreign). As a result of NOL carryforwards, we are subject to audit for all tax years for federal
and foreign purposes. All tax years remain subject to examination in various other jurisdictions that are not material to our consolidated financial statements.

Note 14: Debt

As of March 31, 2024, outstanding borrowings of our debt are as follows:
Maturity of Debt

Lender 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Thereafter

Warehouse Credit Facilities

City National Bank $ 21,828 $ — 8 — 8 — 8 — 8 =
Origin Bank 22,366 — — — — —
M&T Bank 19,951 — — — = —
Prosperity Bank 36,294 — — — = —
Republic Bank & Trust Company 33,091 — — — = —
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 23,058 — — — — _
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Term Loan — —

Convertible Senior Notes

124,123 =

2025 notes = 143,988 = = = =
2027 notes — — — 497,221 — —
Total borrowings $ 156,588 $ 143,988 $ — 8 497221 $ 124,123 $ —

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

Warehouse Credit Facilities—To provide capital for the mortgage loans that it originates, our mortgage segment utilizes warehouse credit facilities that are classified as
current liabilities in on our consolidated balance sheets. Borrowings under each warehouse credit facility are secured by the related mortgage loan, and rights and income

associated with related to the loan. loans.

Each warehouse credit facility contains various restrictive and financial covenants and provides that a breach or failure to satisfy these covenants constitutes an event of
default. As of March 31, 2024, we received a waiver of our financial covenants pursuant to the Republic Bank & Trust Company credit facility.

The following table summarizes borrowings under these facilities as of the periods presented:

March 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

Weighted-Average Interest

Rate on Outstanding

Weighted-Average Interest

Rate on Outstanding

Lender Borrowing Capacity Outstanding Borrowings Borrowings Borrowing Capacity Outstanding Borrowings Borrowings
City National Bank $ 50,000 $ 21,828 7.25% 50,000 $ 20,046 7.24%
Origin Bank 75,000 22,366 7.30 % 75,000 30,110 7.25%
M&T Bank 50,000 19,951 7.32% 50,000 18,870 7.39 %
Prosperity Bank 75,000 36,294 7.20% 75,000 29,358 7.23%
Republic Bank & Trust Company 45,000 33,091 7.26 % 45,000 23,415 7.28%
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 100,000 23,058 7.35% 100,000 30,165 7.36 %
Total $ 395,000 $ 156,588 395,000 $ 151,964

Term Loan—On October 20, 2023, we entered into a definitive agreement with Apollo Capital Management, L.P. and its affiliates (“Apollo”) whereby Apollo agreed to
commit up to $250,000 of financing for us in the form of a first lien term loan facility (the “facility”). We borrowed half of the loan on October 20, 2023 and the remainder will be

available as a delayed draw during the following 12 months.

September 30, 2023

December 31, 2022

Weighted-Average Interest

Rate on Outstanding

Weighted-Average Interest
Rate on Outstanding

Lender Borrowing Capaci (o] ling Borrowing Borrowing Borrowing Capacity Outstanding Borrowings Borrowings
City National Bank $ 75,000 $ 13,355 7.25% 75,000 $ 27,288 5.89 %
Comerica Bank N/A N/A N/A 75,000 26,526 6.36 %
Origin Bank 75,000 15,238 7.18% 75,000 23,739 5.98 %
M&T Bank 50,000 9,644 747 % 50,000 19,126 6.45 %
Prosperity Bank 100,000 50,912 7.19 % 100,000 35,856 6.18 %
Republic Bank & Trust Company 75,000 23,101 7.25% 75,000 26,636 5.81 %
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 100,000 20,070 7.32% 100,000 31,338 6.41 %
Total $ 475,000 $ 132,320 550,000 $ 190,509

The facility is pre-payable at par, after 12 months of call protection (during which prepayment would be at 101% of par), or with respect to prepayments made with respect to
a change of control, at 101% of par, and carries a five-year term, maturing October 20, 2028. Interest will be charged at the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) +575 basis
points for the first five full fiscal quarters after closing, with step-downs to SOFR +550 basis points and SOFR +525 basis points thereafter upon achieving agreed performance
metrics. The facility requires that we maintain cash and cash equivalents of $75,000 which is tested on a quarterly basis. The negative covenants include restrictions on the
incurrence of liens and indebtedness, investments, certain merger transactions, and other matters, all subject to certain exceptions. The effective interest rate for our term loan is

11.97%.
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The facility includes customary events of default that, include among other things, non-payment of principal, interest or fees, inaccuracy of representations and warranties,
violation of certain covenants, cross default to certain other indebtedness, bankruptcy and insolvency events, material judgments, change of control, and certain material ERISA
events. The occurrence of an event of default could result in the acceleration of the obligations under the facility. In addition, the facility prohibits us from making any cash payments
on the conversion or repurchase of our notes if an event of default exists under our term loan facility, or if, after giving effect to such conversion or repurchase, we would not be in
compliance with the financial covenants under our term loan facility.

As security for our obligations under the facility, we granted Apollo a first priority security interest on substantially all of our assets and the assets of our material subsidiaries,
subject to certain exceptions. Therefore, in a bankruptcy, Apollo first, and the holders of our convertible senior notes second, would have a claim to our assets senior to the claims of
holders of our common stock.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements

As part of the transaction, we repurchased $5,000 principal amount of our 2025 convertible notes held by Apollo and $71,894 principal amount of 2027 convertible notes
held by Apollo for an aggregate repurchase price of $57,075 using cash on our balance sheet. Additionally, we paid $2,471 in debt issuance costs in connection with the Apollo term
loan, which is currently recorded in prepaid expenses on our consolidated balance sheet.

The components of the term loan were as follows:

March 31, 2024

Aggregate Principal Amount Unamortized Debt Discount Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs Net Carrying Amount

$ 124375 $ — $ 252 $ 124,123

Convertible Senior Notes—We have issued convertible senior notes with the following characteristics:

Stated Cash Effective Interest Semi-Annual Interest Payment
Issuance Maturity Date Interest Rate Rate First Interest Payment Date Dates Conversion Rate
2025 notes October 15, 2025 — % 042% — — 13.7920
2027 notes April 1, 2027 0.50 % 0.90 % October 1, 2021 April 1; October 1 10.6920

We issued our 2025 notes on October 20, 2020, with an aggregate principal amount of $661,250. In the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we
repurchased and retired approximately $36,201 $48,531 in aggregate principal amount of our 2025 notes at a price of $29,382 $42,525 using available cash. In connection with
these repurchases, we recorded a gain on extinguishment of debt of $6,495 $5,686 for the three months ended September 30, 2023. In the nine months ended September 30, 2023,
we repurchased and retired approximately $284,223 in aggregate principal amount of our 2025 notes at a price of $212,402 using available cash. In connection with these
repurchases, we recorded a gain on extinguishment of debt of $68,848 for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024.

We issued our 2027 notes on March 25, 2021 and April 5, 2021, with an aggregate principal amount of $575,000.

The components of our convertible senior notes were as follows:

March 31, 2024 March 31, 2024

Issuance Issuance Aggregate Principal Amount Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs Net Carrying Amount

September 30, 2023

Unamortized

Aggregate Debt Net
Principal Issuance  Carrying
Issuance Amount Costs Amount
2023 notesw ~ $ — $ — $ =
2025 notes
2025 notes
2025 2025
notes notes 234,505 1,994 232,511
2027 2027
notes notes 575,000 7,846 567,154

(1) The 2023 notes were fully repaid in cash on July 15, 2023.

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2023

Issuance Issuance Aggregate Principal Amount Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs Net Carrying Amount

December 31, 2022
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2025 notes
2025 notes
2025
notes
2027

notes
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Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024

2023 notes

2023 notes
2023 notes
Contractual interest expense
Contractual interest expense
Contractual interest
expense

Amortization of debt

issuance costs

Amortization of debt issuance costs
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Total interest expense
Total interest expense

Total interest

expense

2025 notes

2025 notes
2025 notes
Contractual interest expense
Contractual interest expense
Contractual interest
expense

Amortization of debt

issuance costs

Amortization of debt issuance costs
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Total interest expense

Total interest expense
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Total interest Total interest

expense expense $ 590 $ 690 $ 4,052 $ 2,070
2027 notes 2027 notes
2027 notes
2027 notes

Contractual interest expense
Contractual interest expense

Contractual interest  Contractual interest

expense expense 719 719 2,156 2,156

Amortization of debt  Amortization of debt

issuance costs issuance costs 560 560 1,680 1,680
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Amortization of debt issuance costs

Total interest expense

Total interest expense

Total interest Total interest

expense expense $ 1,279 $ 1,279 $ 3,836 $ 3,836
Total Total
Total
Total

Contractual interest expense
Contractual interest expense

Contractual interest ~ Contractual interest

expense expense 736 822 2,379 2,465

Amortization of debt  Amortization of debt

issuance costs issuance costs 1,155 1,288 5,813 3,863
Amortization of debt issuance costs

Amortization of debt issuance costs

Total interest Total interest
expense expense $ 1,891 $ 2,110 $ 8,192 $ 6,328

Total interest expense

Total interest expense
Conversion of Our Convertible Senior Notes

Prior to the free conversion date, a holder of each tranche of our convertible senior notes may convert its notes in multiples of $1,000 principal amount only if one or more of
the conditions described below is satisfied. On or after the free conversion date, a holder may convert its notes in such multiples without any conditions. The free conversion date is
July 15, 2025 for our 2025 notes and January 1, 2027 for our 2027 notes.

The conditions are:

« during any calendar quarter (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of our common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not
consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to
130% of the applicable conversion price on each applicable trading day;

« during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of the applicable notes for each
trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our common stock and the applicable conversion rate on each such
trading day;

« if we call any or all of the applicable notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the scheduled trading day prior to the redemption date; or
« upon the occurrence of specified corporate events.
We intend to settle any future conversions of our convertible senior notes by paying or delivering, as the case may be, cash, shares of our common stock, or a combination
of cash and shares of our common stock, at our election. We apply the if-converted method to calculate diluted earnings per share when applicable. Under the if-converted method,

the denominator of the diluted earnings per share calculation is adjusted to reflect the full number of common shares issuable upon conversion, while the numerator is adjusted to
add back interest expense for the period. None of the above conditions were satisfied during the three months ended March 31, 2024.

Index to Notes to Financial Statements
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Classification of Our Convertible Senior Notes

All of our convertible senior notes are accounted for as liabilities. The difference between the principal amount of the notes and the net carrying amount represents the
unamortized debt discount, which we record as a deduction from the debt liability in our consolidated balance sheets. This discount is amortized to interest expense using the
effective interest method over the term of the notes.

See Note 4 for fair value information related to our convertible senior notes.

Cross-acceleration and Cross-default Provisions of our Convertible Senior Notes, Term Loan, and Warehouse Credit Facilities—The indentures governing our
2025 and 2027 convertible senior notes contain cross-acceleration and cross-default provisions. These provisions could have the effect of creating an event of default under the
indenture for either our 2025 or 2027 convertible senior notes, despite our compliance with that agreement, due solely to an event of default or failure to pay amounts owed under
the indenture for the other tranche of convertible senior notes. Accordingly, all or a significant portion of our outstanding convertible senior notes could become immediately payable
due solely to our failure to comply with the terms of a single agreement governing either our 2025 or 2027 convertible senior notes. In addition, each of our warehouse credit
facilities and term loan facility contain cross-acceleration and cross-default provisions. These provisions could have the effect of creating an event of default under the agreement for
any such facility, despite our compliance with that agreement, due solely to an event of default or failure to pay amounts owed under the agreement for another facility. Accordingly,
all or a significant portion of our outstanding warehouse indebtedness or outstanding term loan indebtedness could become immediately payable due solely to our failure to comply
with the terms of a single agreement governing one of our facilities. While the cross-default provisions in our existing warehouse credit facilities do not pick up defaults under our
convertible senior notes and our existing warehouse credit facilities are carved out of the cross-payment default provisions in our 2025 and 2027 senior notes given that they
constitute non-recourse debt, any default under our convertible senior notes would trigger an event of default under our term loan facility and, similarly, any default under our term
loan facility would trigger the cross-payment default provisions in our 2025 and 2027 senior notes.

2027 Capped Calls—In 2021, and in connection with the pricing of our 2027 notes, we entered into capped call transactions with certain counterparties (the “2027 capped
calls”). The 2027 capped calls have initial strike prices of $93.53 per share and initial cap prices of $138.56 per share, in each case subject to certain adjustments. Conditions that
cause adjustments to the initial strike price and initial cap price of the 2027 capped calls are similar to the conditions that result in corresponding adjustments to the conversion rate
for our 2027 notes. The 2027 capped calls cover, subject to anti-dilution adjustments, 6,147,900 shares of our common stock and are generally intended to reduce or offset the
potential dilution to our common stock upon any conversion of the 2027 notes, with such reduction or offset, as the case may be, subject to a cap based on the cap price. The 2027
capped calls are separate transactions, and not part of the terms of our 2027 notes. As these instruments meet certain accounting criteria, the 2027 capped calls are recorded in
stockholders’ (deficit) equity and are not accounted for as derivatives. The cost of $62,647 incurred in connection with the 2027 capped calls was recorded as a reduction to
additional paid-in capital.

Note 15: Subsequent Events

Apollo AgreementWells Fargo Bank, N.A. Credit Facility—In April 2024, we terminated our credit facility with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. after repaying all borrowings and
Note Repurchase

On October 20, 2023, we entered into a definitive agreement with Apollo Capital Management, L.P. and its affiliates (“Apollo”) whereby Apollo agreed to commit up to
$250,000 of financing for us in the form of a first lien term loan facility (the “facility”). We borrowed half of the loan on October 20, 2023 and the remainder will be available as a
delayed draw during the following 12 months.

The facility is pre-payable at par, after 12 months of call protection (during which prepayment would be at 101% of par), or with respect to prepayments made with respect to
a change of control, at 101% of par, and carries a five-year term. Interest will be charged at SOFR +575 basis points for the first five full fiscal quarters after closing, with step-downs
to SOFR +550 basis points and SOFR +525 basis points thereafter upon achieving agreed performance metrics. The facility includes a financial covenant, which requires the
maintenance of aggregate consolidated liquidity (defined as unrestricted cash plus cash equivalents) of $75,000, tested quarterly. The negative covenants include restrictions on the
incurrence of liens and indebtedness, investments, certain merger transactions, and other matters, all subject to certain exceptions.

The facility includes customary events of default that, include among other things, non-payment of principal, interest or fees, inaccuracy of representations and warranties,
violation of certain covenants, cross default to certain other indebtedness, bankruptcy and insolvency events, material judgments, change of control, and certain material ERISA

events. The occurrence of an event of default could result in the acceleration of the obligations under the facility.

As security for our obligations under the facility, we granted Apollo a first priority security interest on substantially all of our assets and the assets of our material subsidiaries,
subject to certain exceptions.

As part of the transaction, we agreed to repurchase $5,000 principal amount of our 2025 convertible notes held by Apollo and $72,000 principal amount of 2027 convertible
notes held by Apollo for an aggregate repurchase price of approximately $50,000 (the “Apollo Repurchase”) using cash on our balance sheet.

The foregoing summary and description of the provisions of the facility does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the
facility, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 10.3 to this quarterly report.

Repurchase Program Update
On October 19, 2023, our board of directors increased the amount of cash authorized for use in the existing note repurchase program from $300,000 in aggregate to

$450,000 in aggregate. The repurchase program includes both our 2025 and 2027 convertible senior notes. The program has no expiration date and will continue until suspended,
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terminated, or modified by our board of directors. accrued interest.

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our consolidated financial statements, the
accompanying notes, and other information included in this quarterly report and our annual report for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. In particular, the
disclosure contained in Item 1A in our annual report, as updated by Part Il, ltem 1A in this quarterly report, may reflect trends, demands, commitments, events, or uncertainties that
could materially impact our results of operations and liquidity and capital resources.

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements, such as statements regarding our future operating results and financial position, our business strategy and
plans, our market growth and trends, and our objectives for future operations. Please see "Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" for more information about relying on
these forward-looking statements. The following discussion also contains information using industry publications. Please see "Note Regarding Industry and Market Data" for more
information about relying on these industry publications.

When we use the term "basis points"” in the following discussion, we refer to units of one-hundredth of one percent.
Overview

We help people buy and sell homes. Representing customers in over 100 markets in the United States and Canada, we are a residential real estate brokerage. We pair our
own agents with our own technology to create a service that is faster, better, and costs less. We meet customers through our listings-search website and mobile application.

We use the same combination of technology and local service to originate and service mortgage loans and offer title and settlement services. We use digital platforms to
connect consumers with available apartments and houses for rent.

Our mission is to redefine real estate in the consumer’s favor.
Adverse Macroeconomic Conditions and Our Associated Actions

Beginning in the second quarter of 2022 and continuing through the third first quarter of 2028, 2024, a number of economic factors adversely impacted the residential real
estate market, including higher mortgage interest rates, lower consumer sentiment, and increased inflation, and declining financial market conditions. inflation. This shift in the
macroeconomic backdrop had an adverse impact on adversely impacted consumer demand for our services, as consumers weighed the financial implications of selling or
purchasing a home and taking out a mortgage. Our real estate services transaction volume decreased by 18% in the third quarter of 2022, compared to the prior year. This volume
decreased another 20% in the third quarter of 2023, compared to the prior year. Bay Equity also experienced significant declines in loan volumes beginning in the second quarter of
2022, particularly from refinancing prior mortgages.

In response to these macroeconomic and consumer demand developments, we took action to adjust our operations and manage our business towards longer-term
profitability despite these adverse macroeconomic factors.

From April 2022, after completing the acquisition of Bay Equity, through September December 2023, through involuntary reductions and attrition, we reduced our total
number of employees by 838% 40%, including a reduction in lead agents of 37% 40%. These workforce reductions were intended to align the size of our operations with the level of
consumer demand for our services at that time.

In November of 2022, we decided to wind-down our properties segment, which included RedfinNow. This was a strategic decision we made in order to focus our resources
on our core business in the face of the rising cost of capital. We completed the wind-down of our properties segment in the second quarter of 2023. Results for the properties
segment are now reported in discontinued operations for all periods presented. The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations include our
continued operations for all periods presented.

Numerous lawsuits have been filed on behalf of putative classes of homebuyers and home sellers against the National Association of Realtors, local real estate
associations, multiple listing services, and various residential real estate brokerages in various federal districts in the United States. Some of these lawsuits name Redfin as a
defendant. On May 3, 2024, we entered into a Proposed Settlement for a total of $9.25 million to resolve the Gibson Action and the Umpa Action and similar claims on behalf of
home sellers against Redfin on a nationwide basis. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements and Item 1A. Risk Factors for descriptions of these cases and their potential
impact.

Key Business Metrics
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In addition to the measures presented in our consolidated financial statements, we use the following key metrics to evaluate our business, develop financial forecasts, and

make strategic decisions.

Monthly average visitors (in thousands)
Real estate services transactions
Brokerage
Partner
Total
Real estate services revenue per transaction
Brokerage
Partner
Aggregate
U.S. market share by units()

Revenue from top-10 Redfin markets as a percentage

of real estate services revenue
Average number of lead agents
Mortgage originations by dollars (in millions)

Mortgage originations by units (in ones)

Three Months Ended

Sep. 30, 2023 Jun. 30, 2023 Mar. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022 Sep. 30, 2022 Jun. 30, 2022 Mar. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021
51,309 52,308 50,440 43,847 50,785 52,698 51,287 44,665
13,075 13,716 10,301 12,743 18,245 20,565 15,001 19,428

4,351 3,952 3,187 2,742 3,507 3,983 3,417 4,603
17,426 17,668 13,488 15,485 21,752 24,548 18,418 24,031
12,704 $ 12,376 $ 11,556 $ 10,914 $ 11,103 $ 11,692 $ 11,191 $ 10,900

2,677 2,756 2,592 2,611 2,556 2,851 2,814 2,819
10,200 10,224 9,438 9,444 9,725 10,258 9,637 9,352

0.78 % 0.75 % 0.79 % 0.76 % 0.80 % 0.83 % 0.79 % 0.78 %
56 % 55 % 53 % 57 % 58 % 59 % 57 % 61 %

1,744 1,792 1,876 2,022 2,293 2,640 2,750 2,485

1,110 $ 1,282 $ 991 $ 1,036 $ 1,557 $ 1,565 $ 159 $ 242

2,786 3,131 2,444 2,631 3,720 3,860 414 591

(1) Prior to the second quarter of 2022, we reported our U.S. market share based on the aggregate home value of our real estate services transactions, relative to the aggregate value of all U.S. home sales, which we computed based on the mean sale price
of U.S. homes provided by the National Association of REALTORS® (“NAR"). Beginning in the second quarter of 2022, NAR (1) revised its methodology of computing the mean sale price, (2) restated its previously reported mean sale price beginning from
January 2020 (and indicated that previously reported mean sale price prior to January 2020 is not comparable), and (3) discontinued publication of the mean sale price as part of its primary data set. Due to these changes, as of the second quarter of 2022, we
report our U.S. market share based on the number of homes sold, rather than the dollar value of homes sold. Our market share by number of homes sold has historically been lower than our market share by dollar value of homes sold. We also stopped
reporting the aggregate home value of our real estate services transactions.

Monthly average visitors (in thousands)
Real estate services transactions
Brokerage
Partner
Total
Real estate services revenue per transaction
Brokerage
Partner
Aggregate
U.S. market share by units

Revenue from top-10 Redfin markets as a percentage
of real estate services revenue

Average number of lead agents
Mortgage originations by dollars (in millions)

Mortgage originations by units (in ones)

Monthly Average Visitors

Three Months Ended

Mar. 31, 2024 Dec. 31, 2023 Sep. 30, 2023 Jun. 30, 2023 Mar. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022 Sep. 30, 2022 Jun. 30, 2022
48,803 43,861 51,309 52,308 50,440 43,847 50,785 52,698
10,039 10,152 13,075 13,716 10,301 12,743 18,245 20,565

2,601 3,186 4,351 3,952 3,187 2,742 3,507 3,983
12,730 13,338 17,426 17,668 13,488 15,485 21,752 24,548
12433 $ 12248 12,704  $ 12376 $ 11556  $ 10914 $ 11,103 $ 11,692

2,367 2,684 2,677 2,756 2,592 2,611 2,556 2,851
10,305 9,963 10,200 10,224 9,438 9,444 9,725 10,258

0.77% 0.72% 0.78 % 0.75% 0.79 % 0.76 % 0.80 % 0.83%

55 % 55 % 56 % 55 % 53 % 57 % 58 % 59 %
1,658 1,692 1,744 1,792 1,876 2,022 2,293 2,640
%69 $ 885 $ 1110 $ 1282 $ 991  $ 1,036 $ 1557 % 1,565
2,365 2,293 2,786 3,131 2,444 2,631 3,720 3,860

The number of, and growth in, visitors to our website and mobile application are important leading indicators of our business activity because these channels are the primary
ways we meet customers. The number of visitors is influenced by, among other things, market conditions that affect interest in buying or selling homes, the level and success of our
marketing programs, seasonality, and how our website appears in search results. We believe we can continue to increase visitors, which helps our growth.

Given the lengthy process to buy or sell a home, a visitor during one month may not convert to a revenue-generating customer until many months later, if at all.

When we refer to "monthly average visitors" for a particular period, we are referring to the average number of unique visitors to our website and our mobile applications for
each of the months in that period, as measured by Google Analytics, a product that provides digital marketing intelligence. Google Analytics tracks visitors using cookies, with a
unique cookie being assigned to each browser or mobile application on a device. For any given month, Google Analytics counts all of the unique cookies that visited our website and
mobile applications during that month. Google Analytics considers each unique cookie as a unique visitor. Due to third-party technological limitations, user software settings, or user
behavior, it is possible that Google Analytics may assign a unique cookie to different visits by the same person to our website or mobile application. In such instances, Google
Analytics would count different visits by the same person as separate visits by unique visitors. Accordingly, reliance on the number of unique cookies counted by Google Analytics
may overstate the actual number of unique persons who visit our website or our mobile applications for a given month.
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Our monthly average visitors exclude visitors to Rent.'s websites and mobile applications.
Real Estate Services Transactions

We record a brokerage real estate services transaction when one of our lead agents represented the homebuyer or home seller in the purchase or sale, respectively, of a
home. We record a partner real estate services transaction (i) when one of our partner agents represented the homebuyer or home seller in the purchase or sale, respectively, of a
home or (ii) when a Redfin customer sold his or her home to a third-party institutional buyer following our introduction of that customer to the buyer. We include a single transaction
twice when our lead agents or our partner agents serve both the homebuyer and the home seller of the transaction. Additionally, when one of our lead agents represents RedfinNow
in its sale of a home, we include that transaction as a brokerage real estate services transaction. We completed the wind-down of our RedfinNow business in the second quarter of
2023.

Increasing the number of real estate services transactions is critical to increasing our revenue and, in turn, to achieving profitability. Real estate services transaction volume
is influenced by, among other things, the pricing and quality of our services as well as market conditions that affect home sales, such as local inventory levels and mortgage interest
rates. Real estate services transaction volume is also affected by seasonality and macroeconomic factors.

Real Estate Services Revenue per Transaction

Real estate services revenue per transaction, together with the number of real estate services transactions, is a factor in evaluating revenue growth. We also use this metric
to evaluate pricing changes. Changes in real estate services revenue per transaction can be affected by, among other things, our pricing, the mix of transactions from homebuyers
and home sellers, changes in the value of homes in the markets we serve, the geographic mix of our transactions, and the transactions we refer to partner agents and any third-
party institutional buyer. We calculate real estate services revenue per transaction by dividing brokerage, partner, or aggregate revenue, as applicable, by the corresponding number
of real estate services transactions in any period.

We generally generate more real estate services revenue per transaction from representing homebuyers than home sellers. However, we believe that representing home
sellers has unique strategic value, including the marketing power of yard signs and other campaigns, and the market effect of controlling listing inventory.

Prior to July 2022, homebuyers who purchased their home using our brokerage services would receive a commission refund in a substantial majority of our markets. In July
2022, we began a pilot program in certain of those markets to eliminate our commission refund. Since this pilot was successful, we eliminated the standard commission refund we
had historically provided in all markets in December 2022. The average refund per transaction for a homebuyer was $1,336 in 2022. The elimination of this commission refund has
increased our real estate services revenue per transaction in 2023, although this metric is also impacted by the factors discussed above. In September 2023, we began a pilot
program in certain markets to provide a refund to homebuyers who sign a buyer agency agreement with us before their second home tour. We expanded this pilot program to more
markets in the first quarter of 2024.

U.S. Market Share by Units

Increasing our U.S. market share by units is critical to our ability to grow our business and achieve profitability over the long term. We believe there is a significant
opportunity to increase our share in the markets we currently serve.

We calculate our market share by aggregating the number of brokerage and partner real estate services transactions. We then divide that number by two times the

aggregate number of U.S. home sales, in order to account for both the sell- and buy-side components of each home sale. We obtain the aggregate number of U.S. home sales from
the National Association of REALTORS® ("NAR"). NAR data for the most recent period is preliminary and may subsequently be updated.

Revenue from Top-10 Markets as a Percentage of Real Estate Services Revenue
Our top-10 markets by real estate services revenue are the metropolitan areas of Boston, Chicago, Dallas, Denver (including Boulder and Colorado Springs), Los Angeles

(including Santa Barbara), Maryland, Northern Virginia, Portland (including Bend), San Diego, San Francisco, and Seattle. This metric is an indicator of the geographic concentration
of our real estate services segment. We expect our revenue from top-10 markets to decline as a percentage of our total real estate services revenue over time.

Average Number of Lead Agents

The average number of lead agents, in combination with our other key metrics such as the number of brokerage transactions, is a basis for calculating agent productivity
and is one indicator of the potential future growth of our business. We systematically evaluate traffic to our website and mobile application and customer activity to anticipate
changes in customer demand, helping determine when and where to hire lead agents.

We calculate the average number of lead agents by taking the average of the number of lead agents at the end of each month included in the period.

Mortgage Originations

Mortgage originations is the volume of mortgage loans originated by our mortgage business, measured by both dollar value of loans and number of loans. This volume is an

indicator for the growth of our mortgage business. Mortgage originations, including refinancings, are affected by mortgage interest rates, the ability of our mortgage loan officers to
close loans, and the number of our homebuyer customers who use our mortgage business for a mortgage loan, among other factors.
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Prior to April 1, 2022, our mortgage business consisted solely of Redfin Mortgage, LLC. From April 1, 2022 through June 30, 2022, our mortgage business consisted of
both Bay Equity LLC and Redfin Mortgage, LLC. We dissolved Redfin Mortgage, LLC on June 30, 2022, and since that time, our mortgage business has consisted solely
of Bay Equity LLC.

Components of Our Results of Operations
Revenue

We generate revenue primarily from commissions and fees charged on each real estate services transaction closed by our lead agents or partner agents, from subscription-
based product offerings for our rentals business, and from the origination, sales, and servicing of mortgages.

Real Estate Services Revenue

Brokerage Revenue—Brokerage revenue includes our offer and listing services, where our lead agents represent homebuyers and home sellers. We recognize
commission-based brokerage revenue upon closing of a brokerage transaction, less the amount of any commission refunds, closing-cost reductions, or promotional offers that may
result in a material right. Brokerage revenue is affected by the number of brokerage transactions we close, the mix of brokerage transactions, home-sale prices, commission rates,
and the amount we give to customers.

Partner Revenue—Partner revenue consists of fees paid to us from partner agents or under other referral agreements, less the amount of any payments we make to
homebuyers and home sellers. We recognize these fees as revenue on the closing of a transaction. Partner revenue is affected by the number of partner transactions closed, home-
sale prices, commission rates, and the amount we refund to customers. If the portion of customers we introduce to our own lead agents increases, we expect the portion of revenue
closed by partner agents to decrease.

Rentals Revenue

Rentals Revenue—Rentals revenue is primarily composed of subscription-based product offerings for internet listing services, as well as lead management and digital
marketing solutions. Rentals revenue is affected by the number of product offerings sold, pricing for each product, customer retention, and the mix of product offerings sold to our
customers.

Mortgage Revenue

Mortgage Revenue—Mortgage revenue includes fees from the origination and subsequent sale of loans, loan servicing income, interest income on loans held for sale,
origination of IRLCs, and the changes in fair value of our IRLCs, forward sales commitments, loans held for sale, and MSRs. Mortgage revenue is affected by loan volume, loan
pricing, and market factors that impact the fair value of our MSRs and loans held for sale.

Other Revenue

Other Revenue—Other services revenue includes fees earned from title settlement services, Walk Score data services, and advertising. Substantially all fees and revenue
from other services are recognized when the service is provided.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue consists primarily of personnel costs (including base pay, benefits, and stock-based compensation), transaction bonuses, home-touring and field expenses,
listing expenses, customer fulfillment costs related to our rentals segment, office and occupancy expenses, interest expense on our mortgage related warehouse facilities, and
depreciation and amortization related to fixed assets and acquired intangible assets.

Gross profit is revenue less cost of revenue. Gross margin is gross profit expressed as a percentage of revenue. Our gross margin has and will continue to be affected by a
number of factors, but the most important are the mix of revenue from our segments, real estate services revenue per transaction, agent and support-staff productivity, and
personnel costs and transaction bonuses.

Operating Expenses

Technology and Development

Our primary technology and development expenses are building software for our customers, lead agents, and support staff to work together on a transaction, and building a

website and mobile application to meet customers looking to move. These expenses primarily include personnel costs (including base pay, bonuses, benefits, and stock-based
compensation), data licenses, software and equipment, and infrastructure such as for data centers and hosted services. The expenses also include amortization of capitalized
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internal-use software and website and mobile application development costs as well as amortization of acquired intangible assets. We expense research and development costs as
incurred and record them in technology and development expenses.

Marketing

Marketing expenses consist primarily of media costs for online and offline advertising, as well as personnel costs (including base pay, benefits, and stock-based
compensation).

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs (including base pay, benefits, and stock-based compensation), facilities costs and related
expenses for our executive, finance, human resources, and legal organizations, depreciation related to our fixed assets, and fees for outside services. Outside services are
principally composed of external legal, audit, and tax services. For our rentals business, personnel costs include employees in the sales department. These employees are
responsible for attracting potential rental properties and agreeing to contract terms, but they are not responsible for delivering a service to the rental property.

Restructuring and Reorganization

Restructuring and reorganization expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs associated with employee terminations, furloughs, or retention payments associated
with wind-down activities.

Interest Income, Interest Expense, Income Tax Expense, Gain on Extinguishment of Convertible Senior Notes, and Other Expense, Net

Interest Income

Interest income consists primarily of interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents, and investments, and interest income related to originated mortgage loans.
Interest Expense

Interest expense consists primarily of any interest payable on our convertible senior notes and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, the amortization of
debt discounts and issuance cost costs related to our convertible senior notes. notes and term loan. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements for information regarding
interest on our convertible senior notes.

Interest expense also includes interest on borrowings and the amortization of debt issuance costs related to our secured revolving credit facility and our warehouse credit
facilities. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements for information regarding interest for the facility.

Income Tax Expense Benefit (Expense)

Income tax expense benefit (expense) primarily relates to currentfederal, state, income and local taxes recorded for the year, partially offset by a deferred income tax benefit
generated by the reduction to a deferred tax liability created through our April 2, 2021 acquisition of Rent. recorded.

Gain on Extinguishment of Convertible Senior Notes

Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes relates to gains recognized on the repurchase of our convertible senior notes. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial
statements for information regarding our convertible senior notes.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net consists primarily of realized and unrealized gains and losses on investments. investments and other assets, including impairment costs on our
subleases. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements for information regarding unrealized gains and losses on our investments.

Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented and as a percentage of our revenue for those periods.

Three Months Ended March 31,
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Revenue

Revenue

Revenue

Cost of revenueq)
Cost of revenueq)
Cost of revenueq)
Gross profit

Gross profit

Gross profit
Operating expenses
Operating expenses
Operating expenses

Technology and

development()

Revenue

Cost of revenueq)

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Technology and

development()

Technology and development()

Technology and development)

Marketing()
Marketing(1)
Marketing(y)

General and

administrative()

Marketing)

General and

administrative()

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024

2024
Three Months Ended September 30,

(in thousands)

Nine Months Ended September 30,

General and administrative()
General and administrative()
Restructuring and reorganization

Restructuring and reorganization

Restructuring and
reorganization

Total operating
expenses

Restructuring and
reorganization

Total operating
expenses

Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from continuing operations

Loss from continuing Loss from continuing

operations operations

Interest income Interest income

Interest income
Interest income

Interest expense Interest expense

Income tax expense

Gain on extinguishment of convertible notes
Interest expense

Interest expense
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2023 2022 2023 2022
(in thousands)
(in thousands)

(in thousands)
268,956 $ 305,774 $ 758,595 $ 877,639
170,616 215,109 501,927 624,089
98,340 90,665 256,668 253,550
44,392 43,335 139,196 135,678
24,095 33,242 97,531 131,352
55,380 57,976 186,584 182,640
— 284 7,159 18,399
123,867 134,837 430,470 468,069
(25,527) (44,172) (173,802) (214,519)
2,060 1,174 8,170 1,948
(1,603) (2,219) (5,291) (6,648)
(239) (132) (882) (425)
6,495 — 68,848 —
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Income tax benefit (expense)

Income tax benefit (expense)

Income tax benefit (expense)

Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes
Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes
Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes
Other expense, net

Other expense, net

Other expense, net Other expense, net (158) (902) (537) (3,077)
Net loss from continuing  Net loss from continuing  $ (18,972) $ (46,251) $ (103,494) $ (222,721)
operations operations
Net loss from continuing operations
Net loss from continuing operations
(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
2024
2024
2024
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands)
2023 2022 2023 2022
(in thousands)
(in thousands)
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue Cost of revenue $ 3,037 $ 4,165 $ 10,173 $ 10,771
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue
Technology and development
Technology and development
Technology and Technology and 8,391 6,353 24,759 20,230
development development
Marketing Marketing 1,337 1,002 3,836 2,939
Marketing
Marketing
General and administrative
General and administrative
General and General and 6,035 4,904 16,380 13,022
administrative administrative
Total stock-based Total stock-based $ 18,800 $ 16,424 $ 55,148 $ 46,962
compensation from compensation from
continuing operations continuing operations
Total stock-based compensation from continuing
operations
Total stock-based compensation from continuing
operations
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
2024
2024
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Revenue

Revenue

Revenue

Cost of revenue()
Cost of revenue)
Cost of revenueq)
Gross profit

Gross profit

Gross profit
Operating expenses
Operating expenses
Operating expenses

Technology and

development()

Revenue

Cost of revenueq)

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Technology and

development)

Technology and development()

Technology and development)

Marketing(y)
Marketing()
Marketing(y)

General and

administrative)

Marketing)

General and

administrative()

General and administrativeq)

General and administrative()

Restructuring
Restructuring
Restructuring
Total operating expenses
Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses

Restructuring

Total operating expenses

Loss from continuing operations

Loss from continuing operations

Loss from continuing
operations

Interest income
Interest income
Interest income

Interest expense

Income tax expense

Loss from continuing
operations

Interest income

Interest expense

Gain on extinguishment of convertible notes

Interest expense

Interest expense
Income tax benefit (expense)
Income tax benefit (expense)

Income tax benefit (expense)

Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes

Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes

2024

Three Months Ended September 30,

(as a percentage of revenue)

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
(as a percentage of revenue)
(as a percentage of revenue)
(as a percentage of revenue)
100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
63.4 70.3 66.2 711
36.6 29.7 33.8 28.9
16.5 14.2 18.3 155
9.0 10.9 12.9 15.0
20.6 19.0 24.6 20.8
0.0 0.1 0.9 21
46.1 44.2 56.7 53.4
(9.5) (14.5) (22.9) (24.5)
0.8 0.4 11 0.2
(0.6) 0.7) 0.7) (0.8)
(0.1) 0.0 (0.1) 0.0
24 0.0 9.1 0.0
571459
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Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes
Other expense, net

Other expense, net

Other expense, net Other expense, net (0.1) (0.3) (0.1) (0.4)
Net loss from continuing Net loss from continuing (7.1) % (15.1) % (13.6) % (25.5) %
operations operations
Net loss from continuing operations
Net loss from continuing operations
(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
2024
2024
2024
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(as a percentage of revenue)
2023 2022 2023 2022
(as a percentage of revenue)
(as a percentage of revenue)
(as a percentage of revenue)
Cost of revenue Cost of revenue ALl % 14 % 13 % 1.2 %
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue
Technology and development
Technology and development
Technology and Technology and 3.1 21 3.3 2.3
development development
Marketing Marketing 0.5 0.3 0.5 0.3
Marketing
Marketing
General and administrative
General and administrative
General and administrative General and administrative 23 16 22 16
Total Total 7.0 % 5.4 % 73 % 54 %
Total
Total
Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 20222023
Revenue
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
Three Months Ended March 31,
2024
2024
2024
Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(in tt except per
2023 2022 Dollars Percentage
(in th ds, except per )
(in tt ds, except per )
(in th ds, except p )
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Real estate services

Real estate services

Real estate services

Brokerage
Brokerage
Brokerage
Partner
Partner
Partner

Total real estate

services

Total real estate services

Total real estate services
Rentals
Rentals
Rentals
Mortgage
Mortgage
Mortgage
Other
Other
Other

Total revenue

Total revenue

Total revenue
Percentage of revenue
Percentage of revenue

Percentage of

revenue
Real estate services
Real estate services
Real estate services
Brokerage
Brokerage
Brokerage

Partner

Partner

Partner
Total real estate services
Total real estate services

Total real estate

services

Rentals
Rentals
Rentals
Mortgage
Mortgage
Mortgage
Other
Other
Other

Total revenue
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Total revenue

Total revenue

In the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, revenue decreased increased by $36.8 million $11.4 million, or 12% 5%, as compared with the same period
in 2022. 2023. This decrease increase in revenue was primarily attributable to a $33.8 million decrease $6.6 million increase in rentals revenue, and a $3.9 million increase in real
estate services revenue. Brokerage revenue decreased increased by $36.5 million $5.8 million, and partner revenue increased decreased by $2.7 million $1.9 million. Brokerage
revenue decreased 18% increased 5% during the period, driven by a 28% 3% decrease in brokerage transactions and a 14% 8% increase in brokerage revenue per transaction with
the elimination of our homebuyer commission refund, and a 4% increase in average home prices for brokerage transactions. See Adverse Macroeconomic Conditions and Our
Associated Actions within Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for additional drivers of these changes. transaction.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Three Months Ended March

Three Months Ended March 31,

31,
2024 2024
Three Months Ended
September 30, Change
2023 2022 Dollars  Percentage
(in 1ds, except p )
(in th 1ds, except p )
(in thc 1ds, except p )
(in th 1ds, except p )
Cost of Cost of
revenue revenue
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenue
Real estate services
Real estate services
Real estate Real estate
) ) $123,684 $156,632  $(32,948) (1) %$ 110914 $ $ 111,494 $
services services
Rentals Rentals 10,824 8,676 2,148 25
Mortgage Mortgage 29,629 43,783 (14,154) (32)
Other Other 6,479 6,018 461 8
Total Total
cost of costof $170,616 $215109  $(44,493) (21)
revenue revenue
Gross profit  Gross profit
Gross profit
Gross profit
Real estate services
Real estate services
Real estate Real estate
i ) $ 54,066 $ 54,908 $ (842) 2 %$ 20,266 $ $ 15,802 $
services services
Rentals Rentals 36,586 30,010 6,576 22
Mortgage Mortgage 3,294 4,686 (1,392) (30)
Other Other 4,394 1,061 3,333 314
Total Total
gross gross $ 98,340 $ 90,665 $ 7,675 8
profit profit

Gross margin  Gross margin
(percentage of (percentage of

revenue) revenue)

Gross margin (percentage of

revenue)
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Gross margin (percentage of

revenue)
Real estate services
Real estate services

Real estate Real estate

) ) 30.4 % 26.0 %
services services
Rentals Rentals w2 77.6
Rentals
Rentals
Mortgage
Mortgage
Mortgage Mortgage 10.0 9.7
Other Other 40.4 15.0
Other
Other
Total Total
gross gross 36.6 29.7
margin margin

Total gross margin

Total gross margin

In the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, total cost of revenue decreased by $44.5 million $1.3 million, or 21% 1%, as compared with the same period
in 2022. 2023. This decrease in cost of revenue was primarily attributable to a $39.0 million $3.1 million decrease in personnel costs home-touring and transaction bonuses, due to
decreased headcount and decreased brokerage transactions, respectively. field costs.

In the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, total gross margin increased 690 420 basis points as compared with the same period in 2022, 2023, driven
primarily by increases in real estate services, mortgage, and other gross margins, and the relative growth of our rentals business compared to our other businesses. This was
partially offset by decreases in rentals gross margin.

In the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, real estate services gross margin increased 440 300 basis points as compared with the same period in
2022.2023. This was primarily attributable to a 510 280 basis point decrease in home-touring and field expenses, a 220 basis point decrease in costs from our annual, in-person
company event, which we did not conduct in 2024, and an 80 basis point decrease in personnel costs and transaction bonuses, and a 160 basis point decrease in home-touring and
field expenses, each as a percentage of revenue. This was partially offset by a 190220 basis point increase in home improvement costs incurred on behalf of home sellers as a
percentage of revenue.

In the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, rentals gross margin decreased 40 30 basis points as compared with the same period in 2022.2023. This
was primarily attributable to a 430 140 basis point increase in marketing expense as a percentage of revenue and due to expanded services. This was partially offset by a 18040
basis point decrease in personnel costs.

In the three months ended September 30, 2023, mortgage gross margin increased 30 basis points as compared with the same period in 2022. This was primarily
attributable to a 210 basis point decrease in personnel costs and transaction bonuses as a percentage of revenue. This was partially offset by a 180 basis point increase in
production costs as a percentage of revenue.

In the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, other mortgage gross margin increased 2,540 350 basis points as compared with the same period in

2022.2023. This was primarily attributable to a 1,800 160 basis point decrease in personnel costs and transaction bonuses, and a 440 120 basis point decrease in production
costs, office and occupancy expenses, each as a percentage of revenue.

Operating Expenses

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
2023 2022 Dollars Percentage
(in tt except p ges)
Technology and development 44,392 43,335 $ 1,057 2%
Marketing 24,095 33,242 (9,147) (28)
General and administrative 55,380 57,976 (2,596) ()]
Restructuring — 284 (284) (100)
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Total operating expenses $ 123,867 $ 134,837 $ (10,970) ()]

Percentage of revenue

Technology and development 16.5 % 142 %
Marketing 9.0 10.9
General and administrative 20.6 18.9
Restructuring and reorganization 0.0 0.1
Total operating expenses 46.1 % 44.1 %

In the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, technology and development expenses increased by $1.1 million, or 2%, as compared with the same
period in 2022. The increase was primarily attributable to a $0.7 million increase in personnel costs. The number of technology and development employees decreased by 18%, as
compared with the same period in 2022.

In the three months ended September 30, 2023, marketing expenses decreased by $9.1 million, or 28%, as compared with the same period in 2022. The decrease was
primarily attributable to a $9.3 million decrease in marketing media costs as we reduced advertising.

In the three months ended September 30, 2023, general and administrative expenses decreased by $2.6 million, or 4%, as compared with the same period in 2022. The
decrease was primarily attributable to a $2.5 million decrease in personnel costs.

In the three months ended September 30, 2023, restructuring and reorganization expenses decreased by $0.3 million, or 100%, as compared with the same period in 2022.

Interest Income, Interest Expense, Income Tax Expense, Gain on Extinguishment of Convertible Senior Notes, and Other Expense, Net

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
2023 2022 Dollars Percentage
(in th ds, except p )
Interest income $ 2,060 $ 1,174 $ 886 75 %
Interest expense (1,603) (2,219) 616 28
Income tax expense (239) (132) (107) (81)
Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes 6,495 — 6,495 N/A
Other expense, net (158) (902) 744 82
Interest income, interest expense, income tax expense, gain on
$ 6,555 $ (2,079) $ 8,634 415
extinguishment of convertible notes, and other expense, net
Percentage of revenue
Interest income 0.8 % 0.4 %
Interest expense (0.6) (0.7)
Income tax expense (0.1) 0.0
Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes 2.4 0.0
Other expense, net (0.1) (0.3)
Interest income, interest expense, income tax expense, gain on
24% (0.6)%

extinguishment of convertible notes, and other expense, net

In the three months ended September 30, 2023, interest income, interest expense, income tax expense, gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes, and other
expense, net increased by $8.6 million as compared to the same period in 2022.

Interest expense decreased by $0.6 million due primarily to the closing of our secured revolving credit facility.

Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes increased by $6.5 million, due to our paying down a portion of our 2025 notes at a discount, and there was no such
activity in 2022. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements for further information on these transactions.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
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Rentals 77.1 79.3

Mortgage 13.7 8.5
Other 38.2 4.3
Total gross margin 3338 28.9

In the nine months ended September 30, 2023, total cost of revenue decreased by $122.2 million, or 20%, as compared with the same period in 2022. This decrease was
partially offset by $92.9 million in costs resulting from our acquisition of Bay Equity, and there were $87.3 million of such costs in the nine months ended September 30, 2022.
Excluding these expenses from Bay Equity, this decrease in cost of revenue was primarily attributable to a $111.4 million decrease in personnel costs and transaction bonuses, due
to decreased headcount and decreased brokerage transactions, respectively.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2023, total gross margin increased 490 1,540 basis points as compared with the same period in 2022, driven primarily by
increases in real estate services, mortgage, and other gross margin.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2023, real estate services gross margin increased 220 basis points as compared with the same period in 2022. 2023. This was
primarily attributable to a 390 an 850 basis point decrease in personnel costs and transaction bonuses, and a 40 basis point decrease in home-touring and field expenses, each as a
percentage of revenue. This was partially offset by a 100 basis point increase in home repair costs, a 60 basis point increase in costs from our annual, in-person company event,
which we did not conduct in the same period in 2022, and a 40 basis point increase in listing expenses, each as a percentage of revenue.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2023, rentals gross margin decreased 220 basis points as compared with the same period in 2022. This was primarily attributable
to a 490 basis point increase in marketing expense as a percentage of revenue and due to expanded services.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2023, mortgage gross margin increased 520 basis points as compared with the same period in 2022. This was primarily
attributable to a 890 basis point decrease in personnel costs and transaction bonuses as a percentage of revenue. This was partially offset by a 460 basis point increase in
production costs as a percentage of revenue.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2023, other gross margin increased 3,390 basis points. This was primarily attributable to a 2,130 basis point decrease in personnel
costs and transaction bonuses, and a 660 210 basis point decrease in production costs, each as a percentage of revenue.

Operating Expenses
Three Months Ended March

31, Three Months Ended March 31, Change

2024 2024 2023 Dollars Percentage

Nine Months Ended

September 30, Change
(in tk is, except per )
(in th except per )
(in tk is, except per )
2023 2022 Dollars Percentage
(in th except per ges)
Technology and development
Technology and development
Technology  Technology
and and $139,196 $135678 $ 3518 3 %$ 46,429 $ $ 47,663 $ $ (1,234) ®) (3) %
development development
Marketing ~ Marketing 97,531 131,352  (33,821) (26)
General and General and
186,584 182,640 3,944 2
administrative administrative
Restructuring Restructuring 7,159 18,399 (11,240) (61)
Total Total
operating operating $430,470  $468,069  $(37,599) 8)
expenses expenses
Percentage of Percentage of
revenue revenue
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Technology ~ Technology

and and 183 % 155 %
development development

Technology and development

Technology and development

Marketing

Marketing

Marketing Marketing 12.9 15.0

General and General and

administrative administrative
General and administrative
General and administrative

Restructuring and

reorganization

Restructuring and

reorganization

Restructuring Restructuring
and and 0.9 24

reorganization reorganization

Total Total
operating operating 56.7 % 53.4 %

expenses expenses
Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses

In the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, technology and development expenses increased decreased by $3.5 million $1.2 million, or 3%, as
compared with the same period in 2022. Bay Equity contributed $1.3 million in costs in both the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, and therefore did not impact the
overall change. Excluding these expenses from Bay Equity, the increase 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to a $1.9 million $2.2 million decrease in personnel costs.
This was partially offset by a $1.8 million increase in personnel cloud-based infrastructure costs.

In the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, marketing expenses decreased by $33.8 million $15.5 million, or 26% 38%, as compared with the
same period in 2022. Included in the decrease was $3.1 million in costs resulting from our acquisition of Bay Equity, and there were $3.4 million of such expenses in the nine months
ended September 30, 2022. Excluding these expenses from Bay Equity, the 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to a $34.5 million $12.7 million decrease in marketing
media costs as we reduced advertising.

In the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, general and administrative expenses increased decreased by $3.9 million $1.6 million, or 2%, as
compared with the same period in 2022. Included in the increase was $20.1 million resulting from our acquisition of Bay Equity, and there were $15.2 million of such expenses in the
nine months ended September 30, 2022. Excluding these expenses from Bay Equity, general and administrative expenses decreased by $1.0 million. 2023. The decrease was
primarily attributable to $4.1 milliona $5.9 million decrease in personnel costs a $2.4 million decrease in acquisition-related expenses, and a $2.3 million decrease in legal
expenses. This was partially offset by $5.9 million in costs associated with from our annual, in-person company event, which we did not conduct in the same period 2024, a $3.3
million decrease in 2022, personnel costs, and a $1.7 million increase $1.5 million decrease in office and occupancy expenses as we were terminating expenses. This was partially
offset by a lease. $9.0 million increase in legal settlements. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for information on these matters.

In the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, restructuring and reorganization expenses decreased by $11.2 million $0.2 million, or 61% 16%, as
compared with the same period in 2022. This decrease is primarily attributable to a lower volume of restructuring activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2023 as
compared with the same period in 2022. 2023.

Interest Income, Interest Expense, Income Tax Expense, Benefit (Expense), Gain on Extinguishment of Convertible Senior Notes, and Other Expense, Net
Three Months Ended

March 31, Three Months Ended March 31, Change

2024 2024 2023 Dollars Percentage

Nine Months Ended

September 30, Change
2023 2022 Dollars Percentage
(in tr is, except p! )
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(in

1ds, except per

319

20

(108)

83

957

(in tr 1ds, except per
(in thousands, except percentages)
Interest
Interest income $ 8170 $1,948 $ 6,222
income
Interest income
Interest income
Interest
Interest expense (5,291) (6,648) 1,357
expense
Income tax expense (882) (425) (457)
Income tax benefit
(expense)
Gain on Gain on
extinguishment of extinguishment
68,848 — 68,848
convertible senior of convertible
notes senior notes
Other expense,  Other
(537)  (3,077) 2,540
net expense, net
Interest income, interest
expense, income tax expense,
gain on extinguishment of $70,308  $(8,202) $78,510
convertible notes, and other
expense, net
Interest
income,
interest
expense,
income tax
benefit
(expense),
gain on
extinguishment
of convertible
notes, and
other expense,
net
Percentage of Percentage of
revenue revenue
Interest
11% 0.2%
Interestincome  income
Interest income
Interest income
Interest
0.7) (0.8)
Interest expense expense
Income tax expense (0.1) 0.0

Interest expense

Interest expense

Income tax benefit (expense)
Income tax benefit (expense)
Income tax benefit (expense)
Gain on extinguishment of
convertible senior notes
Gain on extinguishment of

convertible senior notes
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Gain on Gain on
extinguishment of extinguishment o
convertible senior of convertible :

notes senior notes

Other expense, Other
0.1) 0.9
net expense, net

Interest income, interest

expense, income tax expense,

gain on extinguishment of 93%  (1.0)%
convertible notes, and other

expense, net
Other expense, net
Other expense, net

Interest income, interest
expense, income tax benefit
(expense), gain on
extinguishment of convertible

notes, and other expense, net

Interest income, interest
expense, income tax benefit
(expense), gain on
extinguishment of convertible

notes, and other expense, net

Interest income, interest
expense, income tax benefit
(expense), gain on
extinguishment of convertible

notes, and other expense, net

In the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, interest income, interest expense, income tax expense, benefit (expense), gain on extinguishment of
convertible senior notes, and other expense, net increased decreased by $78.5 million $40.6 million as compared to the same period in 2022. 2023.

Interest expense decreased increased by $1.4 million $3.0 million due primarily to interest on our term loan, which we did not have in the closing of same period in 2023. See
Note 14 to our secured revolving credit facility. consolidated financial statements for further information.

Gain on extinguishment of convertible senior notes increased decreased by $68.8 million $36.6 million, due to our paying down a smaller portion of our 2025 notes at a
discount and there was no such activity for as compared to the same period in 2022.2023. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements for further information on these
transactions.

Other expense, net decreased by $2.5 million primarily due to the sale of one of our equity investments at a loss in the nine months ended September 30, 2022, and we had
no such transaction in the nine months ended September 30, 2023.

Segment Financial Information

The following tables present, for each of our reportable and other segments, financial information on a GAAP basis and adjusted EBITDA, which is a non-GAAP financial
measure, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022. 2023.

See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for more information regarding our GAAP segment reporting.

To supplement our consolidated financial statements that are prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP, we also compute and present adjusted EBITDA, which is a
non-GAAP financial measure. We believe adjusted EBITDA is useful for investors because it enhances period-to-period comparability of our financial statements on a consistent
basis and provides investors with useful insight into the underlying trends of the business. The presentation of this financial measure is not intended to be considered in isolation or
as a substitute of, or superior to, our financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP. Our calculation of adjusted EBITDA may be different from adjusted
EBITDA or similar non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies, limiting its usefulness for comparison purposes. Our adjusted EBITDA for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 and 2022 2023 is presented below, along with a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net (loss) income from continuing operations.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2023

Real estate services Rentals Mortgage Other Corporate overhead Total
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(in thousands)

Revenue $ 177,750 $ 47,410 $ 32923 $ 10,873 = 268,956
Cost of revenue 123,684 10,824 29,629 6,479 — 170,616
Gross profit 54,066 36,586 3,294 4,394 — 98,340
Operating expenses
Technology and development 25,711 15,813 800 1,133 935 44,392
Marketing 10,785 12,245 1,088 20 (43) 24,095
General and administrative 18,418 21,838 6,670 952 7,502 55,380
Total operating expenses 54,914 49,896 8,558 2,105 8,394 123,867
(Loss) income from continuing operations (848) (13,310) (5,264) 2,289 (8,394) (25,527)
Interest income, interest expense, income tax
expense, gain on extinguishment of convertible
senior notes, and other expense, net 41 42 (73) 207 6,338 6,555
Net (loss) income from continuing operations $ (807) $ (13,268) $ (5,337) $ 2,496 (2,056) (18,972)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2024
Real estate services Rentals Mortgage Other Corporate overhead Total
(in thousands)
Revenue $ 131,180 $ 49,518 $ 33819 $ 10,962 — 225,479
Cost of revenue 110,914 11,457 25,904 6,392 — 154,667
Gross profit 20,266 38,061 7,915 4,570 — 70,812
Operating expenses
Technology and development 28,507 15,512 656 832 922 46,429
Marketing 11,177 12,788 906 7 — 24,878
General and administrative 19,775 22,478 6,683 1,154 17,783 67,873
Restructuring and reorganization — — — — 889 889
Total operating expenses 59,459 50,778 8,245 1,993 19,594 140,069
(Loss) income from continuing operations (39,193) (12,717) (330) 2,577 (19,594) (69,257)
Interest income, interest expense, income tax
expense, gain on extinguishment of convertible
senior notes, and other expense, net (46) 7 3 244 2,275 2,483
Net (loss) income from continuing operations $ (39,239) $ (12,710) $ 327) $ 2,821 (17,319) (66,774)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2024 Three Months Ended March 31, 2024
Real estate
services Real estate services Rentals Mortgage Other Corporate overhead Total
Three Months Ended September 30, 2023
(in thousands)
(in thousands)
(in thousands)
Real
estate Corporate
services Rentals Mortgage Other overhead Total
(in thousands)
Net (loss) income from
continuing operations
Net (loss) income from
continuing operations
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Interest

incomeq)

Income tax

expense

Stock-based

compensation()

Restructuring and

reorganizationw

Restructuring and

reorganization)

Restructuring and

reorganization()

Gain on extinguishment of

convertible senior notes

Gain on extinguishment of

convertible senior notes

Legal

contingencies(s)
Adjusted

EBITDA

(1) Interest income includes $2.9 $2.0 million of interest income related to originated mortgage loans for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024.
(2) Interest expense includes $3.1 $2.1 million of interest expense related to our warehouse credit facilities for the three months ended September 30, 2023.
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Net loss from continuing operations $ (9817) $ (20,378) $ (5,154) $ 482) $ (10,420) $ (46,251)

(1) Included in revenue is $4.9 million from providing services to our discontinued properties segment.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2022

Real estate services Rentals Mortgage Other Corporate overhead Total

(in thousands)

Net loss from continuing operations $ (9.817) $ (20,378) $ (5,154) $ (482) $ (10,420) $ (46,251)
Interest incomeq) — — (4,049) (42) (1,115) (5,206)
Interest expense() — — 3,364 — 2,215 5,579
Income tax expense — (355) 141 — 346 132
Depreciation and amortization 4,388 9,683 1,053 241 291 15,656
Stock-based compensation(s) 9,834 3,632 1,209 341 1,408 16,424
Acquisition-related costs) — — — — 13 13
Restructuring and reorganization(s) — — — — 284 284
Impairment(s) — — — — 913 913

Adjusted EBITDA $ 4,405 $ (7.418) $ (3,436) $ 58 $ (6,065) $ (12,456)

(1) Interest income includes $4.0 million of interest income related to originated mortgage loans for the three months ended September 30, 2022.

(2) Interest expense includes $3.4 million of interest expense related to our warehouse credit facilities for the three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2024.

(3) Stock-based compensation consists of expenses related to stock options, restricted stock units, and our employee stock purchase program. See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements for more information.

(4) Acquisition-related costs consist of fees for external advisory, legal, and other professional services incurred in ion with our isition of other i

(5) Restructuring and reorganization expenses primarily consist of personnel-related costs with employee furloughs, or retention for our rentals segment due to the restructuring and reorganization activities activities.
(5) Legal contingencies includes expenses related to material contingent liabilities resulting from our acquisition of Rent. litigation or other legal proceedings.

(6) Impairment consists of an impairment loss due to subleasing one of our operating leases.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023 Three Months Ended March 31, 2023
Real estate
services Real estate services Rentals Mortgage Other Corporate overhead Total
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023
(in thousands)
(in thousands)
(in thousands)
Real
estate Corporate
services Rentals Mortgage Other overhead Total
(in thousands)
Revenueq)
Revenueq)
Revenueq) Revenueq) $485,687 $135,636 $107,838 $29,434 $ — $ 758,595
Cost of Cost of
revenue revenue 359,625 31,016 93,108 18,178 = 501,927
Gross profit  Gross profit 126,062 104,620 14,730 11,256 — 256,668

Operating Operating

expenses expenses

Technology Technology
and and
development development 82,650 48,081 2,177 3,475 2,813 139,196

Technology and development
Technology and development
Marketing Marketing 51,849 42,509 3,122 46 5 97,531

Generaland ~ General and
administrative administrative 58,997 73,445 20,323 3,049 30,770 186,584
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Restructuring
and

reorganization

Loss from
continuing

operations

Net (loss)
income from
continuing

operations
(1) Included in revenue is $1.2 million $1.1 million from providing services to our discontinued properties segment.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023

Real estate

services

(in thousands)
(in thousands)

(in thousands)

Net (loss) income from
continuing operations

Net (loss) income from
continuing operations

Interest

income)

Income tax

expense

Stock-based

compensation)
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Restructuring and
reorganization()
Restructuring and
reorganization()
Restructuring and
reorganization
Impairment(s)
Gain on
extinguishment
of convertible

senior notes

Legal

contingencies()

(1) Interest income includes $9.0 $2.5 million of interest income related to originated mortgage loans for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023.
(2) Interest expense includes $9.7 $2.6 million of interest expense related to our warehouse credit facilities for the hine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023.

(3) Stock-based ion consists of related to stock options, restricted stock units, and our employee stock purchase program. See Note 11 to our i financial for more il

(4)

5) and izati primarily consist of lated costs i with empl inati or retention due to the restructuring and reorganization activities from our acquisitions of Bay Equity and Rent., and
activities.

(6) (5) Impairment consists of an impairment loss due to subleasing one of our operating leases.
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Acquisition-related costs) — — — — 2,437 2,437

Restructuring and reorganization(s) — — — — 18,399 18,399
Impairmentgs) — — — — 913 913
Adjusted EBITDA $ (42,903) $ (21,404) $ (14612) $ (2782) $ (23,216) $ (104,917)

(1) Interest income (6) Legal contingencies includes $7.3 million of interest income related to originated mortgage loans for the nine months ended September 30, 2023.

(2) Interest expense includes $5.6 million of interest expense related to our warehouse credit facilities for the nine months ended September 30, 2023.

(3) Stock-based compensation consists of expenses related to stock options, restricted stock units, and our employee stock purchase program. See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements for more information. material contingent liabilities resulting
from litigation or other legal proceedings.

(4) Acquisition-related costs consist of fees for external advisory, legal, and other professional services incurred in connection with our acquisition of other

companies.

(5) Restructuring and reorganization expenses primarily consist of pers lated costs i with employee inati furloughs, or retention due to the restructuring and reorganization activities from our acquisitions of Bay Equity and Rent., and
from our June 2022, October 2022, and March 2023 workforce reductions.

(6) Impairment consists of an impairment loss due to subleasing one of our operating leases.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $125.8 million and investments $107.1 million. In addition, as of $47.3 million March 31,
2024, which consist primarily of operating cash on deposit with financial institutions, money market instruments, U.S. treasury securities, and agency bonds. In October 2023, we
entered into a definitive agreement with Apollo Capital Management, L.P. and its affiliates had $125.0 million in available borrowings related to commit up to $250 million of financing
in the form of a first lien term loan facility. We received the first half of the loan in October 2023 and the remainder will be available as a delayed draw during the following 12
months. See Note 15 to on our consolidated financial statements for more information on the term loan facility. loan.

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we had $809.5 million $648.0 million of convertible senior notes outstanding across two issuances, maturing between October
15, 2025 and April 1, 2027. During the three months ended September 30, 2023, we repurchased and retired $36.2 million of our 2025 convertible senior notes pursuant to the
repurchase program authorized by our board of directors on October 17, 2022, using $29.4 million in cash. As of September 30, 2023, we have repurchased a total of $426.7 million
of our 2025 convertible senior notes, using $296.0 million in cash. As of September 30, 2023, we have $4.0 million remaining under the repurchase program for future repurchases.
See Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements for increased amount added to our repurchase program on October 19, 2023. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial
statements for our obligations to pay semi-annual interest and to repay any outstanding amounts at the notes' notes’ maturity. In addition, During the three months ended March 31,
2024, we repurchased and retired $48.5 million of our 2023 2025 convertible senior notes were fully repaid pursuant to the repurchase program authorized by our board of directors
on October 17, 2022, using $42.5 million in cash cash. As of March 31, 2024, we have repurchased a total of $511.3 million of our 2025 convertible senior notes, using $367.9
million in cash. As of March 31, 2024, we have $82.1 million remaining under the repurchase program for future repurchases.

In addition, as of March 31, 2024 we had $124.4 million principal amount of our term loan, maturing on July 15, 2023 October 20, 2028.

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we had 40,000 shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements for our
obligations to pay quarterly interest and to redeem any outstanding shares on November 30, 2024.

Our mortgage business has significant cash requirements due to the period of time between its origination of a mortgage loan and the sale of that loan. We have relied on
warehouse credit facilities with different lenders to fund substantially the entire portion of the mortgage loans that our mortgage business originates. Once our mortgage business
sells a loan in the secondary mortgage market, we use the proceeds to reduce the outstanding balance under the related facility. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial
statements for more information regarding our warehouse credit facilities.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and investments, together with cash we expect to generate from future operations, and borrowings from our
mortgage warehouse credit facilities and term loan, will provide sufficient liquidity to meet our operational needs and our growth, and fulfill our payment obligations with respect to
our convertible senior notes and convertible preferred stock. However, our liquidity assumptions may change or prove to be incorrect, and we could exhaust our available financial
resources sooner than we currently expect. As a result, we may seek new sources of credit financing or elect to raise additional funds through equity, equity-linked, or debt financing
arrangements. We cannot assure you that any additional financing will be available to us on acceptable terms or at all.

Our title and settlement business holds cash in escrow that we do not record on our consolidated balance sheets. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for
more information regarding these amounts.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022

(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 91,428 $ (148,489)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 97,963 (181,109)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (304,347) 15,098
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Three Months Ended March 31,

2024 2023

(in thousands)

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (45,980) $ 26,704
Net cash provided by investing activities 42,062 22
Net cash used in financing activities (38,676) (116,558)

Net Cash (Used In) Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities

Our operating cash flows result primarily from cash generated by commissions paid to us from our real estate services business, sales of homes from our properties
business, and subscription-based product offerings from our rentals business. Our primary uses of cash from operating activities include payments for personnel-related costs,
including employee benefits and bonus programs, marketing and advertising activities, purchases of homes for our properties business, office and occupancy costs, and outside
services costs. Additionally, our mortgage business generates a significant amount operating cash flow activity from the origination and sale of loans held for sale.

Net cash used in operating activities was $46.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024, primarily attributable to our net loss of $66.8 million. This decrease was
partially offset by a net increase of $25.8 million from non-cash items related to stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, amortization of debt discounts and
issuances costs, lease expense related to right-of-use assets, changes in the fair value of mortgage servicing rights, gain on extinguishment of our convertible senior notes, and
other non-cash items. The primary use of cash related to changes in our assets and liabilities was $6.7 million in net originations of loans held for sale.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $91.4 million $26.7 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023, primarily attributable to
changes in assets and liabilities, which increased cash provided by operating activities by $150.4 million $96.0 million. This increase was partially offset by our net loss of $107.1
million. In addition there was a net increase decrease of $48.2 million $8.5 million from non-cash items related to stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization,
amortization of debt discounts and issuances costs, lease expense related to right-of-use assets, changes in the fair value of mortgage servicing rights, gain on extinguishment of
our convertible senior notes, and other non-cash items. The primary source of cash related to changes in our assets and liabilities was a $114.2 million $103.6 million decrease in
inventory related to our properties business.

Net cash used in operating activities This increase was $148.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, primarily attributable to (i) partially offset by our net
loss of $259.2 million, (i) $121.7 million of non-cash items related to stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, amortization of debt discounts and issuances costs,
lease expense related to right-of-use assets, change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights, and other non-cash items. The primary uses of cash related to changes in our assets
and liabilities were a $57.0 million increase in inventory related to our properties business and a $26.1 million decrease in accounts payable and accrued and other liabilities related
to the timing of vendor payments and payroll related expenses. $60.8 million.

Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Investing Activities

Our primary investing activities include the purchase, sale, and maturity of investments and purchases of property and equipment, primarily related to capitalized software
development expenses and computer equipment and software.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $98.0 million $42.1 million for the hine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, primarily attributable to $107.2
million $45.6 million in net sales and maturities of our investments in U.S. government securities, partially offset by $9.2 million $3.6 million in purchases of property and equipment.

Net cash used in provided by investing activities was $181.1 million $0.0 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, primarily attributable
to the net cash paid for our acquisition of Bay Equity of $97.3 million, $66.3 million $2.9 million in net investments in U.S. government securities, offset nearly in full by $2.9 million in
purchases of property and $13.1 million of capitalized software development expenses. equipment.

Net Cash (Used In) Provided by Used In Financing Activities

Our primary financing activities have come from (i) our initial public offering in August 2017, (ii) sales of our common stock and 2023 notes in July 2018, our common stock
and convertible preferred stock in April 2020, our 2025 notes in October 2020, and our 2027 notes in March 2021, (iii) our term loan entered into in October 2023, and (iii) (iv) the
sale of our common stock pursuant to stock option exercises and our ESPP. Additionally, we generate a significant amount of financing cash flow activity due to borrowings from and
repayments to our warehouse credit facilities and our secured revolving credit facility.

Net cash used in financing activities was $304.3 million $38.7 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, attributable to
$212.4 $42.5 million used in connection with repurchases of our 2025 notes and $23.5 million used in connection with the repayment of our 2023 notes. This was partially offset by a
$58.2 $4.6 million decrease increase in net borrowings under our warehouse credit facilities.

Net cash provided by used in financing activities was $15.1 million $116.6 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2022 March 31, 2023, attributable to a $2.6
million increase $108.3 million used in net borrowings under connection with repurchases of our secured revolving credit facility 2025 notes and a $10.9 million increase $5.2 million
decrease in net borrowings under our warehouse credit facilities.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and related disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities, revenue, and expenses at the date of the financial statements. Generally, we base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions in
accordance with GAAP that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Critical accounting policies and estimates are those that we consider the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations because they
require our most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Based on this
definition, we have identified the critical accounting policies and estimates addressed below. In addition, we have other key accounting policies and estimates that are described in
Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Our key revenue components are brokerage revenue, partner revenue, rentals revenue, mortgage revenue, and other revenue. Of these, we consider the most critical of our
revenue recognition policies to be those related to commissions and fees charged on brokerage transactions closed by our lead agents, and from the sale of homes. We recognize
commission-based brokerage revenue upon closing of a brokerage transaction, less the amount of any commission refunds, closing-cost reductions, or promotional offers that may
result in a material right. We determined that brokerage revenue primarily contains a single performance obligation that is satisfied upon the closing of a transaction, at which point
the entire transaction price is earned. We evaluate our brokerage contracts and promotional pricing to determine if there are any additional material rights and allocate the
transaction price based on standalone selling prices.

Rentals revenue is primarily recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract, which is generally less than one year. Revenue is presented net of sales
allowances, which are not material.

Mortgage revenue is recognized (1) when an interest rate lock commitment is made to a customer, adjusted for a pull-through percentage, (2) for origination fees, when the
purchase or refinance of a loan is complete, and (3) when the fair value of our interest rate lock commitments, forward sale commitments, and loans held for sale are recorded at
current market quotes.

We have utilized the practical expedient in ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and elected not to capitalize contract costs for contracts with customers with
durations less than one year. We do not have significant remaining performance obligations or contract balances.

Acquired Intangible Assets and Goodwiill

We recognize separately identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination. Determining the fair value of the intangible assets acquired requires
management's judgment, often utilizes third-party valuation specialists, and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions with respect to the timing and amounts of
future cash flows, discount rates, replacement costs, and asset lives, among other estimates.

The judgments made in the determination of the estimated fair value assigned to the intangible assets acquired and the estimated useful life of each asset could significantly
impact our consolidated financial statements in periods after the acquisition, such as through depreciation and amortization expense, as well as impairment charges, if applicable.

We evaluate intangible assets for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that they may not be recoverable. We measure recoverability by comparing the
carrying amount of an asset group to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated with such asset group.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible assets and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination.
Goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to impairment testing. We assess the impairment of goodwill on an annual basis, during the fourth quarter, or whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that goodwill may be impaired. Based on our annual goodwill impairment test performed in the fourth quarter of 2022, the estimated fair values of all
reporting units substantially exceeded their carrying values. No goodwill impairment charges were recorded in the third quarter of 2023 or 2022.

We assess goodwill for possible impairment by performing a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount. If we qualitatively determine that it is not more likely than not that the fair value is less than its carrying amount, then no additional impairment steps
are necessary. When utilizing a quantitative assessment, we determine fair value at the reporting unit level based on a combination of an income approach and market approach.
The income approach is based on estimated future cash flows, discounted at a rate that approximates the cost of capital of a similar market participant, while the market approach is
based on guideline public company multiples and adjusted for the specific size and risk profile of each reporting units.

Debt Issuances

On October 20, 2023, we entered into a definitive agreement with Apollo Capital Management, L.P. and its affiliates (“Apollo”) whereby Apollo agreed to commit up to $250
million of financing for us in the form of a first lien term loan facility. We borrowed half of the loan on October 20, 2023 and the remainder will be available as a delayed draw during
the following 12 months. As part of the transaction, we repurchased $5 million principal amount of our 2025 convertible notes held by Apollo and $71.9 million principal amount of
2027 convertible notes held by Apollo for an aggregate repurchase price of $57.1 million using cash on our balance sheet. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements for
a further description of this transaction.
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We considered the nature of this debt issuance, the associated fees, and the associated gains or losses on the repurchases of convertible notes as part of our recording of
this transaction.

Recent Accounting Standards
For information on recent accounting standards, see Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements.
Item 3. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Our primary operations are within the United States and Canada. We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily consist of
fluctuations in interest rates.

Interest Rate Risk

Our investment policy allows us to maintain a portfolio of cash equivalents and investments in a variety of securities, including U.S. treasury and agency issues, bank
certificates of deposit that are 100% insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and SEC-registered money market funds that consist of a minimum of $1 billion in assets
and meet the above requirements. The goals of our investment policy are liquidity and capital preservation. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes.

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $125.8 million and investments of $47.3 million $107.1 million. Our investments are
composed of available-for-sale securities that consist primarily of U.S. treasury securities with maturities of two years or less. We believe that we do not have any material exposure
to changes in the fair value of these assets as a result of changes in interest rates due to the relatively short-term nature and risk profile of our portfolio. Declines in interest rates,
however, would reduce future investment income. Assuming no change in our outstanding cash and cash equivalents, and investments during the fourth quarter of 2023, a
hypothetical 10% change in interest rates, occurring during and sustained throughout that quarter, would not have a material impact on our financial results for that quarter.

We are exposed to interest rate risk on our mortgage loans held for sale and IRLCs associated with our mortgage loan origination services. We manage this interest rate
risk through the use of forward sales commitments on both a best effort whole loans basis and on a mandatory basis. Forward sales commitments entered into on a mandatory
basis are done through the use of commitments to sell mortgage-backed securities. We do not enter into or hold derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. The fair value of our
IRLCs and forward sales commitments are reflected in other current assets and accrued liabilities, as applicable, with changes in the fair value of these commitments recognized as
revenue. The net fair value change for the periods presented were not material. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements for a summary of the fair value of our forward
sales commitments and our IRLCs as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

As our operations in Canada have been limited, and we do not maintain a significant balance of foreign currency, we do not currently face significant foreign currency
exchange rate risk.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive and principal financial officers, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report. Based on such evaluation, our principal executive
and principal financial officers have concluded that as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level described below.

Changes in Internal Control

In connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, there were no changes in our internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A
control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within our company have
been detected. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and
not be detected.
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PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
See "Legal Proceedings" under Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of our material, pending legal proceedings.

In addition, on October 31, 2023, a putative class action complaint (the “Class Action”) was filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of
Missouri against the National Association of Realtors and certain unaffiliated real estate brokerages, including Redfin. The Class Action alleges that defendants
participated in a system that resulted in sellers of residential property paying inflated buyer broker commissions in violation of federal antitrust law. Among other
relief, plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of damages, injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees and costs. For additional information, see Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Except as discussed below, there have not been any material changes from the risk factors included in Item 1A of our annual report for the year ended December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023. You should carefully consider the risks described below and in our annual report for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, together with
all other information in this quarterly report, before investing in any of our securities. The occurrence of any single risk or any combination of risks could materially and adversely
affect our business, operating results, financial condition, liquidity, or competitive position, and consequently, the value of our securities. The material adverse effects include, but are
not limited to, not growing our revenue or market share at the pace that they have grown historically or at all, our revenue and market share fluctuating on a quarterly and annual
basis, an extension of our history of losses and a failure to become profitable, not achieving the revenue and net income (loss) guidance that we provide, and harm to our reputation
and brand.

The real estate market may be severely impacted by industry changes as the result of certain class action lawsuits, settlements, or government investigations.
The real estate industry faces significant pressure from private lawsuits and investigations by the Department of Justice (the “DOJ") into antitrust issues.

In April 2019, the National Association of Realtors REALTORS® (“NAR”) and certain brokerages and franchisors (including Realogy Holdings Corp., HomeServices of
America, Inc. RE/MAX, and Keller Williams Realty, Inc.) were named as defendants in a class action complaint alleging a conspiracy to violate federal antitrust laws by, among other
things, requiring residential property sellers in Missouri to pay inflated commission fees to buyer brokers (the “NAR Class Action”). On October 31, 2023, a jury found NAR and
various of its co-defendants liable and awarded plaintiffs nearly $1.8 billion in damages (an award that is subject to trebling). Class action suits raising similar claims are already
pending in this and other jurisdictions and the outcome of the NAR Class Action may result in additional such actions being filed. On October 31, 2023, the same day as the NAR
Class Action jury verdict, under the caption Gibson et. al. v. National Association of Realtors, et al., Redfin was has been named as one of several defendants in a federal similar
class action suit suits as described under the caption “Class Act Complaint” “Lawsuits Alleging Antitrust Violations” above under Item 1. Legal Proceedings., Note 7: Commitments
and Contingencies.

Defending against class action litigation is costly, may divert time and money away from our operations, and imposes a significant burden on management and employees.
Also, the results of any such litigation or investigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and any negative outcome could result in payments of substantial monetary damages or
fines, and/or undesirable changes to our operations or business practices, and accordingly, our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be materially and
adversely affected.

On March 15, 2024, NAR entered a settlement agreement to resolve on a class wide basis the claims against NAR in the NAR Class Action. In addition to a monetary
payment of $418 million, NAR agreed to change certain business practices, including changes to cooperative compensation and buyer agreements. The NAR settlement
agreement: (1) prohibits NAR and REALTOR® MLSs from requiring that listing brokers or sellers make offers of compensation to buyer brokers or other buyer representatives; (2)
prohibits NAR, REALTOR® MLSs and MLS participants from making an offer of compensation on the MLS; and (3) requires all REALTOR® MLS participants to enter into a written
buyer agreement specifying compensation before taking a buyer on tour. The NAR settlement received preliminary court approval on April 23, 2024.

These revised NAR rules and practices may require changes to our business model, including changes to agent and broker compensation and how we meet home buyers.
Without mandated commission sharing, for example, we may see the introduction of hourly or a la carte services. Or, if buyers now compensate brokers, they may be more likely to
contact listing agents directly, which could drive down dual agent broker commissions. Home lending rules and norms do not currently allow buyers to include buyer’s agent
compensation in the balance of a home loan, which may impair the ability of homebuyers to pay their agent fees when purchasing a home. The amended rules and regulations may
also require us to get a buyer agreement signed before we take a home buyer on a first tour. This requirement may dissuade buyers from hiring Redfin, thereby reducing the fees
we receive from our agents. These and other shifts in the model for agent and broker compensation could significantly change the brokerage landscape overall and may adversely
affect our financial condition and results of operations.

In addition to the NAR Class Action and various similar private actions already pending, beginning in 2018, the DOJ began investigating NAR for violations of the federal
antitrust laws. The DOJ and NAR appeared to reach a resolution in November 2020, resulting in the filing of a Complaint and Proposed Consent Judgment pursuant to which NAR
agreed to adopt certain rule changes, such as increased disclosure of commission offers. The DOJ has since sought to continue its investigation of NAR, and on April 5, 2024 a
federal appeals court decided that the question of whether the earlier settlement forecloses further investigation is currently being litigated. DOJ could reopen its investigation. It is
uncertain what effect, if any, the resumption of the DOJ's investigation could have on the larger real estate industry, including any further settlement that may result therefrom.
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Beyond monetary damages, the various class action suits seek to change real estate industry practices and, along with the DOJ investigation, have prompted
state and local real estate boards or multiple listing services to discuss and consider changes to long-established rules and regulations. To the extent adopted,
such amended rules and regulations may require changes to our business model, including changes to agent and broker compensation. Even if commission
sharing remains the norm, it may no longer be mandated, which may lead to the introduction of hourly or a la carte services. If buyers end up having to
compensate their brokers, they may be more likely to contact listing agents directly, driving down dual agent broker commissions. Home lending rules and norms
do not currently allow for homebuyers to include buyer’s agent compensation in the balance of a home loan, which may impair the ability of homebuyers to pay
buyers’ agent fees when purchasing a home. Such potential changes in the model for agent and broker compensation could reduce the fees we receive from
our agents and, in turn, adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

The risk factors under this heading “Risks Related to Our Indebtedness” replace those risk factors under the heading “Risks Related to Our Indebtedness” in Item 1A of our
annual report for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Our term loan facility provides our lenders with a first-priority lien against substantially all of our and our subsidiaries’ assets, and contains financial covenants
and other restrictions on our actions, which could limit our operational flexibility and otherwise adversely affect our financial condition.

Our term loan facility restricts our ability to, among other things:

e use our accounts receivable, inventory, trademarks and most of our other assets as security in other borrowings or transactions;

« incur additional indebtedness, except for (i) indebtedness secured on a pari passu basis in an amount up to $50,000,000, (ii) indebtedness secured on a junior and
subordinated basis or subordinated in right of payment to our senior lenders, and (ji) unsecured indebtedness;

¢ incur liens upon our property;

« dispose of certain assets;

e purchase or acquire equity interests;

» declare dividends or make certain distributions;
* enter into related party transactions; and

* undergo a merger or consolidation or other transactions.

Our term loan facility also requires that we maintain aggregate consolidated liquidity (defined as unrestricted cash plus cash equivalents) of $75.0 million, tested on a
quarterly basis. Our ability to comply with these and other covenants is dependent upon several factors, some of which are beyond our control.

Our failure to comply with the covenants or payment requirements, or the occurrence of other events specified in our term loan facility, could result in an event of default
under the term loan facility, which would give our lenders the right to terminate their commitments to provide additional loans under the term loan facility and to declare all
borrowings outstanding, together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees, to be immediately due and payable. In addition, we have granted our lenders first-priority liens against
substantially all of our and our subsidiaries’ assets as collateral (other than the assets of our subsidiary Bay Equity LLC). Failure to comply with the covenants or other restrictions in
the term loan facility could result in a default. If the debt under our term loan facility was to be accelerated, we may not have sufficient cash on hand or be able to sell sufficient
collateral to repay it, which would have an immediate adverse effect on our business and operating results.

We may not have sufficient cash flow to make the payments required under our current indebtedness, and a failure to make payments when due may result in
the entire principal amount of our indebtedness becoming due prior to maturity, which may result in our bankruptcy.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of or to pay interest on our indebtedness, including amounts payable under our 2027 notes and any borrowings
under our term loan facility or other future indebtedness, depends on having sufficient cash on hand when the payments are due. Our cash availability, in turn, depends on our future
performance, which is subject to the other risks described in this Item 1A and Item 1A of our annual report for the year ended December 31, 2022. If we are unable to generate
sufficient cash flow to make the payments when due, then we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling assets, refinancing the notes, or raising additional
capital. However, we may not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on our debt obligations.

In addition, holders of our convertible senior notes have the right to require us to repurchase their notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change at a repurchase price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest. Furthermore, holders of our notes have the right to convert their notes
upon any of the conditions described below:

« during any calendar quarter, if the last reported sale price of our common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive
trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price of the notes on
each applicable trading day;

« during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of the notes for each trading day of
the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our common stock and the conversion rate of the notes on each such trading day;

« if we call any or all of the notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the scheduled trading day prior to the redemption date; or
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* upon the occurrence of specified corporate events.

If any of these conversion features under a tranche of our notes are triggered, then holders of such notes will be entitled to convert the notes at any time during specified
periods at their option. Upon conversion, we will be required to make cash payments in respect of the notes being converted, unless we elect to deliver solely shares of our common
stock to settle such conversion (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share).

In addition, our term loan facility prohibits us from making any cash payments on the conversion or repurchase of our notes if an event of default exists under our term loan
facility or if, after giving effect to such conversion or repurchase, we would not be in compliance with the financial covenants under our term loan facility. Our failure to make
payments when due may result in an event of default under the indentures governing our convertible senior notes and cause (i) with respect to our 2025 notes, the remaining $235
million aggregate principal amount, and (ii) with respect to our 2027 notes, the entire $575 million aggregate principal amount, plus, in each case, any accrued and unpaid interest,
to become due immediately and prior to the maturity date, and may further result in a default under our term loan facility. Any acceleration of the amounts outstanding under our
indebtedness could result in our bankruptcy. In a bankruptcy, our term loan lender first, and the holders of our convertible senior notes second, would have a claim to our assets
senior to the claims of holders of our common stock.

A substantial portion of our mortgage business’s assets are measured at fair value. If our estimates of fair value are inaccurate, we may be required to record a
significant write down of our assets.

Bay Equity’s mortgage servicing rights (‘MSRs"), interest rate lock commitments (“IRLCs"), and mortgage loans held for sale are recorded at fair value on our balance sheet.
Fair value determinations require many assumptions and complex analyses, and we cannot control many of the underlying factors. If our estimates are incorrect, we could be
required to write down the value of these assets, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

In particular, our estimates of the fair value of Bay Equity’s MSRs are based on the cash flows projected to result from the servicing of the related mortgage loans and
continually fluctuate due to a number of factors, including estimated discount rate, the cost of servicing, objective portfolio characteristics, contractual service fees, default rates,
prepayment rates and other market conditions that affect the number of loans that ultimately become delinquent or are repaid or refinanced. These estimates are calculated by a
third party using financial models that account for a high number of variables that drive cash flows associated with MSRs and anticipate changes in those variables over the life of
the MSR. The accuracy of our estimates of the fair value of our MSRs are dependent on the reasonableness of the results of such models and the variables and assumptions that
are built into them. If prepayment speeds or loan delinquencies are higher than anticipated, or other factors perform worse than modeled, the recorded value of certain of our MSRs
may decrease, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Bay Equity relies on its warehouse credit facilities to fund the mortgage loans that it originates. If one or more of those facilities were to become unavailable,
Bay Equity may be unable to find replacement financing on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and this could adversely affect its ability to originate additional
mortgage loans.

Bay Equity relies on borrowings from warehouse credit facilities to fund substantially all of the mortgage loans that it originates. To grow its business, Bay Equity depends, in
part, on having sufficient borrowing capacity under its current facilities or obtaining additional borrowing capacity under new facilities. A current facility may become unavailable if
Bay Equity fails to comply with its ongoing obligations under the facility or if it cannot agree with the lender on terms to renew the facility. New facilities may not be available on terms
acceptable to us. If Bay Equity were unable to secure sufficient borrowing capacity through its warehouse credit facilities, then it may need to rely on our cash on hand to originate
mortgage loans. If this cash were unavailable, then Bay Equity may be unable to maintain or increase the amount of mortgage loans that it originates, which will adversely affect its
growth.

Each warehouse credit facility contains various restrictive and financial covenants and provides that Bay Equity’s breach or failure to satisfy certain of such covenants
constitutes an event of default. In part due to decreased demand in the broader mortgage industry, occasionally Bay Equity may be unable to satisfy certain of these financial
covenants. While lenders may waive any breaches of the financial covenants, there is no assurance that every lender will do so. If we were unable to secure a waiver of an event of
default from an applicable lender, and such lender determines to enforce is remedies under the applicable warehouse facility, then Bay Equity may lose a portion of its assets,
including pledged mortgage loans, and would be unable to rely on such facility to fund its mortgage originations, which may adversely affect Bay Equity’s business. This could
trigger similar cross-defaults of Bay Equity’s other warehouse facilities.

The cross-acceleration and cross-default provisions in the agreements governing our current indebtedness may result in an immediate obligation to repay all of
either our 2025 and 2027 convertible senior notes, our warehouse credit facilities, or our term loan facility.

The indentures governing our 2025 and 2027 convertible senior notes contain cross-acceleration and cross-default provisions. These provisions could have the effect of
creating an event of default under the indenture for either our 2025 or 2027 convertible senior notes, despite our compliance with that agreement, due solely to an event of default or
failure to pay amounts owed under the indenture for the other tranche of convertible senior notes. Accordingly, all or a significant portion of our outstanding convertible senior notes
could become immediately payable due solely to our failure to comply with the terms of a single agreement governing either our 2025 or 2027 convertible senior notes. In addition,
each of our warehouse credit facilities and term loan facility contain cross-acceleration and cross-default provisions. These provisions could have the effect of creating an event of
default under the agreement for any such facility, despite our compliance with that agreement, due solely to an event of default or failure to pay amounts owed under the agreement
for another facility. Accordingly, all or a significant portion of our outstanding warehouse indebtedness or outstanding term loan indebtedness could become immediately payable
due solely to our failure to comply with the terms of a single agreement governing one of our facilities. While the cross-default provisions in our existing warehouse credit facilities do
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not pick up defaults under our convertible senior notes and our existing warehouse credit facilities are carved out of the cross-payment default provisions in our 2025 and 2027
senior notes given that they constitute non-recourse debt, any default under our convertible senior notes would trigger an event of default under our term loan facility and, similarly,
any default under our term loan facility would trigger the cross-payment default provisions in our 2025 and 2027 senior notes.

Item 5. Other Information.
Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

During the quarter ended September 30, 2023, the following directors and Section 16 officers adopted contracts, instructions, or written plans for the purchase or sale of our
securities. Each of these intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“10b5-1 Plan”). None of our directors or
Section 16 officers adopted or terminated a “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K during the covered period.

The 10b5-1 Plans included a representation from each officer to the broker administering the plan that they were not in possession of any material nonpublic information
regarding the company or the securities subject to the plan. A similar representation was made to the company in connection with the adoption of the plan under the company’s
insider trading policy. Those representations were made as of the date of adoption of each 10b5-1 Plan.

Aggregate # of Securities to be

Name Title Action Date Adopted Expiration Date Bought/Sold
Christian Taubman) Chief Growth Officer Adoption August 18, 2023 August 30, 2024 34,492
Anna Stevens(2) Chief Human Resources Officer Adoption August 31, 2023 August 31, 2024 96,040

(1) Christian Taubman, our Chief Growth Officer, entered into a Rule 10b5-1 Plan on August 18, 2023. Mr. Taubman’s 10b5-1 Plan provides for the potential sale of 34,492 shares of our common stock.

(2) Anna Stevens, our Chief Human Resources Officer, entered into a Rule 10b5-1 Plan on August 31, 2023. Ms. Stevens plan provides for the potential sale of up to 46,301 shares of our common stock underlying previously vested Restricted Stock Units.
Ms. Stevens' plan also provides for the potential sale of 49,739 shares of our common stock ing fut ting Restri Stock Units. For purposes of ing the Aggregate # of ities to be Sold under Ms. Stevens’ 10b5-1 Plan, we have not
removed the number of shares to be withheld for income taxes.

None.

Item 6. Exhibits.

The exhibits required to be filed or furnished as part of this Quarterly Report are listed below. Notwithstanding any language to the contrary, exhibits 32.1, 32.2, 101, and
104 shall not be deemed to be filed as part of this Quarterly Report for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Incorporated by Reference

Filed or Furnished

Exhibit Number Exhibit Description Form Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
311 Certification of principal executive officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) X
31.2 Certification of principal financial officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) X
321 Certification of chief executive officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 X
32.2 Certification of chief financial officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 X
10.1 Separation agreement, dated August 29, 2023 between Redfin Corporation and Adam Wiener X
10.2 Advisory agreement, dated August 29, 2023, between Redfin Corporation and Adam Wiener X

03 Term Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 20, 2023, between Redfin Corporation. Apollo Administrative Agency. R
’ LLC and Apollo Global Funding, LLC

10.4 Form of Change in Control Severance Agreement X

101 Interactive data files X

104 Cover page interactive data file, submitted using inline XBRL (contained in Exhibit 101) X
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.
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Redfin Corporation

(Registrant)
November 2, 2023 May 7, 2024 /sl Glenn Kelman
(Date) Glenn Kelman
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Duly Authorized Officer)
November 2, 2023 May 7, 2024 /sl Chris Nielsen
(Date) Chris Nielsen

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

REDFIN CORPORATION
August 29, 2023

Adam Wiener
Delivered via Email

Re: Terms of Separation & Advisory Services

Dear Adam:

This letter confirms the agreement (“Agreement”) between you and Redfin Corporation (the “Company”) concerning the terms of your
separation and advisory services, and offers you the separation compensation we discussed in exchange for a general release of claims and covenant
not to sue.

1. Separation Date: September 8, 2023 is your last day of employment with the Company(the “SeparationDate").

2. Separation Compensation; Opportunity for Continued Advisory Services: In exchange for your agreement to the general release and
waiver of claims and covenant not to sue set forth below and your other promises herein, the Company agrees to provide you with the following:

a. Severance: The Company agrees to pay you, within fifteen (15) business days following the Effective Date (as defined below) of
this Agreement, a lump sum payment in the gross amount of $450,000.00, less applicable state and federal payroll deductions, which equals twelve
months of your base salary.

b. Bonus Payment: The Company agrees to pay you, within fifteen (15) business days following the Effective Date, a lump sum
payment in the gross amount of $84,375.00, less applicable state and federal payroll deductions, which approximates 25% attainment of your annual
target cash bonus.

c. COBRA Payment: The Company agrees to pay you, within fifteen (15) business days following the Effective Date, a lump sum
payment in the gross amount of $18,910.00, less applicable state and federal payroll deductions, which represents twelve (12) months of your
estimated monthly COBRA premium.

d. Advisor Agreement. The Company agrees to engage you as an advisor pursuant to the terms of the Advisor Agreement attached
hereto as Exhibit A (the “Advisor Agreement”).

By signing below, you acknowledge that you are receiving the separation compensation outlined in this paragraph in consideration for waiving
your rights to claims referred to in this Agreement and that you would not otherwise be entitled to the separation compensation.

8! Equity Compensation. Through the Separation Date, and provided that you sign and do not revoke this Agreement, for so long as you
provide the Advisory Services (as defined in the Advisor Agreement), your outstanding time-based restricted stock units to acquire shares of the
Company’s common stock (the “RSUs”) and performance-based restricted stock units to
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acquire shares of the Company’s common stock (the “PSUs") will continue to vest (or remain eligible to be achieved and vest, with respect to the
PSUs), pursuant to the terms and conditions of the respective award agreements and the Company’s 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”),
subject to your continued employment or other qualifying Service (as defined in the 2017 Plan, which includes the Advisory Services) on each
applicable vesting date.

Your outstanding stock options to acquire shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Options”) are fully vested as of the date of this
Agreement. Your rights concerning the Options will continue to be governed by the applicable stock option agreement (each, a “Stock Option
Agreement”) and the 2017 Plan or 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”), as applicable. Per the Stock Option Agreements, you will have three
(3) months following your final day of Continuous Service (as defined in the 2004 Plan, which includes the Advisory Services) or Service (as defined in
the 2017 Plan, which includes the Advisory Services), as applicable, or until the earlier expiration of the Option’s overall term, to exercise the Options.
After such date, you will no longer have a right to exercise the Option as to any shares. To the extent you hold unexercised Incentive Stock Options
(as such term is defined in the 2004 Plan), such Incentive Stock Options will be treated for tax purposes as Non-Statutory Stock Options (as such term
is defined in the 2004 Plan) if they are not exercised within ninety (90) days of September 8, 2023, or your last day of employment with the Company,
whichever is later.

This Agreement shall not be construed to amend, modify or supersede any of the provisions of the 2017 Plan or 2004 Plan, as applicable, or
any award agreement for the RSUs, the PSUs or the Options. The number of shares subject to your outstanding RSUs, PSU and Options, and eligible
to vest, as applicable, have been communicated separately to you.

4. Final Pay: On your final day of employment, the Company will pay you for all wages, salary, bonuses, reimbursable expenses previously
submitted by you, accrued vacation (if applicable) and any similar payments due you from the Company as of the Separation Date.

5. Return of Company Property: You hereby warrant to the Company that, no later than your final day of employment, you will return to the

Company all property or data of the Company of any type whatsoever that has been in your possession or control.

6. Post-Employment Obligations: You hereby acknowledge that: (a) you continue to be bound by the Employee Assignment, Arbitration and
Confidentiality Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit B(the “EAACA”); (b) as a result of your employment with the Company, you have had access to
the Company’s proprietary and/or confidential information, and you will continue to hold all such information in strictest confidence and not make use
of it on behalf of anyone; and (c) you must, and by your signature below confirm that you shall, deliver to the Company, no later than the Separation
Date, all documents and data of any nature containing or pertaining to such information, and not take with you, or otherwise retain in any respect, any
such documents or data or any reproduction thereof.

7. General Release and Waiver of Claims:

a. The payments and promises set forth in this Agreement are in full satisfaction of all accrued salary, vacation pay, bonus and
commission pay, profit-sharing, stock, stock options, restricted stock units or other ownership interest in the Company, termination benefits or other
compensation to which you may be entitled by virtue of your employment with the Company or your separation from the Company. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, you hereby release and waive any other claims you may have against the Company and its owners, agents, officers, shareholders,
employees, directors, attorneys, subscribers, subsidiaries, affiliates, successors and assigns (collectively “Releasees”), whether known or not known,

Adam Wiener
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including, without limitation, claims under any employment laws, including, but not limited to, claims of unlawful discharge, breach of contract, breach
of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, fraud, violation of public policy, defamation, physical injury, emotional distress, claims for additional
compensation or benefits arising out of your employment or your separation of employment, claims under Title VII of the 1964 Civil Rights Act, as
amended, the Washington Law Against Discrimination, the Washington Paid Family and Medical Leave law, the Washington Family Care Act, the
Washington Paid Sick Leave Law, and the Revised Code of Washington and any other laws and/or regulations relating to employment or employment
discrimination, including, without limitation, claims based on age or under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act or Older Workers Benefit
Protection Act, and/or claims based on disability or under the Americans with Disabilities Act.

b. You hereby acknowledge that you are aware of the principle that a general release does not extend to claims that the releasor
does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, which, if known by him or her, must have materially affected
his or her settlement with the releasee. With knowledge of this principle, you hereby agree to expressly waive any rights you may have to that effect.

c. You and the Company do not intend to release claims that you may not release as a matter of law, including but not limited to
claims for indemnity you may have in your capacity as an officer of the Company, which may be provided pursuant to the Company’s certificate of
incorporation or its bylaws, pursuant to any contract between the Company and you, including but not limited to, any indemnification agreement
entered into by the Company and you, or any D&O insurance policy maintained by the Company, and any claims for enforcement of this Agreement.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, any dispute regarding the scope of this general release shall be determined by an arbitrator under the
procedures set forth in the arbitration clause below.

8. Covenant Not to Sue:

a. To the fullest extent permitted by law, at no time subsequent to the execution of this Agreement will you pursue, or cause or
knowingly permit the prosecution, in any state, federal or foreign court, or before any local, state, federal or foreign administrative agency, or any other
tribunal, of any charge, claim or action of any kind, nature and character whatsoever, known or unknown, which you may now have, have ever had, or
may in the future have against Releasees, which is based in whole or in part on any matter released by this Agreement.

b. Nothing in this paragraph shall prohibit or impair you or the Company from complying with all applicable laws, nor shall this
Agreement be construed to obligate either party to commit (or aid or abet in the commission of) any unlawful act.

9. Protected Rights:

a. You understand that nothing in this Agreement, including the General Release and Waiver of Claims, Covenant Not to Sue, Non-
disparagement and Confidentiality sections contained herein, limits, impedes or restricts your ability to file a charge or complaint with the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission, the National Labor Relations Board (the “NLRB"), the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, the
Securities and Exchange Commission or any other federal, state or local government agency or commission (“Government Agencies”); You further
understand that this Agreement does not limit your ability to communicate with any Government Agencies or otherwise participate and/or assist in any
investigation or proceeding that may be conducted by any Government Agency, including

Adam Wiener
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providing documents (including this Agreement) or other information, without notice to the Company. This Agreement does not limit your right to
receive an award for information provided to any Government Agencies or prohibit you from providing truthful information in response to a subpoena
or other legal process.

b. Further, nothing in the Non-disparagement and Confidentiality sections, or otherwise in this Agreement, shall prohibit you from
discussing or disclosing workplace or work-related conduct (including conduct at the workplace, at work-related events coordinated by or through the
Company, between employees, or between the Company and an employee, whether on or off the employment premises) that you reasonably
believed, under Washington state, federal, or common law, to be illegal discrimination, illegal harassment, illegal retaliation, a wage and hour violation,
sexual assault, or that is recognized as against a clear mandate of public policy.
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10. Non-disparagement: Subject to the Protected Rights section above, and otherwise to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, you
agree that you will not, directly or indirectly, make any disparaging oral or written statements that are disloyal or maliciously untrue (and specifically,
made with knowledge of their falsity or with reckless disregard for the truth or falsity of the statements) regarding the Company or its products,
services, directors, officers, employees and affiliated entities, including, but not limited to, any statement posted on social media (including online
company review sites) or otherwise on the Internet, whether or not made anonymously or with attribution. In turn, the Company agrees to instruct its
current executive officers not to, directly or indirectly, disparage or make negative remarks regarding you. Nothing in this section shall prohibit you or
the Company’s executive officers or members of the Board of Directors from providing truthful information in response to a subpoena or other legal
process.

11. Indemnification. For the avoidance of doubt, you will continue to be covered by any indemnification under organizational documents and
bylaws of the Company, the Indemnity Agreement between you and the Company and any other indemnification agreement between you and the
Company, and remain hamed as an insured on the director and officer liability insurance policy currently maintained by the Company, or as may be
maintained by the Company from time to time and as otherwise required by applicable law, subject to the terms and conditions of each.

12. Transition & Cooperation:

You agree to cooperate with the Company regarding matters within your knowledge or responsibility. Without limiting the foregoing, you agree: (i) to
meet with the Company’s representatives, its counsel or other designees at mutually convenient times and places with respect to any items within the
scope of this provision; (ii) to provide truthful testimony regarding same to any court, agency, or other adjudicatory body; and (iii) to provide the
Company with notice to legal@redfin.com of contact by any non-governmental adverse party or such adverse party’s representative, including notice
of service of any subpoena or other legal process in any matter related to the Company or your employment at the Company, except as may be
required by law. To the extent allowed by law, the Company will reimburse you for reasonable expenses in connection with the cooperation described
in this paragraph.

13.  Arbitration: Any disputes between the parties shall be resolved in accordance with the provisions of the EAACA or your Arbitration
Agreement with Redfin, as applicable, which shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms..

Adam Wiener
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14.  Attorneys’ Fees: If any action is brought to enforce the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party will be entitled to recover its
reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses from the other party, in addition to any other relief to which the prevailing party may be entitled.

15. No Admission of Liability: This Agreement is not and shall not be construed or contended by you to be an admission or evidence of any
wrongdoing or liability on the part of Releasees, their representatives, heirs, executors, attorneys, agents, partners, officers, shareholders, directors,
employees, subsidiaries, affiliates, divisions, successors or assigns. This Agreement shall be afforded the maximum protection allowable under
Washington Rules of Evidence 408 and/or any other state or federal provisions of similar effect.

16. Complete and Voluntary Agreement: This Agreement, together with the Advisor Agreement, EAACA and the applicable equity award
agreements, constitute the entire agreement between you and Releasees with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior
negotiations and agreements, whether written or oral, relating to such subject matter. You acknowledge that the Change in Control Severance
Agreement between you and the Company has expired and you have no rights thereunder. You acknowledge that neither Releasees nor their agents
or attorneys have made any promise, representation or warranty whatsoever, either express or implied, written or oral, which is not contained in this
Agreement for the purpose of inducing you to execute the Agreement, and you acknowledge that you have executed this Agreement in reliance only
upon such promises, representations and warranties as are contained herein, and that you are executing this Agreement voluntarily, free of duress or
coercion.

17. Clawback: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, you remain subject to any applicable compensation clawback or recoupment
policy adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors, or committee thereof, or required by law during the term of your employment or other service to
the Company.
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18. Severability: The provisions of this Agreement are severable, and if any part of it is found to be invalid or unenforceable, including,
without limitation, any part of the General Release, Covenant Not to Sue, Non-disparagement and/or Confidentiality sections above, the other parts
shall remain fully valid and enforceable. Specifically, should a court, arbitrator, or government agency conclude that a particular claim may not be
released as a matter of law, it is the intention of the parties that the general release, the waiver of unknown claims and the covenant not to sue above
shall otherwise remain effective to release any and all other claims.

19. Modification; Counterparts; Electronic/PDF Signatures: It is expressly agreed that this Agreement may not be altered, amended,
modified, or otherwise changed in any respect except by another written agreement that specifically refers to this Agreement, executed by authorized
representatives of each of the parties to this Agreement. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall
constitute an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Execution of an electronic or PDF copy shall have the

same force and effect as execution of an original, and a copy of a signature will be equally admissible in any legal proceeding as if an original.

20. Review of Separation Agreement; Expiration of Offer: You understand that you may take up to twenty-one (21) days to consider this
Agreement (the “Consideration Period”). The offer set forth in this Agreement, if not accepted by you before the end of the Consideration Period, will
automatically expire. By signing below, you affirm that you were advised to consult with an attorney prior to signing this Agreement. You also
understand you may revoke this Agreement within seven (7) days of signing this document and that the separation compensation to be provided to

you pursuant to Section 2 and Section 3 will be provided only after the expiration of that seven (7) day revocation period.
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21. Effective Date: This Agreement is effective on the eighth (8th) day after you sign it and without revocation by you (the “Effective Date”).
22. Governing_Law: This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington.

[Signature Page Follows]
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If you agree to abide by the terms outlined in this Agreement, please sign and return it to me. | wish you the best in your future endeavors.
Sincerely,

Redfin Corporation

By:
Glenn Kelman
Chief Executive Officer
READ, UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED
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Date:
Adam Wiener

[Signature Page to Separation Agreement]
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EXHIBIT A

Advisor Agreement

Adam Wiener
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EXHIBIT B

Employee Assignment, Arbitration and Confidentiality Agreement

REDFIN CORPORATION

August 29, 2023

Adam Wiener
Delivered via Email

Re: Advisory Services to Redfin Corporation

Dear Adam:
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This letter agreement (the “Agreement”) is to confirm our understanding with respect to your service to Redfin Corporation (the “Company”) as an
advisor to the Company. The Company looks forward to a continued mutually beneficial association with you on the following terms, which are hereby
made effective as of September 8 2023, the date on which you will begin providing advisory services to the Company (the “Effective Date”):

1. Advisory_Services. From time to time, | and possibly other members of the Company’s management may contact you informally to
provide advice relating to the Company'’s business. You agree to be available for no more than ten (10) hours per month, for consultations by phone,
video call, email or in person, to advise on matters related to the Company’s business, strategy, competitive dynamics and industry developments with
respect to real estate operations and related matters (the “Advisory Services”). You will provide the Advisory Services through June 1, 2024, unless
terminated earlier by either you or the Company as provided below in Section 9. The effectiveness of this Agreement is contingent upon your
execution and compliance with the separation agreement between you and the Company, dated on or about August 29, 2023 (the “Separation
Agreement”).

2. Compensation. You shall receive no cash compensation for your Advisory Services.

For so long as you provide the Advisory Services, your outstanding time-based restricted stock units to acquire shares of the Company’s
common stock (the “RSUs”) and performance-based restricted stock units to acquires shares of the Company’s common stock (the “PSUs”) will
continue to vest (or remain eligible to be achieved and vest, with respect to the PSUs), pursuant to the terms and conditions of the respective award
agreements and the Company’s 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”), subject to your continued employment or other qualifying Service (as
defined in the 2017 Plan, which includes the Advisory Services) on each applicable vesting date.

Your outstanding stock options to acquire shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Options”) are fully vested as of the date of this
Agreement. Your rights concerning the Options will continue to be governed by the applicable stock option agreement (each, a “Stock Option
Agreement”) and the 2017 Plan or 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”), as applicable. Per the Stock Option Agreements, you will have three
(3) months following your final day of Continuous Service (as defined in the 2004 Plan, which includes the Advisory Services) or Service (as defined in
the 2017 Plan, which includes the Advisory Services), as applicable, or until the earlier expiration of the Option’s overall term, to exercise the Options.
After such date, you will no longer have a right to exercise the Option as to any shares.

This Agreement shall not be construed to amend, modify or supersede any of the provisions of the 2017 Plan or 2004 Plan, as applicable, or
any award agreement for the RSUs, the PSUs or the Options (your “Equity Awards”). The number of shares subject to your outstanding Equity
Awards, and eligible to vest, as applicable, have been communicated separately to you. As of the final day of your Advisory Services, any portion of
your Equity Awards that have not then vested by their terms shall automatically terminate and be forfeited. You will not be entitled to receive any
additional equity awards from the Company.

3. Reimbursement of Expenses. The Company will reimburse you for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses that you incur in connection with
your services under this Agreement that have been approved in advance by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

4. Independent Contractor. Your relationship with the Company will be that of an independent contractor, and you will not be an agent,
employee or representative of the Company. You understand that you will have no authority to enter into contracts or create obligations on behalf of
the Company. Accordingly, you acknowledge that you will not be eligible for any employee benefits. In the event you receive compensation from the
Company in connection with your services under this Agreement, you agree that you are obligated to report any such compensation as income, and
you agree to pay all withholding taxes, social security, workers’ compensation, unemployment and disability insurance or similar items required by any
government agency, as applicable. You agree to indemnify and hold the Company harmless from and against all damages, liabilities, losses, penalties,
fines, expenses and costs (including reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys and other professionals) arising out of or relating to any obligation
imposed by law on the Company to pay any withholding taxes, social security, unemployment or disability insurance or similar items in connection with
any compensation received by you pursuant to this Agreement.

5 Continuing_Obligations. You remain bound by your obligations under Employee Assignment, Arbitration and Confidentiality Agreement
(the “EAACA”) between you and the Company, as attached to the Separation Agreement. You agree to comply with all such obligations while you
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provide Advisory Services and thereafter pursuant to the terms of the EAACA, respectively. You understand and agree that references to employment
under the terms of the EAACA are hereby modified to also include your Advisory Services excluding Section 10 of the EAACA.

6. Property of the Company. For purposes of this letter agreement, “Designs and Materials” shall mean all designs, discoveries,
inventions, products, computer programs, procedures, improvements, developments, drawings, notes, documents, information and materials made,
conceived or developed by you alone or with others that result from or that are made, conceived or developed in connection with the services you
provide to the Company pursuant to this letter agreement. You hereby irrevocably transfer and assign to the Company any and all of your right, title
and interest in and to Designs and Materials, including but not limited to all copyrights, patent rights, trade secrets, trademarks and moral rights. You
agree: (a) to disclose promptly in writing to the Company all Designs and Materials; (b) to cooperate with and assist the Company to apply for, and to
execute any applications and/or assignments to obtain, any patent, copyright, trademark or other legal protection for Designs and Materials in the
Company’s name as the Company deems appropriate; and (c) to otherwise treat all Designs and Materials as “Confidential Information,” as defined
below.

7. Confidential Information. You recognize that, in the course of performing your services under this letter agreement, you will acquire
information and materials from the Company and knowledge about information of a confidential or secret nature concerning the Company, including
without limitation, knowledge about the Company’s business, products and planned products, marketing plans, financial information, forecasts,
personnel, customers,

clients, suppliers, experimental work and programming techniques. All such knowledge, information and materials acquired, the existence, terms and
conditions of this letter agreement, and all Designs and Materials, are and will be the trade secrets and confidential and proprietary information of the
Company (collectively, the “Confidential Information™). Confidential Information will not include, however, any information which is or becomes part of
the public domain through no fault of yours or that the Company regularly gives to third parties without restriction on use or disclosure. You agree to
hold all such Confidential Information in strict confidence, not to disclose it to others or use it in any way, commercially or otherwise (including without
limitation lecturing upon or publishing articles concerning Confidential Information), except in performing your obligations under this letter agreement,
and not to allow any unauthorized person access to it. You agree to return to the Company promptly upon request, and in any event after termination
or expiration of this letter agreement, any and all records, paper, media or other embodiment containing any Confidential Information. Nothing in this
Section 6 or otherwise in this agreement shall limit or restrict in any way your immunity from liability for disclosing Company’s trade secrets as
specifically permitted by 18 U.S. Code Section 1833, the pertinent provisions of which are attached hereto as Exhibit 1.

8. Conflicts of Interest. You hereby represent that the obligations contemplated hereby do not, in any way, conflict with any other
agreement and/or commitment on your part. You agree to inform the Company promptly and in writing if any such conflict arises. You agree that you
will not disclose to the Company any proprietary information that you currently have obtained, or may obtain in the future, from any other individual or
organization.

9. Company Policies; Code of Conduct. You hereby acknowledge and agree to comply with all applicable Company policies, including, but
not limited to, the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics as applicable to you during the period you provide the Advisory Services to the
Company, including, without limitation, with respect to conflicts of interest.

10. Non-Solicitation. During the term in which you provide services to the Company pursuant to this Agreement and for a one (1) year period
following the termination of this Agreement, you will not directly or indirectly solicit away any employees or consultants of the Company for your benefit
or for the benefit of any other person or entity.

11. Termination. This Agreement will commence on the Effective Date and continue until June 1, 2024, at which time it will automatically
expire, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Either party may terminate this Agreement and your Advisory
Services for any reason upon ten (10) days written notice. The provisions of Sections 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, , 10, 11 and 12 of this Agreement will survive any
expiration or termination of this Agreement.

12.  Entire Agreement. This Agreement (together with the applicable award agreements for the Equity Awards, and the EAACA) constitutes
the complete and exclusive understanding and agreement between you and the Company and supersedes all prior understanding and agreements,
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whether written or oral, with respect to the subject matter hereof.

13. Interpretation. The terms contained in this Agreement are subject to interpretation under the laws of the State of Washington, without
giving effect to that body of laws pertaining to conflict of laws, and can be amended only in writing and by joint agreement of both you and the
Company. If any provision of this Agreement is determined by any court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in
any respect, such provision will be enforced to the maximum extent possible given the intent of the parties hereto. If such provision cannot be so
enforced, such provision shall be stricken from this Agreement and the remainder of this Agreement shall be enforced as if such invalid, illegal or
unenforceable provision had (to the extent not enforceable) never been contained in the Agreement. This

3

Agreement constitutes the complete and exclusive understanding and agreement of you and the Company and supersedes all prior understanding
and agreements, whether written or oral, with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts,
including by electronic signature transmission, with the same force and effect as if each of the signatories had executed the same instrument.

[Signature Page Follows]

If the foregoing represents your understanding of your role as an advisor to the Company, please sign below and return the executed letter
agreement to me.

Very truly yours,
REDFIN CORPORATION

By:
Glenn Kelman
Chief Executive Officer
AGREED AND CONSENTED TO:

Adam Wiener

[Signature Page to Advisor Agreement]
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[TO TIME PARTY HERETO, THE LENDERS FROM TIME TO TIME PARTY HERETO, AND APOLLO GLOBAL FUNDING, LLC (AS SOLE LEAD ARRANGER) October 20, 2023
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1- TERM LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT Term Loan an Agreement, dated as of Octob 2023, by and among REDFIN CORPORATION, a col ion formed under the laws of the State of Delaware (the
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- 2- in GAAP and as necessary to demonstrate compliance with the financial covenants before giving effect to the applicable changes in GAAP. 1.2 General Terms. For purposes of this Agreement the following terms shall have thej

promulgated, |ssued or enforced pursuant to such Laws, all as amended, sup Iememed or replaced from time to time, and |nc|ud|n , without limitation, Anti-Corruption Laws and Anti-Money Laundering Laws.
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benchmark rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (B) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement to the then-current
Benchmark for Dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities and (i) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment. If the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to clause (a) or (b) above would be less than the SOFR Floor,
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the Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be the SOFR Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the Other Documents. “Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of the then-current

Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement, the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected b

IAdministrative Agent and the Borrower giving due consideration to (a) any selection ol
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Benchmark is a term rate, any Available Tenor of such Benchmark or such component thereof); (b) a public stalemem or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published
omponent used in the calculation thereof), the Federal Reserve Board, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark a resolution authorityf

or such component)

ith jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such Benchmark (or sucl
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- 6- component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide such Benchmark (or such component thereof) or, if such Benchmark is a term rate, all Available Tenors off

lequipment” or similar items]
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al Costs and|

disclosing that such person has become the direct or indirect “beneficial owner,” as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, of (i) the Borrower's Common EUI
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in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the Othel
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- 10- “Connection Income Taxes” shall mean Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profits Taxes. “Consents” shall mean all filings and all
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| 11- “Customs” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.13(b) hereof. “Dail

Agent in accordance with the conventions for this rate selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for determining “Dail
hat any such convention is not administrativel

Simple SOFR” shall mean, for any day, SOFR, with the conventions for this rate (which will include a lookback) being established by the Administrativel

Simple SOFR” for syndicated business loans; provided that if the Administrative Agent decide:
feasible for the Administrative Agent, then the Administrative Agent may establish another convention in its reasonable discretion. “Debt Payments” shall mean for an:

period, in each case,

ursuant to this clause (c) upon Administrative Agent's receipt of such certification in form and substance satisfactory to Administrative Agent and Borrower; (d) has become the subject of an Insolvency Event and/or a Bail-In Action; or (e,

ply with the provisions of Section 2.6(e) hereof with respect to purchasing participations from the other Lenders, whereby such Lender’s share of any payment received, whether by setoff or otherwise, is in|
ro rata share of such payments due and payable to all of the Lenders. “Delayed Draw Term Loans” shall mean the Delayed Draw Term Loans borrowed by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.3(b).
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ommitment” shall mean, as to any Delayed Draw Term Loan Lender, the obligation of Delayed Draw Term Loan Lender (if applicable), to fund Delayed Draw Term Loans pursuant to Section 2.3(b

lequal to the Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment Amount (if any) of such Delayed Draw Term Loan Lender|
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, as to anyj

=
Delayed Draw Term Loan Lender, the Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment Percentage of such Dela ed Draw Term Loan Lender set forth on Schedule 1.1 hereto (or, in the case of an! Lender that becomes party to this Agreement after}
i d

lof any Person described in clauses (a) and (b) above that is (x) identified]
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|- 13- in writing to the Administrative Agent, a known Affiliate of such Person in the marketplace, or (z) readily identifiable on the basis of such Affiliate’s name. “Document” shall have the meaning given to the term “document” in the}
Uniform Commercial Code. “Dollar” and the sign “$” shall mean lawful money of the United States of America. “Domestic Rate Loan” shall mean any Advance that bears interest based upon the Alternate Base Rate. “Earn-Outs” shall
Imean obligations of the Loan Parties consisting of earn-outs related to an enti husmess or assets acquired in connection with a Permitted Acuisition or other investment ermilted hereunder calculated at any time of determination a:

Agreement (and, in each case, any refinancing of suct
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effective, or, if there is no such indication, the date of execution of such document or agreement. “Effective Yield” means, as to any Indebtedness as of any date of determination, the effective yield on such Indebtedness in the reasonabl
determination of the Administrative Agent and consistent with generally accepted financial practices, taking into account the applicable interest rate margins, any interest rate floors (the effect of which floors shall be determined in a
manner set the proviso below) of
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[Contract Participant” shall mean an “eligible contract participant” as defined in the CEA and regulations thereunder. “Environmental Complaint” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(b) hereof. “Environmental Laws” shall mean allj

time have any rights to manage and direct the]
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- 16- business and affairs of the applicable issuer under its Organizational Documents as in effec! from time to time or under Aj Iicah\e Law‘ vii all rights to amend the Organizational Documems of such issuer; (viii) in the case of an

cash during such ECF Period on account of Permitted Investments described in clause (o) of the definition thereof, or on account of Permitted Existing Convertible Notes Repurchases. “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange]
Act of 1934, as amended. “Excluded Hedge Liability or Liabilities” shall mean, with respect to each Loan Party, each of its Swap Obligations if, and only to the extent that, all or an

relates to such Swap Obligation is or becomes illegal under the CEA, or any rule, regulation or order

portion of this Agreement or any Other Document that
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lauthorization has been|
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land Borrower reasonably agree that the cost of obtaining a guarantee therefrom or obtaining or perfecting a security interest in its assets is excessive in relation to the benefit to the Lenders afforded thereby. “Excluded Taxes” shall mean,

political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the case of a Lender, any U.S. federal withholding tax that is imposed on amounts payable to or for the account of such Lender pursuant to a law in|
effect on the date (i) such Lender becomes a party hereto (other than pursuant to an assignment request by the Borrower under Section 3.11), or (i) such Lender changes its lending office, except, in each case, to the extent that pursuang

0 Section 3.10, amounts with respect to such Taxes were payable either to suck
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Convemble Notes” shall mean the “Notes" as deﬂned in the Existing 2027 Convemble Notes Indenture ‘Emstm 2027 Convertlble Notes Indenture" shaII mean that certam Indenture, dated as of March 25, 2021 between the Borrower, as|

‘Federal Funds Effective Rate” shall mean, for any day, the greater of (a) the rate calculated by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York based on such day’s Federal funds transactions by

accounting matters hereunder and under any other Other Document, a lease that would not be considered a canahzed lease pursuant to GAAP prior to the adoption of Topic 842 shall not be deemed to constitute a Finance Lease fon
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body charged with setting financial accounting or regulatory capital rules or standards (including, without limitation, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Bank for]
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lof: (a) borrowed money and all obligations]
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to any Loan Pal
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opinion, issued guidance, code, release, ruling, order, executive order, injunction, writ, decree, bond, judgment, authorization or approval, lien or award of or any settlement arrangement, by agreement, consent or otherwise, with an
Governmental Body, foreign or domestic|
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lease or license, written or oral, of any Loan Party, which is material to the business of the Loan Parties when, taken as a whole, the failure to comply with would reasonably be expected to result in a Matenal Adverse Effect. “Matenal
Indebtedness” shall mean Indebtedness (other than the Loans) of any one or more of the Loan Parties in an aggregate principal amount exceeding $5,000,000.
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as an EIi ihle Comract Participant. "Notes" shall mean the Term Notes. “Obligations” shall mean and include (i) any and all loans (including without limitation, all

shall mean, with respect to the Loan Parties, taken as a whole, the ordinary course of the Loan Parties’ business as previously conducted or as hereafter conducted for the]
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|- 28- nature of the Loan Pames‘ business includin an! reasonable incidemal or complementary extensions thereof. "Or anizational Documems" shall mean, with respect to any Person, any charter, articles or certificate of incorporation,|
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he Federal Reserve Bank of New York, as set forth on its public website from time to time, and as published on the next succeeding Business Day as the overnight bank funding rate by such Federal Reserve Bank
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or any Lender is required to surrender or return such payment or proceeds to any Person for any reason, then the Obligations intended to be satisfied by such payment or proceeds shall be reinstated and continue as if such payment or]
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carriers’, repairmens’, mechanics’, workers’, materialmen'’s or other like Liens arisini

roceeds thereof securing insurance premium financing permitted hereunder, 0) Liens arising out of conditional
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j) to the extent constituting Indebtedness, customary indemnification, deferred purchase price adjustments, earn-outs or similar obligations, in each case, incurred or assumed in connection with the acquisition or disposition of an:
business or assets or any investment permitted to be acquired or made hereunder; (k) Permitted Warehouse Indebtedness; (1) Indebtedness consisting of the financing of insurance premiums in the Ordinary Course of Business ol

pay obligations contained in supply arrangements, in each case, in the Ordinary Course of Business or consistent with past practice; (n) Indebtedness representin
deferred compensation or similar obligations to employees of any Loan Party incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business or consistent with|
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- 33- by any Person that is not a Loan Party, (v) shall not be secured by any asset or proper

at does not constitute Collateral, (vi) if secured, is subject to a customary intercreditor agreement in form and substance reasonablyj

p
oluntary prepa\ menls of the Term Loans and on a pro rata basis or less than pro rata basls bu! not on a reater than pro rata basis other than in the case of prepayment W|th any refinancing debt) in any mandatory prepayments of

slide42

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 142/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

34- in each case providing for the incurrence only of Indebtedness that constitutes Permitted Warehouse Indebtedness. “Permitted Warehouse Facility Lender” shall mean each financial institution counterparty under each Permitte
larehouse Facility, in each case, as in effect on the Closing Date. “Permitted Warehouse Indebtedness” shall mean Indebtedness incurred by an Excluded Mortgage Subsidian
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35- account of the Term Loan Lenders, or otherwise to the Term Loan Lenders in full or partial satisfaction of the Obligations. For oses of the definition of the term “Prepayment Premium”, if a Prepayment Premium Trigger Event
occurs under clause b) or (c) above, the entire outstandm principal amount of the Term Loans shaII be deemed to have been prepaid on the date on which such Prepayment Premium Trigger Event occurs. “Pro Forma Event” means (a

that does not constitute material non-public information (within the meaning of United States federal and state securities laws) with respect to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective securities. “Purchasing CLO"]
shall have the meaning set forth in Section 16.3(d) hereof. “Purchasing Lender” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 16.3(c) here:
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by or on account of any Obligations, as applicable. “Refinancing Indebtedness” means refinancings, renewals, or extensions of Indebtedness so long as: (a) except with respect to any Permitted Warehouse Facility, such refinancings}
renewals, or extensions do not result in an increase in the principal amount of the Indebtedness so refinanced, renewed, or extended, other than by the amount of premiums paid thereon and the fees and|
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|- 37- expenses incurred in connection therewith and by the amount of unfunded commitments with respect thereto, (b) such refinancings, renewals, or extensions do not result in a shortening of the average weighted maturit

as of the refinancing, renewal, or extension) of the Indebtedness so refinanced, renewed, or extended, nor are they on terms or conditions that, taken as a whole, are materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders, (c) if the]
Indebtedness that is refinanced, renewed, or extended was subordinated in right of payment to the Obligations, then the terms and conditions of the refinancing, renewal, or extension must include subordination terms and conditions that}
lare at least as favorable to the Lender Group as those that were applicable to the refinanced, renewed, or extended Indebtedness, (d) the Indebtedness that is refinanced, renewed, or extended is not recourse to any Person that is liable}
lon account of the Obligations other than those Persons which were obligated with respect to the Indebtedness that was reflnanced renewed or extended ) such Refinancin Indehtedness shall be secured on the same or more junior]

4.2 d hereof. “Reimbursement Obligation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(b) hereof. “Rejection Notice” shall have the meanin set fonh in Section 2.20(i) hereof. “Release” shall have the meaning set forth in Section|

‘Reportable ERISA Event” shall mean a reportable event described in Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations promulgated thereunder, other than an event for which the 30-day notice period is waived.|
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application of any funds, property or assets, including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, defeasance, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any such Equity Interest, or on account]
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interest, addmons to tax [ enalues al ||cab|e thereto. “Term” shall have the meaning set forth in Sectlon 13.1 hereof}
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- 40- “Term Loan” shall mean, collectively or individually, as applicable, an Initial Term Loan and Delayed Draw Term Loan. “Term Loan Commitment” shall mean, as applicable, the Initial Term Loan Commitment or Delayed Draw Term|
Loan Commitment, as applicable, of any Term Loan Lender. “Term Loan Commitment Amount” shall mean, as aj Ilcable any Term Loan Lender’s Initial Term Loan Comnmmenl Amount or Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment Amount

Rate shall be deemed to be the SOFR Floor. “Term SOFR Rate Loan” shall mean an Advance that bears interest based on Term SOFR Rate.|
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|- 41- “Term SOFR Reference Rate” shall mean the forward—look g term rate based on SOFR. “Termination Event” shall mean: (a) a Reportable ERISA Event with respect to an Plan for which the Loan Parties or any of their Subsidiaries|
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Generated Cash. ‘Umfonm Commercial Code” shall have The

meaning set forth in Section 1.3 hereof. “U.S. Government Securities Business Day”

linstruments”, “inventory”, “investment property”, “letter-of- credit rights”, “payment intangibles”, FOCSEC‘S" “promissory note” “securities”, “software” and “supporting oblig atlons as and when used in the description of Collatera\ sha\l have]

the meanings given|
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p B
ifferent Person, then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the original Person to the subsequent Person, and (b) if an

new Person comes into existence, such new Person shall be deemed to have been organized on the firsi
Interests at such time. 1.6 Rates. The Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept responsibility for, and shall not have an:

other matter related to Alternate Base Rate, the Term SOFR Reference Rate or Term SOFR Rate, or any component definition thereof or rates referred to in the definition thereof, or any alternative
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0
Alternate Base Rate, the Term SOFR Reference Rate or Term SOFR Rate any alternative, successor or replacement rate (including any Benchmark Replacement) or any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner adverse to|

he Borrower. The Administrative Agent may select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion to ascertain Alternate Base Rate, the Term SOFR Reference Rate or Term SOFR Rate or any other Benchmark, in each casej

ursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to the Borrower, any Lender or any other person or entity for damages of any kind, including direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages,

i) the type of borrowing and the amount of such Advance to hall be in a minimum amount of $1,000,000 and in integral multip
i first Interest Period therefor. Each Interest Period for a Term Loan consisting of a Term SOFR Rate Loan shall be for one, three or six months; provided that, (x) if an Interest Period for such Term SOFR Rat

Loan would end on a day that is not a Business Day, it shall end on the next succeeding Business Day unless such day falls in the next succeeding calendar month in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding

corresponding day in the last]

calendar month of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period |
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- 45- Each Interest Period for an Advance consisting of a Term SOFR Rate Loan shall commence on the date such Term SOFR Rate Loan is made and shall end on the one, three or six month anniversary of the date such Term SOFR]
Rate Loan is made as Borrower may elect as set forth in subsection (b)(iii) above, and each Interest Period for the portion of a Term Loan that consists of a Term SOFR Rate Loan shall commence on the date such Term SOFR Rate Loan|
is made and shall end on the one, three or six month anniversary of the date such Term SOFR Rate Loan is made as Borrower may elect as set forth in subsection (b)(iii) above. No Term SOFR Rate Loan shall be made available to]
Borrower following the occurrence and during the continuance of a Default or an Event of Default. After giving effect to each requested Advance consisting of a Term SOFR Rate Loan, including those which are converted from a Domestic}
Rate Loan under Section 2.2(e) below, there shall not be outstanding more than five (5) Advances consisting of Term SOFR Rate Loans, in the aggregate at any time. (c) [Reserved]. (d) For each Advance consisting of a Term SOFR Rate]
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p S p g
Interest Period elected by Borrower, Borrower shall be deemed to have elected to continue such Term SOFR Rate Loan at the previously elected duration. (e) Borrower may, on the last Business Day of the then current Interest Period|
lapplicable to any outstandin Term SOFR Rate Loan, or on an Business Day with respect to Domestic Rate Loans, convert any such Term SOFR Rate Loan into a Domestic Rate Loan or (provided that no Default or Event of Defaulf

applicable premium, including the Prepayment Premium; provide: at a notice of prepa lvances may state that such notice pon the occurrence of one or more events speciiied therein, In which case sucl
notice may be rescinded by the Borrower (by notice to the Administrative Agent on or prior to the specified date of prepayment) if such condition is not satisfied. Borrower shall specify the date of prepayment of Advances which are Term|

[SOFR Rate Loans and the amount of such prepayment. In the event that any prepayment of any Advance consisting of a Term SOFR Rate Loan is required or permitted on a date other than the last Business Day of the then current]
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Agent and Lenders

change therein or in the interpretation or application thereof, including

without limitation an
land the office or branch where any Lender or any Person controllin r

Change in Law, shall make it unlawful for Lenders or any Lender (for
such Lender makes or maintains any Term SO r mai i

FR Rate Loans) to make or maintain its Term SOFR Rate Loans, the obligation of Lenders (or such affected Lender) t
make Term SOFR Rate Loans hereunder shall forthwith be cancelled and Borrower shall, if any affected Term SOFR Rate Loans are then outstanding, promptly upon request from Administrative Agent, either pay all such affected Term

ISOFR Rate Loans or convert such affected Term SOFR Rate Loans into Domestic Rate Loans. If any such payment or conversion of any Term SOFR Rate Loan is made on a day that is not the last day of the Interest Period applicable to

on the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default or termination of this Agreement, the principal of the Initial
g f. If requested by an Initial Term Loan Lender, Initial Term Loans owing to such Initial Term Loan Lender shall be evidenced b i er in favor of]
the form attached hereto as Exhibit 2.3-1 (each, a “Initial Term Loan Note” and collectivel

a promissory note e Borrow
. The Initial Term Loans may consist of Domestic Rate Loan:

ate
Lender’s Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment Amount. Subject to acceleration upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default
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47- or termination of this Agreement, the principal of Delayed Draw Term Loans shall be payable as set forth in Section 2.3(d) hereof. If requested by a Delayed Draw Term Loan Lender, the Delayed Draw Term Loans owing to sucl
Delayed Draw Term Loan Lender shall be evidenced by a romisso note by the Borrower in favor of such Dela ed Draw Term Loan Lender in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 2.3-2 (each a “Dela) ed Draw Term Loan|

Borrow: tOOtl extend any portion of the D Draw Term Loans as a Term SOFR Rate Loan or to ert any portion of the Del D Ww Term Loans from Dl stic Rate Loan to a oan, thejl
BOI’I’DWEY shall comply with 1he I’IOTIf\CatIOI’I requirements set folh in Sections 2.2(b and/or e) hereof and the provisions Of Sections 2.2, b through h hereof shall apply. Amuunts repaid or prepaid in res| ect Df the Dela ed Draw Term

e a acce
ith the Initial Term Loans or any other Delayed Draw Term Loans outstanding on the date such Delayed Draw Term Loans are funded|

slide56

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 160/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

- 48- 2.4 Currencies. All Loans shall be repaid, pursuant to Section 2.3 or otherwise, in the currency in which they were made. 2.5 Disbursement of Advance Proceeds. All Advances shall be disbursed from whichever office of]
other place Administrative Agent may designate from time to time and, together with any and all other Obligations of Loan Parties to Administrative Agent or Lenders, shall be charged to Borrower’s Account on Administrative Agent's|

books. The roceeds of each Dela ed Draw Term Loan requested by Borrower shall be made avallable to Borrower on the day so requested in |mmedlalel available federal funds or other |mmed|atel available funds to such bank as]

ICl
the

] rovi ever, that if all or any portion of such excess pa efits is thereafter recovered from such Benefited Lender, such purchase shall be rescinded, ar
urchase price and benefits returned, to the extent of such recovery, but without mterest Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it ma effecuvel do so under Ap ||cab|e Law, that each Lender S0 purchasing a
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respect of such participation and such purchased portion of any other Lender’s Advances shall be part of the Obligations secured by the Collateral. 2.7 Termination of Commitments. (a) The Initial Term Loan Commitment of each Initiall

[Term Loan Lender shall be automatically and permanently reduced to $0 on the Closing Date upon the making of such Lender’s Initial Term Loans to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.3(a
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account of the principal of and interest on the Delayed Draw Term Loans shall be applied to the Delayed Draw Term Loans on a pro rata basis. (b) Borrower recognizes that the amounts evidenced by checks, notes, drafts or any other]

any reason whatsoever, f gent unpaid. Subject to the foreg wer ag that for purposes of comp ges under this item off
ayment received b Administrative Agent shall be deemed applied by it on account of the Obligations on its resectlve A hcat\Dn Date. All proceeds received by Administrative Agent shall be applied to the satisfaction of the Obligations]

[Obligations due and owing hereunder by charging Borrower’s Account or by making Advances to the extent contemplated and permitted by Section 2.2 heleof
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- 50- 2.9 Repayment of Excess Advances. If at any time the aggregate balance of outstanding Term Loans and/or Advances, taken as a whole, exceeds the maximum amount of such type of Term Loans and/or Advances, taken as al
permitted hereunder, such excess Advances shall be paid
enders or Delayed Draw Term Loan Lenders, as applicable, whether or not a Default or an Event of Default has occurred. 2.10 Statement of Account. Administrative Agent shal intain, i ordance with its customan

Administrative Agent shall provide Borrower with the balance of accrued interest on all Loans at the conclusion of each month. The statements provided hereunder shall be deemed correct and binding upon Borrower in the absence of|
Imanifest error and shall constitute an account stated between Lenders and Borrower, and as to Borrower, the records of Administrative Agent with respect to Borrower’s Account shall be conclusive evidence absent manifest error of thej
lamounts of Advances and other charges thereto and of payments applicable thereto, in each case unless Administrative Agent receives a written statement of Borrower’s exceptions thereto within sixty (60) days after any such statement]

g g
Proceeds of such sales or dispositions, such repayments to be made promptly but in no event more than ten (10) Business Days|
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- 51- following receipt of such Net Cash Proceeds, and until the date of payment, such proceeds shall be held in trust for Administrative Agent and Lenders. The foregoing shall not be deemed to be implied consent to any such sale|

pp g V]
ssets sold pursuant to this Section 2.20(a) constituted Collateral, any replacement assets purchased with any Net Cash Proceeds not used to repay the Advances shall also constitute Collateral. (b) Incurrence of Indebtedness. (i) In thel
levent of any issuance or other incurrence of any Indebtedness (other than Permitted Indebtedness) by any Loan Party or any Subsidiary (other than a Subsidiary that constitutes an Excluded Subsidiary under clause (b) or (c) of such]

efinition, or any Excluded Mortgage Subsidiary), Bo of the Net Cash Proceed i i

e of , repay the Term Loan

ction 2.20(c) are received on account of assets that constituted Collateral, any replacement assets purchased

t by the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than a Subsidiary that constitutes an Excluded Subsidiary ui
such definition) of any Extraordinary Receipt not otherwise included in clauses (a) or (c) of this Section 2.20, the Borrower shall, repay the Advances in an amount equal to such Extraordinary Receipts, such repayments to be made|

ing a subsequent ECF Period unless, in connection with such prepayment,|
i Expenditures permi i
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ice gent an orrower no later than .M. one usiness Day prior to the repayment as specified in the relevant notice. Ea
Rejection NOIICe from a given Lender shal\ specify the principal amount of the mandatory prepayment of Term Loans to be re| ected b SLICh Lender. If a Lender fails to deliver a Rejection Notice to Administrative Agent within the time

Xisting Convertible Note: epurc or for general col rate urcl of Existing 2025 Convertible Notes or Existing 2027 Convertible Notes, in each ca: in a transaction ni a Permitted Existini
[Convertible Notes Repurchase). (b WIlhOLII \Imll\l’l the cenelallt of SECIIOI1 2 21 & above I'\Elthel' the Loan Pames nor an other Person which may in the future become party to thIS A reement or the Other Documents as a Loan Party,|
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p
ISection 2.22, Delayed Draw Term Loans shall be made pro rata from Delayed Draw Term Loan Lenders which are not Defaulting Lenders based on their respective Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment Percentages, and no Delaye

Draw Term Loan Commitment Percentage of any Delayed Draw Term Loan Lender or any pro rata share of any Delayed Draw Term Loans required to be advanced by any Delayed Draw Term Loan Lender shall be increased as a result of]

ny Delayed Draw Term Loan Lender being a Defaulting Lender. Amounts received in respect of principal of any type of Delayed Draw Term Loans shall be applied to reduce such type of Delayed Draw Term Loans of each Delayed Dra
n an ommitment Percentages;

payments received by Administrative Agent in respect of such Defaulting Lender’s Delayed Draw Term Loans for Defaulting Lender’s benefit, nor shall a Defaulting Lender be entitled to the sharing of an

judice any rights whi

Agent or any Lend
al, ints iStr

erest, fees or other Administrative Agent for
may be determined as follows: first, to th

Lender as a result of that Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligations under this Agreement; fifth, so long as no Default or Event of Default exists, to the payment of any amounts owing to Borrower as a result of any judgment of a court o
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Lender until such time as all Delayed Draw Term Loans are held by the]

er amounts paid or payable to a Defaulting Lender that are applied (or held) tol

tion 2.22(i). Any pa

ay amounts owed by a Defaulting Lender shall be deemed paid to and redirected by such Defaulting Lender, and each Lender irrevocably consents hereto. (h) If Borrower and Administrative Agent agree in writing in their sole discretion

lapplicable Term Loan Interest Rate b rovided otherwise in this Agreement, any Obligations (other than the Advances) that are not paid when due shall accrue interest at in respect off
any such Obligations owing to an r i i

the SOFR Reserve Percentagel
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Date (for the period ended on such date for which no payment has been received pursuant to clause (x) above). 3.3 [Reserved]. 3.4 Fee Letter. Borrower shall pay the amounts required to be paid in the Fee Letter in the manner and at the]

imes required by the Fee Letter. 3.5 Computation of Interest and Fees. (a) Interest and fees hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and for the actual number of days elapsed. If an
hereunder becomes due and payable on a day other than a Business Day, the due date thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day and interest thereon shall be payable at the applicable Contract Rate during such|
xtenswn b) If, as a result of an restatemenl of or other adjustment lo the financial stalemenls of the Borrower or for any other reason, the Borrower or the Lenders determine that (i EBITDA ES calculated by the Borrower as of an
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in al ase Borrower romptl ay Administrative Ag n its dema itio unt as will compensate Administrative Agent or such Lender for such additional cost or such reduction, as the ¢
ma be rowded that the foreulnc shall not apply to mcreased Costs Wh\Ch are reﬂected in the Term SOFR Rate as 1he case may be. Administrative Agent or such Lender shall certify the amount of such additional cost or reduced|

r or not having the force of law) of an! . central bank or comparabl
Administrative Agent or any Lender’s capital as a consequence of its obligations]
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elevant Governmental Bot certificate settin onable detail the basis and calculation of the amount of such payment or lial elivered to Borrower any Lender (with a copy to ministrative ent), or ministrative
lAgent on IlS own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error. (e Indemnmcanon by the Lenders Each Lender shall severally indemnify Administrative Agent, within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for (i
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ent. atus of Ler i) Any Lender that is ent tion from or reduction of with| ect to payments h ler or un Ot eliver to Borrower an
Administrative Agent, at the tlme or trmes leasonabl reuested b Borrower or Admlmstratlve Aent such roperl comleted and executed documentatlon reasonab\ re uested b Borrower or Admlmstratlve Agent as will permit such|

position of such Lender. iting the generality of the foregoing, in the event that Borrower is an erson shall de ministrative Ag rior to the date on|
hich such Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable reuest of Borrower or Admrnlstratlve Agent), two 2 dul completed and executed copies of IRS Form W-9 certifying tha

recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of Borrower or Administrative Agent), whichever of the followin
pplicable: (1) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of an income tax treaty to which the United States is a party (x) with respect to payments of interest under this}
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- 59- Agreement or any Other Document, two (2) duly completed and executed copies of IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E (as applicable) establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax; (2) two (2) duly]
lcompleted and executed copies of IRS Form W-8ECI; (3) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of the exemption for portfolio interest under Section 881(c) of the Code, (x) two (2) duly completed and executed copies of a
ertificate substantially in the form of Exhibit 3.10(g)-1 hereto to the effect that such Foreign Lender is not a “bank” within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, a “10 percent shareholder” of Borrower within the meaning of

[and Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.|
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unable to make or maintain Term SOFR Rate Loans as a result of a condition described in Section 2.2(h) hereof, (c) is a Defaulting Lender, or (d) denies any consent requested by the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 16.2(b
hereof that has the support of Required Lenders, Borrower may, within ninety (90) days of receipt of such demand, notice (or the occurrence of such other event causing Borrower to be required to pay such compensation or causing|
pplicable), or such Lender becoming a Defaulting Lender or denial of a reguest by Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 16.2(b) hereof, as the case may be, by notice in writing to the Administrative Agent
land such Affected Lender (i) request the Affected Lender to cooperate with Borrower in obtaining a replacement Lender satisfactory to Administrative Agent and Borrower (the “Replacement Lender); (i) request the non-Affected Lenders|
subject to approval by Administrative Agent in its good faith business judgment. If any satisfactory Replacement Lender shall be obtained, and/or if any one or more of the non-Affected Lenders shall agree to acquire and assume all of the]
|Affected Lender’s Advances Term Loan Commitment Percentages then such Affected Lender shall assign, in accordance with Section 16.3 hereof, all of its Advances, Term Loan Commitment Percentages and other rights and obligations]
under this Agreement and the Other Documents to such Replacement Lender or non-Affected Lenders, as the case may be, in exchange for p rincipal amount so assigned and all interest and fees accrued on the amount so
assigned, plus all other Obligations then due and payable to the Affected Lender (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any Prepayment Premium
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|- 61- 3.12 Alternate Rate of Interest. 3.12.1. Inability to Determine Rates. Subject to Section 3.12.3, if, on or prior to the first day of any Interest Period for any Term SOFR Rate Loan: (a) the Administrative Agent determines (whichj
[determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) that “Term SOFR Rate” cannot be determined pursuant to the definition thereof; or (b) the Required Lenders determine that for any reason in connection with an
request for a Term SOFR Rate Loan or a conversion thereto or a continuation thereof that Term SOFR Rate for any requested Interest Period with respect to a proposed Term SOFR Rate Loan does not adeguately and fairly reflect thej

determination. 3.12.2. lllegality. If any Lender determines that any Law has made it unlawful, or that any Governmental Authority has asserted that it is unlawful, for any Lender or its applicable lending office to make, maintain or fund
oans whose interest is determined by reference to SOFR, the Term SOFR Reference Rate, Term SOFR Rate, or to determine or charge interest based upon SOFR, the Term SOFR Reference Rate, Term SOFR Rate, then, upon notice]

up g repa p
interest rate on which Domestic Rate Loans shall, if necessary to avoid such illegality, be determined by the Administrative Agent without reference to clause (c) of the definition of “Alternate Base Rate"), on the last day of the Interest
Period therefor, if all affected Lenders may lawfully continue to maintain such Term SOFR Rate Loans to suc
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all interest payments will be payable on a monthly basis. (b) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes. In connection with the use, administration, adoption or implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Administrative Agent
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- 63- statement or publication of information announcing that any tenor of such Benchmark is not or will not be representative, then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of “Interest Period” (or any similar or analogous|
definition) for any Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such unavailable or non-representative tenor and (ii) if a tenor that was removed pursuant to clause (i) above either (A) is subsequently displayed on a screen or}

Base Rate. IV. COLLATERAL: GENERAL TERMS 4.1 Securit

Obligations, each Loan Party hereby assigns, pledges and grants to Admil

Administrative Agent's reasonable request shall take such actions as any Administrative Agent may reasonably request for the perfection of Administrative Agent’s securi

[Agent’s security interest in and Lien on the Collateral or to enable Administrative]
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iling of appropriate financing statements in the appropriate filing office under the Uniform Commercial Code and the recordation of the IP Security Agreement with the USPTO and the USCO, and the delivery to and continuing

or control by Administrative Agent in|
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0 (e:
correct and complete list of the legal names (to the knowledge of the applicable Loan Part and addresses of each warehouse at which Inventory of any Loan Party is stored as of the later of March 31, 2023 and as of the end of the mos{]
recent Test Period for which a Compliance Certificate is required to be delivered; none of the receipts received by any Loan Party from any warehouse states that the goods covered|
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- 66- thereby are to be delivered to bearer or to the order of a named Person or to a named Person and such named Person’s assigns; (i) Schedule 4.4(b)(iii) hereto sets forth a correct and complete list of (A) each place of business off

leach Loan Party (other than home offices for employees that work remotely) and (B) the chief executive office of each Loan Party; (iv) Schedule 4.4(b)(iv) hereto sets forth a correct and complete list of the location, by state and streef]

sales or other dispositions otherwise permitted in Section 7.1(b) hereof), assign, transfer, create or suffer to exist a Lien upon way except for (other than with respect to
tock) Permitted Encumbrances, any part of the Collateral. Each Loan Party shall defend Administrative Agent's interests in th ainst any and all Persons whatsoever. At any time following demand by Administrative Ag

sical form contained, including: labels, stationery, documents, instruments and advertising materials. If Administrative Agent exercises this right to take possession of the Collateral upon the occurrence of an Event of|

rs, forwarders, warehousers or others receiving or holding cash, checks, Inventon
Administrative Agent and/or subject to Administrative Agent’s order and if they shall come into any Loan Party’s possession, they, and each of them, shall be held by such Loan Party in trust as Administrative Agent' 3
[Loan Party will deliver them to Administrative Agent in their original form together with any necessary endorsement, promptly, and in any event within five (5) Business Days. The Loan Parties shall not change their chief executive office:

nd acco
Agent is unable to obtain any requested documents or information from the Loan Parties, Administrative Agent ma oan Parties reg

public accountants, all at the third party reasonable, documented expense of the Loan Parties; provided, that the Administrative Agent
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check or by wire transf

an sh Dominion Period, Administrative Agent
st in and Lien on, the Receivables to an i i r

with any of the Collateral, and

oice or bill of lading relating to any of the Receivables, drafts against Customers, assignments a
ing statements or any other documents or instruments reasonably deemed necessary or appro 1t to preserve, protect, or pe
[Collateral and to file same; (E) to receive, open and dispose of all mail addressed to any Loan Party at any post office box/lockbox maintained by Administrative Agent for Loan Parties or at ai
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|- 68- on any notice of Lien, assignment or satisfaction of Lien or similar document in connection with the Receivables; (M) to accept the return of goods represented by any of the Receivables; (N) to change the address for delivery of mail
©

lany damage resulting therefrom. (e) All cash, Receivables and other proceeds of Collateral shall be deposited by Loan Parties into and maintained in depository accounts at a Controlled Account Bank (“Controlled Accounts™
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lan arrangement with such Controlled Account Bank as may be acceptable to Administrative Agent. Each applicable Loan Party, Administrative Agent and each Controlled Account Bank shall enter into a deposit account control agreemen
in form and substance satisfactory to Administrative Agent that is sufficient to give Administrative Agent “control” (for purposes of Articles 8 and 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code) over such Controlled Accounts and which directs sucl

Controlled Account Bank to transfer such funds to appro| riate account(s) at Administrative A ent, upon delivery of written notice to such Contro\led Account Bank; rovided that no such notice shall be delivered unless a Cash Dominion|

Account Bank to waive any offset rights against the funds so deposited. Neither Administrative Agent nor any Lender assumes any responsibility for such blocked account arrangement, including any claim of accord and satisfaction of]

lequipment shall be maintained and preserved in all material respects. No Loan Party shall use or operate the equipment in violation, in any material respect, of any law, statute, ordinance, code, rule or regulation |
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land financing statements filed in connection with Permitted Encumbrances, no financing statement covering any of the Collateral or an
Collateral. (a) Each Loan Party has the right to transfer the Investment Property (other than Equity Interests in a Specified Loan Party) free of any Liens other than Permitted Encumbrances

[defend its title to the Investment Property against the claims of all Persons. Each Loan Party shall (i) ensure that each operating agreement, limited partnership agreement and any other similar agreement of such Loan Party (other than a

of such Loan Party arising thereunder, foreclosure of Administrative Agent's Lien and admission of any transferee as a member, limited partner or other applicable equity holder thereunder.
vestment Property includes securities or any other financial or other asset maintained in a securities account, cause the custodian with respect thereto to execute and deliver a notification and control agreement or other applical
greement reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent and in form reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent in order to perfect and protect the Administrative Agent's Lien in such Investment Property. (c) Except as set forth ir

or distributed
, by reclassification or otherwise, any certificates or instruments evidencing any such additional shares (or other
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Pledged Debt will be delivered to the Administrative Agent within five (5) Business Days and such Pledged Debt will be subject to this Agreement and a part of the Pledged Debt to the same extent as the original Pledged Debt. 4.14
Provisions Regarding Certain Investment Property Collateral. The operating agreement or limited partnership agreement (as applicable) of (i) each Loan Party in existence on the Closing Date and (i) each Loan Party and each Subsidian
limited partnership, shall contain the following language (or language to the same effect); provided, that such language shall only be required for the operating agreement of the entities in Section 4.14(i) to the extent such agreements are|
lamended after the Closing Date: “Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, no restriction upon any transfer of {Membership Interests} {Partnership Interests} set forth herein shall appl

Parties irrevocably authorize the Administrative Agent at any time and from time to time, and appoints the Administrative Agent as its attorney in fact (a) to file financing statements necessary or desirable in the Administrative Agent's solej

d enter into one or more agreements with the issuers of u each of the Loan Parties and which are Securities or with financial

holding other Investment Property which is Collateral as may be necessary or advisable to give the Administrative A r such Securities or other Investment Property; provided that any such issuer that is

Loan Party hereby agrees that upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, it shall comply with the Administrative Agent's instructions with respect to such uncertificated securities without further consent b
lequityholder thereof, (e) during the continuance of an Event of Default and after notice to the Borrower of its intent to exercise such rights to enforce payment of the Instruments, Accounts and other Receivables in the name of thej

IAdministrative Agent or the Loan Parties, (f) during the continuance of an Event of Default and after notice to the Borrower of its intent to exercise such rights to apply the proceeds of any Collateral received by the Administrative Agent to|

he Obligations in accordance with Section 11.5 hereof and (g) during the continuance of an Event of Default and after notice to the Borrower of its intent to exercise such rights to discharge past due taxes, assessments, char

Liens on the Collateral (except for such Liens permitted hereunder), and the Loan Parties agree to reimburse the Administrative Agent on demand for any payment made or any expense incurred by the Administrative Agent in connection|

the
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- 71- therewith, provided that this authorization shall not relieve the Loan Parties of any of its obligations under this Agreement. V. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Each Loan Party represents and warrants as follows: 5.]
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[Consent the failure of which to obtain would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, and (d) will not, in any material respect, conflict with, nor result in any breach in any of the|
provisions of or constitute a default under or result in the creation of any Lien except Permitted Encumbrances upon any asset of such Loan Party under the provisions of any agreement, instrument, or other document to which such Loar
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- 72- 5.3 Survival of Representations and Warranties. All representations and warranties of such Loan Party contained in this Agreement and the Other Documents to which it is a party shall be, unless otherwise specified herein, true af

overnmental charg
n each case of clause (a) an , other than any the amount or validity of which are currently being Proper
respects for all years not closed by applicable statutes, and for its current fiscal year, and no Loan Party has an

Agent and Lenders prior to the Closing Date, fairly present in all material respects the financial position of the Loan Parti and the results of their operations for such periods (subject, in the}

deliver
case of interim financial statements, to normal year-end audit adjustments and to the absence of footnotes). The unaudited consolidated balance sheets of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the 3 month period ended June 30, 2023

ember 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 and the related statements of income, and changes in cash flow for the periods ended on such dates, copies of which have been

consol

een the surviving corporatior
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collectivel referred to as “Releases”) of Hazardous Materia\s at, upon, under or migrating from or onto an Real Proper owned Ieased or occupied by an Loan Party or any Subsidiary for which any Loan Part or an Suhsidia has|

al Property, except for such underground storage tan ori t i s that are p ance with Envi ental Laws; (iii) the Re Propert er been use any Loan Party or an: [ 0S|
fHazarduus Materlals excet as authorlzed b} Enwronmenlal Laws and (iv) no Hazardous Matenals are manaed by an Loan Part or an Sub5|d|a on any Real Pro erty, exce tlnc such uanmles as are manag ed in accordanc
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lAgreement or any of the Other Documems or an of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or (b) that would have or reasonabl be exected to have a Material Adverse Effect (after giving effect to applicable insurance). (i) No}

e Effect. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.8(c h Pla om| e in ects with the applical rovisions of ERISA, the Co other A , each Sul
each member of the Control\ed Group has, Wlm respect to each Plan Olhel than [} Multlem loyer Plan), met all applicable minimum fLmdll’lC re UIfEmEmS under Sectlun 302 of ERISA and SECUOH 412 of the COdE in respect Df each Plan

ladmini ereof nor by the PBGC, and, to the knowledge of the Loan Parties, there is no se the PBGC to institute proceedings under Title IV of ER 0 terminate any Plan; (v) the current value o
lassets of each Plan equals or exceeds the resent value of the accrued benefits and other liabilities of such Plan and neither any Loan Party nor any Subsidiary or any member of the Controlled Group knows of any facts or circumstances|
hich would materially change the value of such assets (other than market changes) and accrued benefits and other liabilities; (vi) neither any Loan Party nor any Subsidiary or any member of the Controlled Group has breached any of
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legal and beneficial holder thereof as of the Closin Date, are as set forth on Schedule 5.23 hereto All of the Euwt Interests of each Loan Party and each Subsidiary have been duI and validly authorized and issued and are full
5 = -
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p
i there are no restric!\ons on the pledge or transfer of any of the Subsidiary Stock: (i) each Loan Party is the legal owner of the Inveslment Propert Collateral

may be disposed of ir
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Environmental Laws, except to the extent the failure to so comply with Environmental Laws or manage Hazardous Materials would not have or reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. (b) Conduct and complete all
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- 80- 6.11 Further Assurances. Borrower will, and will cause each of the other Loan Parties to, at any time upon the reasonable request of the Administrative Agent, execute or deliver to Administrative Agent any and all financing

that the Borrower shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide such control agreements as soon as commerciall

Jl
Administrative Agent in its sole discretion), solely to the extent that RedfinNow Borrower LLC constitutes a Subsidiary (and does not constitute an Immaterial Subsidary) at such time, cause RedfinNow Borrower LLC to expressly join ir
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, enter into any mer
to consolidate with or merge with it, except (i) any Loan Par

in the Ordinary]
the sale or other disposition of Mortgage Related Assets on arm’s length terms and in the Ordinary Course of Business, including to Permitted Warehouse Facility Lenders in connection with Permitte
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0 the extent required b or made pursuant to customav bu! /sell arrangements between the olm ventule arties set forth in joint venture arrangements and similar binding arrangements; (ix) dispositions of accounts receivable ir

m A
Lenders) except (a) guarantees by one or more Loan Party(s) of the Indebtedness or obligations of any other Loan Party(s) tol
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urchase its Equity Interests, or “net exercise” or “net share settle” warrants; (d) any Loan Party may redeem or otherwise cancel Equity Interests or rights in respect thereof granted to (or make payments on behalf of) directors, officers,

providers of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries pursuant to a right of repurchase set forth in any such stock option plans or other benefit plans or agreements in connection with a cessation of service

slide91

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 206/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

are not prohibited by the terms of thls Areemem. ii) payment by Loan Partles of d|V|dends and distributions ermmed under Sectlon 7.7 hereuf. iii) transactions set fonh on Schedule 7.10 hereto, in each case, as in effect on the Closm

land executes a Guarantor Security Agreement in favor of Administrative Agent and (i) the Administrative Agent shall have received all documents it may reasonably require to establish compliance with each of the foregoing conditions in|
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only to the property or assets securing such Indebtedness, (3) customary provisions in leases, subleases, licenses and other contracts restricting the grant of a security interest therein or the assignment thereof or the assets governed

in anyl
such case without (x) giving at least ten (10) days prior written notice of such intended change to Administrative Agent, (y) having received from Administrative Agent confirmation that it has taken all steps necessary for Administrative]

Group or the imposition of a Lien on the property of any Loan Party, any Subsidiary or any member of the Controlled Group pursuant to Sections 303(k) or 4068 of ERISA, (iv) incur, or permit any member of the Controlled Group to incur,
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lany Plan to fail to meet all minimum funding requirements under ERISA and the Code, without regard to any waivers or variances, or postpone or delay or allow any member of the Controlled Group to postpone or delay any funding

requirement with respect to any Plan, or (viii) cause, or permit any member of the Controlled Group to cause, a representation or warranty in Section 5.8(c) or Section 5.8(e) hereof to cease to be true and correct |
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[Existing 2025 Convertible Notes and Existing 2027 Convertible Notes, in each case, solely in the form of Qualified Equity Interests, and () pro rata prepayments of Permitted Pari Indebtedness. 7.18 Membership/Partnership Interests.

ncluding) the date of repurchase, in accordance with the terms of the Existing 2025 Convertible Notes Indenture (including Section 2.10 thereof) and (ii) not less than $72,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Apollo Existing 202

Convertible Notes Indenture (including Section 2.10]
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or other equivalent governing body, member or partner) of Borrower and such other Loan Party authorizing (x) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Notes and each Other Document to which Borrower and such|

urisdiction) dated not more than thirty (30) days prior to the Closing Date, issued by the Secretary of State or other appropriate official of each such jurisdiction; (g) Search Results. Administrative Agent and Lenders shall have received|

under law or reasonably requested by Administrative Agent or Lender to be filed, registered or recorded in order to create, in favor of Administrative Agent, a perfected security interest in or lien upon the Collateral shall have been properly]
filed, registered or recorded in each jurisdiction in which the filing, registration or recordation thereof is so required or reguested, and Administrative Agent and Lenders shall have received an acknowledgment copy, or other evidence)

atisfactory to it, of each such filing, registration or recordation and satisfactory evidence of the payment of any necessary fee, Tax or expense relating thereto:
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87- (i) Legal Opinions of Counsel to certain Loan Parties. Administrative Agent and Lenders shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to Administrative Agent and Lenders, the executed legal opinion of Fenwick & West

i
land which is deemed material or (B) which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and (i) no injunction, writ, restraining order or other order of any nature materially adverse to any Loan Party or the conduct of its]

failure to have such Consents or waivers would not have or reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect; (p) Representations and Warranties. Each of the representations and warranties]
made by any Loan Party in or pursuant to this Agreement, the Other Documents and any related agreements to which it is a party, and each of the representations and warranties contained in any certificate, document or financial or othe

Istatement furnished at any time under or in connection with this Agreement, the Othe
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[date of such Advance that the conditions contained in this subsection shall have been satisfied.
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respects with all applicable Environmental Laws, and to the extent any Loan Party is not in compliance with such Environmental Laws, such certificate shall set forth with specificity all areas of non-compliance and the proposed action|

[Complaint. () To the extent any Loan Party owns any Real Property, Borrower shall promptly forward to Administrative Agent copies of (i) any request for information, notification of potential liability, demand letter relating to potential

in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, the financial condition or operating Loan Party as of the date of such statements; (c) any funding deficiency which, if not corrected as provided in Section 4971 of the Code)
ould subject any Loan Party, any Subsidiary or any member of
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iscal year of the Loan Parties, (a) audited financial statements of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a Consolidated Basis for such fiscal year, including, but not limited to, (i) statements of income and stockholders’ equity and cash flo

Loan Parties on a Consolidated Basis from the beginning of such fiscal year to the end of such fiscal year and an unaudited balance sheet of the Loan Parties on a Consolidated Basis as at the end of such fiscal year, and (c) a completed|

dates required by Section 9.17 hereof). Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the obligations in Section 9.7 and Section 9.8 ma

D
other than any such exception or explanatory paragraph that is expressly solely with respec
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of any new office or place of business or any Loan Party’s closing of any existing office or place of business within thirty (30) days thereafter, and (b) promptly upon any Loan Party’s learning thereof, notice of an

labor dispute to which|
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lexpected to result in an Event of Default or have a Material Adverse Effect, and (b) any lapse or other termination of any Consent issued to any Loan Party by any Governmental Body or any other Person that is material to the operation of]
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the PBGC has instituted or will institute proceedings under Section 4042 of ERISA to terminate a Multiemployer Plan or (z) a Multiemployer Plan is subject to Section 432 of the Code or Section 305 of]

[Certificate with respect to the applicable fiscal quarter. Any such updated Schedules delivered by Loan Parties to Administrative Agent in accordance with this Section 9.17 shall automatically and immediately be deemed to amend an
delivered to Administrative Agent and attached to and made part of this Agreement and the Collateral Information Certificate, as applicable. X. EVENTS OF DEFAULT. The occurrence}
lof any one or more of the following events shall constitute an “Event of Default”: 10.1 Non . Fall to pay (a) when due, an' incil i premium, including the Prepayment Premium iff
applicable) in respect of the Obligations or any interest in respect of the Obligations (including without limitation pursuant to Section 2.9 hereof) or (b) any other fee, charge, amount or liability provided for herein or in any Other Document}
within three (3) Business Days after any such fee, charge, amount or liability becomes due in accordance with the terms hereof or
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repay or by required prepayment. 10.2 Breach of Representation. Except as provided in Section|
made or deemed made by any Loan Par Other Document or any related agreement or in any certificate, document or financial or other statement furnished at any time|

in any material respect on the date when made or deemed to have been made; 10.3 Financial Information. Failure by any Loan Party to furnish financiall
, assessment, injunction or attachment against

- 93- thereof, in each case whether at maturity, by reason of acceleration pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, by

10.16 hereof, any representation or warran
in connection herewith or therewith shall prove to have been incorrect or misleadin
information when due hereunder or, if no due date is specified herein, within ten (10) Business Days following a request therefor; 10.4 Judicial Actions. Issuance of a notice of Lien, le

any other Person to perform, keep or observe any term, provision, condition, covenant herein contained, or contained in any Other Document or any other agreement or arrangement, now or hereafter entered into between any Loan Pat

result of a failure of the Administrative Agent to act), any Section of Article VII, 9.1(b), 9.5(a), 9.7, 9.8, 9.12 and 9.15(c) hereof, or (c) failure or neglect of any Loan Party to perform, keep or observe any term, provision, condition ol

covenant, contained in Sections 4.2, and 4.8 (other than as a result of a failure of the Administra

any Loan Party or (ii) the receipt by Borrower of written notice of such failure or neglect from Administrative Agent or any Lender (provided that such ten (10) da

under any state, federal or foreign bankruptcy or receivership laws (as now or hereafter in effect), (€) be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent (including by entry of any order for relief in any involuntary bankruptcy or Insolvency Proceedin
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- 95- the obligation of Lenders to make Advances shall be deemed terminated, any other Event of Default and at any time thereafter, at the option of Administrative Agent or at the direction of Required Lenders, all Obligations (includin:

Imake Advances hereunder shall be suspended until such time as such Insolvency Proceeding shall be dismissed. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, Administrative Agent may, or at the direction of Required Lenders shall |

and all rights and remedies provided for herein, under the Other Documents, under the Uniform Commercial Code and at law or equit , including the right to foreclose the security interests granted herein and to

elivery, as Administrative Agent may elect. Except as to that part of the Collateral which is perishable or threatens to decline speedily in value or is of a type customarily sold on a recognized market, Administrative Agent shall give Loan|

obligated on Collateral or to remove Liens on or any adverse claims against Collateral; (iv) to exercise collection remedies against Customers and other Persons obligated on Collateral directly or through the use of collection agencies and
other collection specialists; (v) to advertise dispositions of Collateral through publications or media of general circulation, whether or not the Collateral is of a specialized nature; (vi) to]
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ortion of such Collateral; (vii) to hire one or more professional auctioneers to assist in the disposition

Collateral, whether or not the Collateral is of a specialized nature; (viii) to dispose of Collateral by utilizing internet sites that provide for the auction of assets of the types included in the Collateral or that have the reasonable capacity of
ldoing so, or that match buyers and sellers of assets; (ix) to dispose of assets in wholesale rather than retail markets; (x) to disclaim disposition warranties, such as title, possession or guiet enjoyment, (xi) to purchase insurance or credif

lappropriate by the Administrative Agent, to obtain the services of other brokers, investment bankers, consultants and other professionals to assist Administrative Agent in the collection or disposition of any of the Collateral. Each Loan}

Party acknowledges that the purpose of this Section 11.1(b) is to provide non-exhaustive indications of what actions or omissions by Administrative Agent would not be commercially unreasonable in Administrative Agent's exercise off

remedies against the Collateral and that other actions or omissions by Administrative Agent shall not be deemed commercially unreasonable solely on account of not being indicated in this Section 11.1(b). Without limitation upon the]

or any part of the Investment Property Collateral. Any such sale may be on cash or credit. Administrative Agent shall be authorized at any such sale (if it deems it advisable to do so) to restrict the prospective bidders or purchasers to

Investment Property Collateral for their own account, for investment and without a view to the distribution or resale thereof. Each Loan Party understands that private sales so made may be at prices and on other terms less favorable td
he seller than if the Investment Property Collateral were sold at public sales, and agrees that Administrative Agent has no obligation to delay or agree to delay the sale of any of the Investment Property Collateral for the period of time
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Default (A) Administrative Agent may transfer any or all of the Investment Property Collateral into its name or that of its nominee and may exercise all voting rights with respect to the Investment Property Collateral (and all such rights of]

and not alternative. 11.5 Allocation of Payments After Event of Default. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement to the contrary but subject to any other written agreements among the Administrative Agent and/or Lenders,
after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, all amounts collected or received by Administrative Agent on account of the Obligations, or in respect of the Collateral may, at Administrative Agent's discretion or,

hall at the direction of Required Lenders, be paid over or delivered as follows: FIRST, ratably to the payment of all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) of Administrative Agent in connection|

ith enforcing its rights and the rights of Lenders under this Agreement and the Other Documents or otherwise under or pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; SECOND, ratabl fees owed to Administrative Agent;
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- 99- THIRD, ratably to the payment of all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) of each of the Lenders to the extent owing to such Lender pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; FOURTH,
ratably to the payment of all Obligations consisting of accrued fees and interest; FIFTH, ratably to the payment of the outstanding principal amount of the Obligations (including any premium amounts, including the Prepayment Premium);
SIXTH, ratably to all other Obligations which shall have become due and payable (hereunder, under the Other Documents or otherwise) and not repaid pursuant to clauses “FIRST” through “FIFTH” above; and SEVENTH, to the payment]

respect to payments and/or the proceeds of Collateral from Borrower and/or Guarantors that are Eligible Contract Participants with respect to such Swap Obligations to preserve the allocation to Obligations otherwise set forth above in this|
Section 11.5. XII. WAIVERS AND JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS. 12.1 Waiver of Notice. Each Loan Party hereby waives notice of non-payment of any of the Receivables, demand, presentment, protest and notice thereof with respect to an:

land all instruments, notice of acceptance hereof, notice of loans or advances made, credit extended, Collateral received or delivered, or any other action taken in reliance hereon, and all other demands and notices of an
lexcept such as are expressly provided for herein. 12.2 Delay. No delay or omission on Administrative Agent's or any Lender’s part in exercising any right, remedy or option shall operate as a waiver of such or any other right, remedy o
option or of any Default or Event of Default. 12.3 Jury Waiver. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, COUNTERCLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSH]

[OF ACTION (A) ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER DOCUMENT OR ANY OTHER INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT EXECUTED OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH, OR (B) IN ANY WA
ICONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES HERETO OR ANY OF THEM WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER DOCUMENT OR ANY OTHER INSTRUMENT
DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT EXECUTED OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH, OR THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED HERETO OR THERETO IN EACH CASE]
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- 100- WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE AND EACH PARTY HEREBY CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM, COUNTERCLAIM|
DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE DECIDED BY COURT TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY, AND THAT ANY PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS SECTION|

(WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENTS OF THE PARTIES HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY. XIIl. EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERMINATION. 13.1 Term. This Agreement,
hich shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the respective successors and permitted assigns of each Loan Party, Administrative Agent and each Lender, shall become effective on the Closin

Date (subject to Section|

otherwise outstanding prior to or as of the effective date of such termination or any Obligations which pursuant to the terms hereof continue to accrue after such date, and the provisions hereof shall continue to be fully operative until (a) all
ransactions entered into, rights or interests created and Obligations have been fully and indefeasibly paid, disposed of, concluded or liquidated in cash, and (b) all Loan Parties have released Secured Parties from and against any and all

Loan Party may have against Secured Parties. The security interests, Liens and rights granted to Agent and Lenders hereunder and the financing statements filed hereunder shall continue in full
have been Paid in Full

claims of any nature whatsoever that an
[force and effect, notwithstanding the termination of this Agreement or the fact that Borrower’s Account may from time to time be temporarily in a zero or credit position, until all of the Obligations of each Loan Pau
after the termination of this Agreement or each Loan Party has furnished Administrative Agent and Lenders with an indemnification satisfactory to Administrative Agent with respect thereto. Accordingl
hich it may have under the Uniform Commercial Code to demand the filing of termination statements with respect to the Collateral, and Administrative Agent shall not be required to send such termination statements to each Loan Part
or to file them with any filing office, unless and until this Agreement shall have been terminated in accordance with its terms and all Obligations have been Paid in Full. All representations, warranties, covenants, waivers and agreements|
contained herein shall survive termination hereof until all Obligations are Paid in Full. XIV. REGARDING ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND ARRANGER. 14.1 Appointment. Each Lender hereby designates Apollo Administrative Agency LLC]

to act as Administrative Agent for such Lender under this Agreement and the Other Documents. Each Lender hereby irrevocably authorizes Administrative Agent to take such action on its behalf under the provisions of this Agreement and
he Other Documents and to exercise such powers and to perform such duties hereunder and thereunder as are specifically delegated to or required of the Administrative Agent by the terms hereof and thereof and such other powers a]
b B
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p
he Other Documents or in an!

certificate, report, statement or other document referred to or provided for in, or received by Administrative Agent under or in connection with, this Agreement or any of the Other Documents or for the value |
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under any obligation to any Lender to ascertain or to inquire as to the observance or performance of any of the agreements contained in, or conditions of, this Agreement or any of the Other Documents, or to inspect the properties, books]

esponsibility, either initially or on a continuing basis, to provide any Lender with any credit or other information with respect thereto, whether coming into its possession before making of the Advances or at any time or times thereatte

contemplated hereby in that such Person or an Affiliate thereof (i) may receive interest or other payments with respect to the Loans, the Term Loan Commitments and this Agreement, (ii) may recognize a gain if it extended the Loans ot
fhe Term Loan
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- 102- Commitments for an amount less than the amount being paid for an interest in the Loans or the Term Loan Commitments by such Lender or (iii) may receive fees or other payments in connection with the transactions contemplated|

‘ees, minimum usage fees, letter of credit fees, fronting fees, deal- away or alternate transaction fees, amendment fees, processing fees, term out premiums, banker’s acceptance fees, breakage or other early termination fees or feeg

resignation (or removal) as Administrative Agent the provisions of this Article XIV, and any indemnification rights under this Agreement, including without limitation, rights arising under Section 16.5 hereof, shall inure to its benefit as to any
lactions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Administrative Agent under this Agreement (and in the event resigning (or removed) Administrative Agent continues to hold an ursuant to the provisions of the immediately]
receding sentence, the provisions of this Article XIV and any indemnification rights under this Agreement, including without limitation, rights arising under Section 16.5 hereof, shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to]
it in connection with such Liens). 14.5 Certain Rights of Administrative Agent. If Administrative Agent shall request instructions from Lenders with respect to any act or action (including failure to act) in connection with this
Agreement or any Other Document, the Administrative Agent shall be entitled to refrain from such act or taking such action unless and until the Administrative Agent shall have received instructions from Required Lenders; an
reason of so refraining. Without limiting the foregoing, Lenders shall not have any right of action whatsoever against the Administrative Agent as a result of its acting o
refraining from acting hereunder in accordance with the instructions of Required Lenders.
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103- 14.6 Reliance. Administrative Agent shall be entitled to rely, and shall be full i ing, resolution, notice, statement, certificate, email, facsimile, telex, teletype or telecopier message, cablegram.

damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against Administrative Agent in performing its duties hereunder, or in|

p
0 Lenders. 14.10 Delivery of Documents. (&) To the extent Administrative Agent receives financial statements required under Sections 9.7, 9.8, 9.12 and 9.13 hereof from any Loan Party pursuant to the terms of this Agreement (together

jwith any other materials or information provided by or on behalf of any Loan Party hereunder, collectively, the “Borrower Materials™) which any Loan Party is not obligated to deliver to each Lender, Administrative Agent will promptly furnish

lsuch documents and information to Lenders. (b) The Borrower hereby acknowledges that (a) the Administrative Agent may make the Borrower Materials available to the Lenders by posting the Borrower Materials on IntraLinks, SyndTrak |
ClearPar or other electronic system (the “Platform”) and (b) certain of the Lenders may havel
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104- personnel who do not wish to receive any information with respect to the Borrower or its Subsidiaries or their respective securities that is not Public-Side Information, and who may be engaged in investment and other market-relate:
activities with respect to such Person’s securities (each, a “Public Lender”). (c) The Borrower hereby agrees that (a) at the Administrative Agent's request, all Borrower Materials that are to be made available to Public Lenders will be]

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower shall be under no obligation to mark the Borrower Materials “PUBLIC.” 14.11 Loan Parties Undertaking to Administrative Agent. Without prejudice to their respective obligations to Lenders|
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for the account of Lenders or the relevant one or more of them pursuant to this Agreement. 14.12 No Reliance on Administrative Agent's Customer Identification Program. To the extent the Advances or this Agreement is, or becomes,
jsyndicated in cooperation with other Lenders, each Lender acknowledges and agrees that neither such Lender, nor any of its Affiliates, participants or assignees, may rely on Administrative Agent to carry out such Lender’s, Affiliate’s)

upon the request of Administrative Agent, set off against the Obligations, any amounts owing by such Lender to any Loan Party or any deposit accounts of any Loan Party now or hereafter maintained with such Lender. Anything in thig

the Other Documents, it being the intent of Lenders that any such action to protect or enforce rights under this Agreement and the Other Documents shall be taken in concert and at the direction or with the consent of Administrative Agen
or Required Lenders. 14.14 Erroneous Payments. (a) If the Administrative Agent notifies a Lender or other Secured Party, or any Person who has received funds on behalf of a Lender or Secured Party (any such Lender, Secured Party ot

other]
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p b
Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) is not recovered by the Administrative Agent for any reason, after demand therefor by the Administrative Agent in accordance with immediately preceding clause (a), from any Lender or Paymen{]
Recipient that has received such Erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) (and/or from any Payment Recipient who received such Erroneous]

slide114

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 236/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

that the Administrative Agent has sold any Advance (or portion thereof) acquired pursuant to an Erroneous Payment Deficiency Assignment, and irrespective of whether the Administrative Agent may be equitably subrogated, the]

based on “discharge for value” or any similar doctrine.|
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Loan Commitments, (ii) that is sold or otherwise disposed of or to be sold or otherwise disposed of to a Person that is not a Loan Party as part of or in connection with any sale or other Disposition permitted pursuant to the terms of this

collectability of the Collateral, the existence, priority or perfection of the Administrative Agent’s Lien thereon, or any notice prepared by any Loan Party in connection therewith, nor shall the Administrative Agent be responsible or liable to
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to the Administrative Agent for its own account, a completed and duly executed IRS Form W-8ECI (or other applicable IRS Form W-8), and (i) with respect to payments made to the Administrative Agent on behalf of the Lenders)|
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Administrative Agent shall be permitted to perform any and all of its duties and to exercise its rights and powers hereunder or under any Other Document (including its rights to receive payments hereunder or under any Other Document]

contemplated hereby (including in connection with any amendment, waiver or other modification hereof or of any Other Document), each of the Loan Parties acknowledges and agrees that (a) (i) the arranging and other services regardin

sign and endorse notes, (iv) execute an
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g
EXPRESSLY PROVIDED OTHERWISE IN ANY SUCH OTHER DOCUMENT), AND ALL MATTERS RELATING HERETO OR THERETO OR ARISING HEREFROM OR THEREFROM (WHETHER ARISING UNDER CONTRACT LAW,
[TORT LAW OR OTHERWISE) SHALL, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 5-1401 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE]

Administrative Agent for the purpose of accepting service within the State of New York. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve process in any manner permitted by law or shall limit the right of Administrative Agent or any Lender tg
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g
Agreement, the Other Documents and the documents executed concurrently herewith contain the entire understanding between each Loan Party, Administrative Agent and each Lender and supersedes all prior agreements and|

Borrower and each Lender (which copy may be provided by electronic mail). Each Loan Party acknowledges that it has been advised by counsel in connection with the execution of this Agreement and Other Documents and is not relyin

date of any mandatory prepayment of an Advance), or any fee payable to any Lender, or reduce the
Lender, without the consent of each Lender directl:
Obligations owed or owing t

rincipal amount (including any premium thereon) of or the rate of interest borne by any Advances or reduce any fee payable to anyj
except that (i) the Required Initial Term Loan Lenders may elect to waive or rescind any imposition of the Default Rate under Section 3.1 hereof with respect to]
e Required Initial Term Loan Lenders and (i) the Required Delayed Draw Term Loan Lenders may elect to waive or rescind any imposition of the Default Rate under Section 3.1 hereof with respect to
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[Obligations owed or owing to the Required Delayed Draw Term Loan Lenders (unless, in each case, imposed by Administrative Agent)); (iii) alter the definitions of “Prepayment Premium”, “Prepayment Premium Trigger Event” or Sections]

2.20(f) or (g) hereof without the consent of all Lenders affected thereb
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| 111- (iv) alter the definition of the term “Required Lenders”, “Reqguired Initial Term Loan Lenders”, “Required Delayed Draw Term Loan Lenders”, or any other provision of this Agreement or any Other Document specifying the number or

class) required to waive, amend or modify any rights thereunder to make any determination or grant any consent thereunder, without the written consent of each Lender (or each Lender of such|
class, as the case may be); (v) alter, amend or modify the provisions of the last sentence of Section 2.8(b) hereof, Section 11.5 hereof or this Section 16.2 without the consent of all Lenders; (vi) release all or substantially all of the]

[New Lenders. (a) This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Loan Parties, Administrative Agent, each Lender, all future holders of the Obligations and their respective successors}
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- 112- and assigns, except that no Loan Party may assign or transfer any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of Administrative Agent and each Lender. (b) Each Loan Party acknowledges that]
in the regular course of commercial banking business one or more Lenders may at any time and from time to time sell participating interests in the Advances, its commitments or other interests hereunder to other Persons (excluding an:

of Administrative Agent (other than in respect of Permitted Assignees), may sell, assign or transfer all or any part of its rights and obligations under or relating to Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitments and/or Term Loans under this|

from the purchase by such Purchasing Lender of all or a portion of the rights and obligations of such transferor Lender under this Agreement and the Other Documents. Each Loan Party hereby consents to the addition of such Purchasin
Lender and the resulting adjustment of the Term Loan Commitment Percentages arising from the purchase by such|
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- 113- Purchasing Lender of all or a portion of the rights and obligations of such transferor Lender under this Agreement and the Other Documents. Loan Parties shall execute and deliver such further documents and do such further acts|

be maintained in registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) or Proposed Section 1.163-5(b) (or, in each case, any amended or successor sections) of the United States Treasury Regulations. Administrative Agent shall receive a fee in the

Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each Participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each Participant’s interest in the Advances o
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ap pp pay appli
other applicable provisions set forth in this Agreement and any applicable agreement among the Lenders with respect thereto. To the extent that any Loan Party makes a payment or Administrative Agent or any Lender receives anyj
ayment or proceeds of the Collateral for any Loan Party’s benefit, which are subsequently invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or preferential, set aside or required to be repaid to a trustee, debtor in possession, receiver, custodian o

)
erceived conflict of interest, one outside counsel to all similarly affected Indemnified Parties taken as a whole in each applicable jurisdiction, in each case, excluding allocated costs of in-house counsel) (collectively, “Claims”) which may]
be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against any Indemnified Parf
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negotiation, execution, delivery or administration of the Agreement and the Other Documents, the credit facilities established hereunder and thereunder and/or the transactions contemplated hereby including the Transactions, (iii) any}
Loan Party’s failure to observe, perform or discharge any of its covenants, obligations, agreements or duties under or breach of any of the representations or warranties made in this Agreement and the Other Documents, (iv) the|

have resulted from (i) its gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct, or (i) a material breach of the express obligations of such Indemnified Party under this Agreement or the Other Documents or (b) arising out of or in connectior

J
as taken or threatened any action in connection with the presence of any Hazardous Materials, in each such case except to the extent that any of the foregoing arises out of the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of the}

applicable to solid or hazardous waste materials, including Hazardous Materials and Hazardous Waste, or other Toxic Substances. This Section 16.5 shall not apply with respect to Taxes other than Taxes that represent losses, claims|

[damages, etc. arising from any non-Tax claim. 16.6 Notice. Any notice or request hereunder may be given to Borrower or any Loan Party or to Administrative Agent or any Lender at their respective addresses set forth below or at such|

be given to or made upon any party hereto under any provision of this Agreement shall be]
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Lenders of its receipt of such Notice. (A) If to Administrative Agent at: Apollo Administrative Agency LLC 9 West 57th Street New York, NY 10019 Attention: Daniel Duval Email: Dduval@apollo.com; ApolloAgency@Alterdomus.com;]

Legal Agency@Alterdomus.com with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to]
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- 117- Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP 450 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10017 Attention: Nicholas Palumbo and Zachary Frimet Email: nicholas.palumbo@davispolk.com; zachary.frimet@davispolk.com (B) If to a Lender other than|
Administrative Agent, as specified on the signature pages hereof or otherwise as set forth in an administrative questionnaire delivered by a Lender to the Administrative Agent. (C) If to Borrower or any other Loan Party: Redfin Corporation|
to: Fenwick & West LLP 401 Union St., 5th Floor Seattle, WA 98101 Attention: Alan C. Smith|

1099 Stewart Street, Suite 600 Seattle, WA 98101 Attention: Chris Nielsen, Chief Financial Officer Email: chris.nielsen@redfin.com with a cop
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disburseme
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- 118- of outside counsel but limited in the case of any fee, expense and disbursement to () in the case of the Administrative Agent, the Arranger and the Lenders, one firm of primary counsel, (b) one firm of local counsel in each materiall
jurisdiction, and (c) in the case of an actual or reasonably perceived conflict of interest, one outside counsel to all similarly affected Persons taken as a whole in each applicable jurisdiction, in each case, excluding allocated costs of in-}
lhouse counsel), in connection with the enforcement or protection of its rights (A) in connection with this Agreement and the Other Documents, including its rights under this Section, or (B) in connection with the Advances made hereunder,)

therefor, Administrative Agent, if Administrative Agent so requests, shall be entitled to temporary and permanent injunctive relief in any such case. 16.11 Consequential Damages. Neither Administrative Agent, any Agent Party nor anyj

as a manually executed signature or the

Agreement in accordance with Administrative Agent's, such Lender’s and such Transferee’s customary procedures for handling confidential information of this nature; provided, however, Administrative Agent, each Lender and each)|
Transferee may disclose such confidential information (a) to its Affiliates and each of its and their respective agents, employees, directors, officers,|
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119- advisors, representatives, attorneys, auditors, examiners, consultants, other professional advisors, equit artners, controlling persons, actual and prospective investors and financing sources and portfolio management
servicers; provided, that such disclosure is made on a need to know and confidential basis to such Persons, (b) to Administrative Agent, any Lender or to any prospective Transferees, and (c) as required or requested by any}
licable Law, Administrative Agent, each Lender and each Transferee shall use its reasonable besf]
efforts prior to disclosure thereof, to notify the applicable Loan Party of the applicable request for disclosure of such non-public information (A) by a Governmental Body or representative thereof (other than any such request in connection|

g
ransactions contemplated by this Agreement using such Loan Party’s name, product photographs, logo or trademark; provided that any such material shall be provided to the Borrower for its review a reasonable period of time in advance]
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A J
of its assets in a Sanctioned Country or in the possession, custody or control of a Sanctioned Person in violation of any Anti-Terrorism Law; (B) does business in or with, or derives any of its income from investments in or transactions with,

, p
[To the extent applicable, each Loan Party has implemented and shall continue to maintain in effect and enforce, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that each of its Subsidiaries continues to maintain in effect and|
lenforce, policies and procedures designed to promote and achieve compliance by such Loan Party and its Subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers and employees with applicable Anti-Terrorism Laws. (c) Each Loan Party]

represents and warrants that, if Borrower or an idi ualifies as a legal entity customer under the Beneficial Ownership Regulations, the Certificate of Beneficial Ownership therefor executed and delivered to Administrative Agent
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and Lenders on or prior to the Closing Date, as updated from time to time in accordance with this Agreement, is accurate, complete and correct as of the Closing Date and as of the date any such update is delivered. Each Loan Party]
cknowledges and agrees that the Certificate of Beneficial Ownership is one of the Other Documents. (d) The Loan Parties shall provide to Administrative Agent and Lenders: (i) confirmation of the accuracy of the information set forth inf

the most recent Certificate of Beneficial Ownership, il provided to Administrative Agent and Lenders; (ii) if applicable, a new Certificate of Beneficial Ownership when the individual(s) to be identified as a Beneficial Owner have}
changed:; and (iii) such other information and documentation as may reasonably be requested by Administrative Agent or any Lender from time to time for purposes of compliance by Administrative Agent or such Lender with A}
Laws (including without limitation the USA PATRIOT Act and other “know your customer”
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full or in part or cancellation of any}
Isuch liability; (i) a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other instruments of ownership in such EEA Financial Institution, its parent undertaking, or a bridge institution that may be issued to it or otherwise conferred|

Resolution Regimes”) in respect of such Supported QFC and QFC Credit Support (with the provisions below applicable notwithstanding that this Agreement, the Other Documents and any Supported QFC may in fact be stated to be
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pp e) "0 g assig q c)(8)(D: E)
[PLATFORM IS PROVIDED “AS IS” AND “AS AVAILABLE.” THE AGENT PARTIES DO NOT WARRANT THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE BORROWER MATERIALS OR THE ADEQUACY OF THE PLATFORM, AND)
ICONNECTION WITH THE BORROWER MATERIALS OR THE PLATFORM. In no event shall any Agent Party have any liability to the Borrower, any Lender or any other Person for losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses of any]
kind (whether in tort, contract or otherwise) arising out of the Borrower's or the Administrative Agent's transmission of Borrower Materials through the Internet, except to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or expenses|
lare determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by a final and non-appealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Agent Party;

rovided, however, that in no event shall an
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- 123- (b) Each Public Lender agrees to cause at least one individual at or on behalf of such Public Lender to at all times have selected the “Private-Side Information” or similar designation on the content declaration screen of the Platform|

in order to enable such Public Lender or its delegate, in accordance with such Public Lender’s compliance procedures and applicable Law, including United States Federal and state securities Laws, to make reference to Borrowel

ue, whether at maturity, by acceleration, by notice of
be effective to the ext
payment made by any Guarantor pursuant to this Guaranty shall be made in lawful money of the United States in immediately available funds. 17.2 Waivers. Each Guarantor hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably waives (i

Document or any other agreement or instrument relating thereto, or of all or any part of the Obligations or of any collateral security therefor shall affect, impair or be a defense hereunder. 17.4 Guaranty of Payment. The Guaranty]

rosecuted against any Guarantor to enforce the terms and conditions of this Article XVII, irrespective of whether any action is brought against any other Loan Party or other Persons or whether any other Loan Party or other Persons are]

roceeding by Administrative Agent against any Loan Party under any document evidencing or securing indebtedness of any Loan Party to Administrative Agent shall diminish the liability of any Guarantor hereunder, except to the]
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including, without limitation, any claim of waiver, release, surrender, alteration or compromise, and shall not be subject to any claim, defense or setoff, counterclaim, recoupment or termination whatsoever by reason of the invalidity,

Lien, or any]
lamendment or waiver of or consent to departure from any other guaranty for all or any of the Obligations; (c) the failure of Administrative Agent or any Lender to assert any claim or demand or to enforce any right or remedy against anyj

the obligations of any Guarantor, or a defense to, or discharge of, any]
or any other Person or party hereto or the Obligations or otherwise with respect to the Advances or other financial accommodations to Loan Parties pursuant to this Agreement and/or the Other Documents. 17.6 Waiver of]
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- 125- challenge or question any of the above and waives any defenses of such Guarantor which might arise as a result of such actions. 17.7 Administrative Agent's Discretion. Administrative Agent may at any time and from time to time|
(whether prior to or after the revocation or termination of this Agreement) without the consent of, or notice to, any Guarantor, and without incurring responsibility to any Guarantor or impairing or releasing the Obligations, apply any sums|
by whomsoever paid or howsoever realized to any Obligations regardless of what Obligations remain unpaid. 17.8 Reinstatement. (a) The Guaranty provisions herein contained shall continue to be effective or be reinstated, as the case

Imay be, if claim is ever made upon Administrative Agent or any Lender for repayment or recovery of any amount or amounts received by such Person in payment or on account of any of the Obligations and such Person repays all or

Party shall be held by such Guarantor as agent and trustee for Administrative Agent. This assignment, postponement
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|- 126- and subordination shall only terminate when the Obligations are Paid in Full and this Agreement is irrevocably terminated. (f) Each Loan Party acknowledges this assignment, postponement and subordination and, except as|
otherwise set forth herein, agrees to make no payments to any Guarantor without the prior written consent of Administrative Agent. Each Loan Party agrees to give full effect to the provisions hereof. () Notwithstanding any other
hereof, the right of recovery against each Guarantor under the Guaranty shall be limited to the maximum amount that can be guaranteed by such Guarantor without rendering such Guarantor's obligations hereunder void or voidable unde:

applicable law, including, without limitation, the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act, Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act or any similar foreign, federal or state law. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the foregoing limitation shall
be for the benefit solely of the Secured Parties and not for the benefit of such Guarantor or the holders of any equity interest in such Guarantor. [signature pages follows!
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Signature Page to Term Loan and Security Agreement] Each of the parties has signed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written. BORROWER: REDFIN CORPORATION, as Borrower By: Name: Chris Nielsen Title: Chief]
Financial Officer GUARANTORS: RENT GROUP INC., as a Guarantor By: Name: Jonathan Ziglar Title: Chief Executive Officer REDFIN HOME SERVICES LLC, as a Guarantor By: Name: Chris Nielsen Title: Treasurer FORWARD]

ISETTLEMENT SOLUTIONS OF TEXAS, LLC, as a Guarantor DocuSign Envelope ID: DF3F9A2A-F4B7-4822-AD2C-F76E1ECDOF16]
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Signature Page to Term Loan and Security Agreement] Each of the parties has signed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written. BORROWER: REDFIN CORPORATION, as Borrower By: Name: Chris Nielsen Title: Chief]

Financial Officer GUARANTORS: RENT GROUP INC., as a Guarantor By: Name: Jonathan Ziglar Title: Chief Executive Officer REDFIN HOME SERVICES LLC, as a Guarantor By: Name: Chris Nielsen Title: Treasurer FORWARD]

ETTLEMENT SOLUTIONS OF TEXAS, LLC, as a Guarantor DocuSign Envelope ID: EEO3FB7B-4BBF-4DA8-9045-4B42FOBEABO!
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Signature Page to Term Loan and Security Agreement] By: Name: Chris Nielsen Title: Chief Financial Officer TITLE FORWARD AGENCY OF ARIZONA, LLC, as a Guarantor By: Name: Chris Nielsen Title: Chief Financial Officel

DocuSign Envelope ID: DF3F9A2A-F4B7-4822-AD2C-F76E1ECDOF16
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Signature Page to Term Loan and Security Agreement] AGENT: APOLLO ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY LLC, as Administrative Agent By: Name: Title]
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Signature Page to Term Loan and Security Agreement] AGENT: APOLLO ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY LLC, as Administrative Agent By: Name: Title: Daniel M. Duval Vice President]
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Signature Page to Term Loan and Security Agreement] LENDERS: LOAN ORIGINATION A COMPARTMENT OF ATHORA LUX INVEST S.C.SP., as a Lender By: Apollo Management International LLP, its portfolio manager By: AMI|
Holdings), LLC, its member By: Name: Title: ATHORA LUX INVEST NL LARGE CAP DIRECT LENDING, as Administrative Agent By: Apollo Management International LLP, its portfolio manager By: AMI (Holdings), LLC, its member By:|

Name: Title: APOLLO DEBT SOLUTIONS BDC, as Administrative Agent By: Name: Title: APOLLO DIVERSIFIED CREDIT FUND, as Administrative Agent By: Name: Title: William B. Kuesel Vice President William B. Kuesel Vice}

President Kristin Hester Chief Legal Officer Kristin Hester Chief Legal Officel
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Agreement] APOLLO TACTICAL INCOME FUND INC., as Administrative Agent By: Name: Title: APOLLO SENIOR)
FLOATING RATE FUND INC., as Administrative Agent By: Name: Title: APOLLO ACCORD+ AGGREGATOR B, L.P., as Administrative Agent By: Apollo Accord+ Advisors, L.P., its general partner By: Apollo Accord+ Advisors GP, LLC, its]

general partner By: Name: Title: APOLLO DEFINED RETURN AGGREGATOR B, L.P., as Administrative Agent By: Apollo Defined Return Advisors, L.P,, its general partner By: Apollo Defined Return Advisors GP, LLC, its general partne
By: Name: Title: William B. Kuesel Vice President William B. Kuesel Vice President]
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greement] APOLLO EXCELSIOR CO-INVE

By: Name: Title: William B. Kuesel Vice President]
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of Default, its nature, when it occurred, whether it is continuing and the steps being taken by the Loan Parties with respect to such Default or Event of Default). Capitalized terms used in this Compliance Certificate and not otherwise
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Credit Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, the undersigned certifies in his or her capacity as [President][Chief Financial Officer][Head of Finance][Controller] of t
Borrower and not individually that the Loan Parties are in compliance with the requirements or restrictions imposed by Sections 6.5 and Article VIl of the Credit Agreement, except as may be set forth below, and attached hereto a:

=
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Property) and 5.23 (Equity Interests’
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E-3 SCHEDULE A TO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE Calculations
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E-4 EXHIBIT | TO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE Supplemental Information Certificate (see attached
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E-5 EXHIBIT Il TO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE Updates to Schedules
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-6 EXHIBIT |Il TO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE EBI see attached
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E-7 EXHIBIT IV TO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE Excess Cash Flow (see attached)
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Initial Term Loan Note is fully paid, at the rate or rates from time to time in effect under the Credit Agreement, provided, however, that the entire unpaid principal balance of this Initial Term Loan Note shall be due and payable in full at the

lamong other things, contains provisions for the acceleration of the maturity hereof upon the happening of certain events, for optional and mandatory prepayments of the principal hereof prior to the maturity hereof and for the amendment]

or waiver of certain terms and conditions therein specified. THIS INITIAL TERM LOAN NOTE, AND ALL MATTERS RELATING HERETO OR ARISING HEREFROM (WHETHER ARISING UNDER CONTRACT LAW, TORT LAW OR

O
IS

]

THERWISE), SHALL, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 5-1401 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE]

TATE OF NEW YORK. BORROWER HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, COUNTERCLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION (A) ARISING UNDER THIS INITIAL TERM|
LOAN NOTE, ANY OTHER DOCUMENT OR AN
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MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS SECTION WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENTS OF BORROWER HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY]

Signatures to Follow on Separate Page
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OF, the undersigned have executed this Initial Term i i i 0 be legally bound hereby. REDFIN CORPORATION By: Name:
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OR ARISING HEREFROM (WHETHER ARISING UNDER CONTRACT LAW, TORT LAW OR OTHERWISE), SHALL, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 5-1401 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW|
[YORK, BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK]}

slide154

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 285/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

[THE DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES HERETO OR ANY OF THEM WITH RESPECT TO THIS DELAYED DRAW TERM LOAN NOTE, ANY OTHER DOCUMENT OR ANY OTHER INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT]

RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY. [Signatures to Follow on Separate Page

JURY, AND THAT BORROWER MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS SECTION WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENTS OF BORROWER HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF ITS]|

I=
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E-13 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Delayed Draw Term Loan Note the day and year first written above intending to be legally bound hereby. REDFIN CORPORATION By: Nal
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currently effective certificate in either the calendar year in which each payment is to be made to the undersigned, or in either of the two calendar years preceding such payments. Unless otherwise defined herein, terms defined in thej

[Credit Agreement and used herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement. [NAME OF LENDER] By: Name: Title: Date: , 20|
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PARTICIPANT] B lame: Title: Date:
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rovisions of Section 3.10 of the Credit Agreement, the undersigned hereby certifies that (i) it is the sole record and|
ii) its direct or indirect partners/members are the sole beneficial owners of such participation, (iii) with respect such participation, neither the undersigne:

such payments. Unless otherwise defined herein, terms defined in the Credit Agreement and used herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement|
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el
ayments. Unless otherwise defined herein, terms defined in the Credit Agreement and used herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement|
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E-19 [NAME OF LENDER] By: Name: Title: Date:, 20|
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cations and exclusive licenses to registered Copyrights set forth in Schedule C hereto right Collateral”); d. all reissues, divisions, continuations, continuation: art, extensions, renewals an
; e. all rights in the foregoing corresponding thereto throughout the world and all other rights of any kind whatsoever of such Grantor accruing thereunder or pertaining thereto; f. any and all claims fol
[damages or injunctive relief for past, present and future infringement, dilution, misap ation, violation, misuse or breach with respect to any of the foregoing, with the right, but not the obligation, to sue for and collect, or otherwisel

g
notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the foregoing clauses (i) through (vii) or elsewhere in the Loan Documents, the securil
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IP SECURITY AGREEMENT AND ALL MATTERS RELATING HERETO OR ARISING HEREFROM (WHETHER ARISING UNDER CONTRACT LAW, TORT LAW OR OTHERWISE) SHALL, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 5-1401]
[OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. (b) Any judicial proceeding brought by or agains

other €

[COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENTS OF THE PARTIES HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY|
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E-23 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Grantor and the Administrative Agent have caused this IP Security Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by its officer thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above. REDFIN]

[CORPORATION By: Name: Title: [[1]3 By: Name: Title: APOLLO ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY LLC, as Administrative Agent By: Name: Title: 3 Loan Parties granting security in Intellectual Prope
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E-24 SCHEDULE A — PATENTS PATEI

AND PATENT APPLICATIO
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E-25 SCHEDULE B — TRADEMARKS TRADEMARK REGISTRATIONS AND APPLICATIONS]
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E-26 SCHEDULE C — COPYRIGHTS REGISTERED COPYRIGHTS COPYRIGHT APPLICATIONS EXCLUSIVE COPYRIGHT LICENSES]
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hereafter cneated acquired or arising and wheresoever located (the “Collateral”): a. all Patents, including the issued Patents and Patent applications set fOlﬂ1 in Schedule A hereto (the “Patent Collatera\’ b. all Trademarks, including the}

rademark registrations and applications set forth in Schedule B hereto, together, in each case, with the goodwill symbolized thereby (the “Trademark Collateral™);

licenses granted to such Grantor in registered Copyrights, including, without limitation, the Copyright]

; ¢. all Copyrights, whether registered or unregistered, and all exclusive}
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lement has been entered into in conjunction with the provisions of the Credit Agreement. Each Grantor does hereby acknowledge and confirm that the grant of the security interest hereunde

0, and the rights and remedies of, the Administrative Agent with respect to the Collateral are more fully set forth in the Credit Agreement, the terms and provisions of which are incorporated herein b
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Etc. (&)
[OTHERWISE) SHALL, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 5-1401 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE]
STATE OF NEW YORK. (b) Any judicial proceeding brought by or against any Grantor with respect to this IP Security Agreement or any related agreement may be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction in the State of New York|

Ag ny Grantor in the courts of any other jurisdiction. (¢) EACH PARTY TO THIS IP SECURITY AGREEMENT SUPPLEMENT HEREB
EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, COUNTERCLAIM DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION (A) ARISING UNDER THIS IP SECURITY AGREEMENT SUPPLEMENT, ANY OTHER}
DOCUMENT OR ANY OTHER INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT EXECUTED OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH, OR (B) IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE]
DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES HERETO OR ANY OF THEM WITH RESPECT TO THIS IP SECURITY AGREEMENT SUPPLEMENT, ANY OTHER DOCUMENT OR ANY OTHER INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMEN

EXECUTED OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH, OR THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED HERETO OR THERETO IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER SOUNDING IN

[CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE AND EACH PARTY HEREBY CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM, COUNTERCLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION SHALL BE DECIDED BY COURT TRIAL WITHOUT A
JURY, AND THAT ANY PARTY TO THIS IP SECURITY AGREEMENT SUPPLEMENT MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF]
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E-30 THIS SECTION WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENTS OF THE PARTIES HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY. [Signatures to Follow on Separate Page’
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E-32 SCHEDULE A — PATENTS PATENTS AND PATENT APPLICATIONS]
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E-33 SCHEDULE B — TRADEMARKS TRADEMARK REGISTRATIONS AND APPLICATIONS]
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E-34 SCHEDULE C — COPYRIGHTS REGISTERED COPYRIGHTS COPYRIGHT APPLICATIONS EXCLUSIVE COPYRIGHT LICENSES]
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rantor and a Loan Party and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, hereby expressly assumes, jointly and severally, all obli atlons and liabilities of a Gualantor and a Loan Party thereunder, under the Notes, and under any|

Guarantor is a Qualified ECP Loan Party at the time such Swap Obligation is entered into and such Obligations and such guarantee thereof are not Excluded Hedge Liabilities.|
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Agreement, the Other Documents or any related agreement may be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction in the State of New York, United States of America, and, by execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement, eac

lAmerica, at Administrative Agent's optio ervice upon Borrower wl Additional Guarantor irrevocal 0 al Gual ministrative Agent for the accepting se e within the State
INew Yka NOlhlﬂt herem shall affecl the rlhl tO Serve process in any manner ermmed b Iaw or shall |Imlt the right Of any Agent or an' Lender to bfll’l( roceedln S al amst any Additional Guaramor in the courts Df any other LIIISdICUDn.

nstitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall const tute
page of this Joinder Agreement by facsimile or other electronic imaging (including in .pdf format
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B =4

e of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature, physical delivery thereof or the use of a paper-based recordkeepin: st . as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicabl
law, including the federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic S|c natures and Records Act, or any other state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, and the partie:
hereto consent to conduct the transactions contemplated hereunder by electronic means.|
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urrent Information A. Legal Name, Organizations, Corporate Functions, Jurisdiction of Organization and Organizational Identification|
anization, limited liabili i imilar organizational documents, in each case as amended to date), any trade names or similar]

umber. The full and exact legal name (as it appears in its certificate or articles of or b membership agreement, or si 3 .
appellations, the type of organization, the corporate function, the jurisdiction of organization and the state, provincial or territorial organizational identification number and federal taxpayer identification number of each Company are ag
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E-40 Distribution Centers Name of Company Addresses of Distribution Centers Owned or Leased? Description of Assets and Value Store Locations Name of Company Addresses of Store Locations Owned or Leased? Other Locations]
not already described above, if any) Name of Company Addresses of Other Property Locations Owned or Leased? Description of Use, Assets and Value 2. Set forth below is the information required with respect to each location or place]

bailee, warehouseman, customs broker, freight forwarder, carrier, consignee, etc
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le names and similar appellations), jurisdiction of organization or its corporate struci El
past five (5) years: D ate of Change Description of Change 4. Attached hereto as Schedule I-D is the in

Attached as Exhibit A hereto is a true and correct organizational chart showing the ownershi

of the Borrower and all of its affiliates. G. Federal Tax Return. Attached as Exhibit B hereto are true and correct copies of the cover pages of the

is qualified to conduct business: Name o

‘ederal tax returns most recently filed by the Companies with the Internal Revenue Service, as applicable. H. Foreign Qualifications. Set forth below is a list of all jurisdictions where each Compan:

lifications]

mpany Foreign
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laddress of each real estate recording office where a mortgage on the real estate on which such fixtures are or are to be located would be recorded. VI. Commercial Tort Claims. The Companies currently have the following commercial torf
arties: Case Name/ Defendant Summary of Claim Jurisdiction of Filing Filing No. A mount in Controversy VII. UCC Filing
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E-44 A. File Search Reports. Attached hereto as Schedule VII-A i of a file search report, along with a true copy of each financing statement or other filing identified in such file search report, from the UCC filing officer (or, iff

Isuch officer does not issue such reports, from an experienced UCC search organization acceptable to the Securi i) in each jurisdiction identified in Section I.A. or in Section |.B.2. with respect to each name set forth in Section I.A)
or I.D. and (i) from each filing officer in each real estate recording office identified on Schedule V with respect to real estate on which Collateral consisting of fixtures are or are to be located. B. UCC Filings. Attached hereto as Schedule}

upon the information contained herein. Each Company further acknowledges and agrees thaf
the information contained herein shall be deemed to be a representation and warranty under the Credit Agreement, and that any material misstatements or material omissions contained herein may constitute a default under the Credit]

Agreement. [signature pages follow]
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E-45 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned hereto have caused this Information Certificate to be executed as of the date above first written by its officer thereunto duly authorized. COMPANIES: REDFIN CORPORATION By: Name]

Title: [(1]9 By: Name: Title: [[1] By: Name: Title: 9 Signature blocks to be added as necessary to include Parent Guarantor and each Subsidiary of the Borrower.
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[E-46 Schedule |-D Other Nameg
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E-47 Schedule IV Real Property Address Owned or leased Estimated Value [e] [e] [e] [e] [¢] [¢
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E-48 Schedule V Fixtures Location Real Estate Recording Office [e] [e] [e] [e

Fﬁ slide191

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 329/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

E-49 Schedule VII-A File Search Reports (to be att
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[E-50 Schedule VII-B UCC Filings (to be attached)
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E-51 Schedule VII-C Termination Statement(s) (to be attached
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[E-53 Exhibit A Corporate Organizational Chart (to be attached)
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E-54 Exhibit B Federal Tax Returns (to be attached
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E-56 Distribution Centers Name of Company Addresses of Distribution Centers Owned or Leased? Description of Assets and Value Store Locations Name of Company Addresses of Store Locations Owned or Leased? Other Locations]

lat which, or other person or entity with which, any of the Collateral consisting 12 E.g., bailee, warehouseman, customs broker, freight forwarder, carrier, consignee, etc|
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Date Status Registration No. Owned or Licensed? Patents Patents Owner Filing Date Status Registration No. Owned or Licensed? Trademarks Trademarks Owner Filin
Date Status Registration No. Owned or Licensed? XII. Real Property. Attached hereto as Schedule IV is a true and correct list of all real property owned ol

, (b) an indication of whether such property is owned or leased and (c) if such property is owned, the estimated value thereof, or, if such property is leased, a|
laddress of each real estate recordln offlce where a mortgage on the real estate on which such fixtures are or are to be located would be recorded. XIV. Commercial Tort Claims. The Companies currently have the following commercial
tort claims against other parties: Case Name/ Defendant Summary of Claim Jurisdiction of Fi g No. Amount in Controversy XV. UCC Filings]
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E-60 A. File Search Reports. Attached hereto as Schedule VII-A is a true copy of a file search report, along with a true copy of each financing statement or other filing identified in such file search report, from the UCC filing officer (or, iff
Isuch officer does not issue such reports, from an experienced UCC search organization acceptable to the Securi i) in each jurisdiction identified in Section I.A. or in Section |.B.2. with respect to each name set forth in Section A
or I.D. and (i) from each filing officer in each real estate recording office identified on Schedule V with respect to real estate on which Collateral consisting of fixtures are or are to be located. B. UCC Filings. Attached hereto as Schedule}

chedule of Filing. Attached hereto as Schedule VII-D is a schedule setting forth filing information with respect to the filings described in Sections VII.B. and VII.C. E. Filing Fees. Al filing fees and taxes payable in connection with thef
[Company acknowledges that this Information Certificate is provided in connection with the Credit Agreement and that the lenders party thereto will rely upon the information contained herein. Each Company further acknowledges and
lagrees that the information contained herein shall be deemed to be a representation and warranty under the Credit Agreement, and that any material misstatements or material omissions contained herein may constitute a default unde

he Credit Agreement. [signature pages follow]
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its officer thereunto duly authorized. COMPANIES: REDFIN CORPORATION By: Name}
to include each Loan Pai

E-61 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned hereto have caused this Information Certificate to be executed as of the date above first written b
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E-62 Schedule I-D Other Nameg
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E-63 Schedule IV Real Property Address Owned or leased Estimated Value [e] [e] [e] [¢] [¢] [¢
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E-64 Schedule V Fixtures Location Real Estate Recording Office [e] [e] [e] [e
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E-65 Schedule VII-A File Search Reports (to be attached
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[E-66 Schedule VII-B UCC Filings (to be attached)
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E-67 Schedule VII-C Termination State! to be att:
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d in Secti . B. C. of the Inf
Filing Office Filing Date File Number [01] [01] [00] [C1] [O1] [C1] [O1] [00] [C0] [O0] [C] (O] [C0] [C0
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[E-69 Exhibit A Corporate Organizational Chart (to be attached)
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E-70 Exhibit B Federal Tax Returns (to be attached
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ransferor Lender and such Purchasing Lender (the “Purchase Price’

other amounts owing to the Transferor Lender under the Credit Agreement, and the Note(s). Effective]
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Purchasing Lender hereby irrevocably purchases, takes and assumes from Transferor Lender, such Purchasing Lender’s Purchased Percentage of the Advances and other amounts owing to the Transferor Lender under the Credif

sferor Lender pursuant to the Credit Agreement
such Purchasing Lender pursuant to the Credit Agreement from and after the Transfer Effective Date. 5. (a

lenforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of the Credit Agreement, the}
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r any other Lenders and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time,

; (iv) Purchasing Lender will, independently and without reliance upon Administrative Agent, Transferor Lender ol

continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action under the Credit Agreement; (v) Purchasing Lender appoints and authorizes Administrative Agent to take such action as agent on its behalf and to exercise such|

owers under the Credit Agreement as are delegated to Administrative Agent by the terms thereof; (vi) Purchasing Lender agrees that it will perform all of its respective obligations as set forth in the Credit Agreement to be performed b

. . - n eslDol e - n n T . n
respect to Purchasing Lender. 10. THIS COMMITMENT TRANSFER SUPPLEMENT AND ALL MATTERS RELATING HERETO OR ARISING HEREFROM (WHETHER ARISING UNDER CONTRACT LAW, TORT LAW OR OTHERWISE)

SHALL, IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 5-1401 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NE!

[YORK. [Si 5
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Transferor Lender By: Name: Title: APOLLO ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY LLC, as Administrative Agent By: Name: Title: [Consented to by: REDFIN CORPORATION, as Borrower By: Name: Title:]15 15 Consent to be included only if

r d by the Credit Agreement |
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ISchedule 1.1 Commitments Initial Term Loan Commitments Legal Entity Initial Term Loan Commitment Amount Initial Term Loan Commitment Percentage Loan Origination, a Compartment of Athora Lux Invest S.C.Sp. $100,000.00f
0.08% Athora Lux Invest NL Large Cap Direct Lending $7,400,000.00 5.92% Apollo Debt Solutions BDC $63,500,000.00 50.80% Apollo Diversified Credit Fund $8,500,000.00 6.80% Apollo Tactical Income Fund Inc. $1,750,000.00 1.40%

pollo Senior Floating Rate Fund Inc. $1,750,000.00 1.40% Apollo Accord+ Aggregator B, L.P. $21,000,000.00 16.80% Apollo Defined Return Aggregator B, L.P. $8,500,000.00 6.80% Apollo Excelsior Co-Invest, L.P. $12,500,000.00]
10.00% Total $125,000,000.00 100.00000000% Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitments Legal Entity Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment Amount Delayed Draw Term Loan Commitment Percentage Loan Origination, a Compartment
. $4,900,000.00 3.92% Athora Lux Invest NL Large Cap Direct Lending $2,600,000.00 2.08% Apollo Debt Solutions BDC $63,500,000.00 50.80% Apollo Diversified Credit Fund $8,500,000.00 6.80%
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Apollo Tactical Income Fund Inc. $1,750
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I=

2 Schedule 1.2(a) Permitted Encumbrances None]
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3 Schedule 1.2(b) Permitted Indebtedness Please provide a list of any Indebtedness that the Company plans or expects to have remain in place as of Closing. See Section 7.8 and the defined terms below. $230 million outstanding 2025

[Convertible Notes as of October 13, 2023. See “Convertible Senior Notes” in the Company's Form 10- Q filed August 3, 2023. The balance on October 13, 2023 reflects recent repurchase activity. $575 million outstanding 2027]
onvertible Notes as of October 13, 2023. See “Convertible Senior Notes” in the Company’s Form 10- O filed August 3, 2023. There has been no repurchase activity since our last 10-Q filing. Series A convertible preferred stock. See}

'Note 10: Mezzanine Equity” in the Form 10-
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Permitted Loans See Section 1.2(b). $2,147,632.43 receivable from Bay
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d) Existing Lease Obligations Van Leases. $148,564 net book value of van finance leases held by Redfin Home (collectively, the “Van Leases”),
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6 Schedule 1.2(e) Permitted Warehouse ility Limit Renewal Date Wells Fargo $100,000,000 3/16/2024 Prosperity $75,000,000 10/30/2024 City National $50,000,000 10/09/2024 Republic $75,000,000 8/14/2024 O

575,000,000 9/30/2024 M&T Bank $50,000,000 10/10/2024 Total $425,000,000
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7 Schedule 4.4 (a)(iv) Locations of each Loan Party’s equipment and Inventory having a value greater than $1,000,000 Name of Company Address Description of Use, Assets and Value (as of 9/30/23) Redfin 1099 Stewart Street Suite]
600 Seattle, WA 98101 Leasehold improvements and furniture/fixtures $7,505,079 Redfin 1 Montgomery Street Suite 800 San Francisco, CA 94104 Leasehold improvements and furniture/fixtures $1,566,502 Redfin 2611 Internet
Boulevard Suite 200-201 Frisco, TX 75034 Leasehold improvements and furniture/fixtures $1,298,075 In addition to above, the Company’s Balance Sheet as of 9/30/2023 includes internally developed software in the amount of]

$28,843,582.89 as perty and equipment|
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b)(i) Locations at whi has any Inventory h a value greater than $1,
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9 Name of Company Address of Chief Executive Office Place of Business (if different) Location where Books and Records are Kept (if different) Redfin Corporation 1099 Stewart St., Suite 600 Seattle, WA 98101 (“Seattle HQ") Sam
Same Same Redfin Home Services LLC Seattle HO Same Same Rent Grou

Inc. 271 17th Street, Suite 1800 Atlanta, GA 30326 Same Same Forward Settlement Solutions, Inc. 1628 JFK]
Forward Settlement Solutions of Texas, LLC 2611 Internet Blvd, Suite 202 Frisco, TX 75034 Same Seattle HQ Title Forward of California Inc. 163 Technology]
Drive, Suite 150A, Irvine, CA 92618 Same Seattle HQ Title Forward Agency of Arizona, LLC 1628 JFK Blvd., 8 Penn Center, Suite 700, Philadelphia, PA 19103 Same Seattle HQ RDFN Ventures, Inc. Seattle HQ Same Same RedfinNo

Blvd., 8 Penn Center, Suite 700, Philadelphia, PA 19103 Same Seattle HQ

Pledgor LLC Seattle HO Same Same RedfinNow Borrower LLC Seattle HQO Same Same Redfin Subsidiary Holdin
[Canada V6B 2W9 Same Seattle HO

oration Seattle HO Same Same Redfin Unlimited Liability Company 1090 Homer Street, Suite 300 Vancouver, B.C. |
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[10 (b)(iv) Real Property Company (Lessee) Lessor Address Owned or leased Redfin Corporation The Boardroom 721 Depot Drive Anchorage, AK 99501 Leased Redfin Corporation WORX BHM 324 Commons Drive Birmingham, Al
35209 Leased Redfin Corporation Regus - Bentonville Vendor 1202 North East McClain Road Bldg 7, Office 147 Bentonville, AR 72712 Leased Redfin Corporation MSC Tempe LLC 1900 West University Drive Suite 205, 206 Tempe, A.
85281 Leased Redfin Corporation The Nest - Via Paypal 2205 East 7th Avenue Flagstaff, AZ 86004 Leased Redfin Corporation Tucson Coworking LLC 149 North Stone Avenue 3rd and 4th Floors Tucson, AZ 85701 Leased Redfin|
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11 Redfin Corporation MSCI 2007-HQ12 Office 4900 Limited Partnership 4900 Airport Plaza Drive Suite 200 Long Beach, CA 90815 Leased Redfin Corporation Dublin Corporate Center Owner LLC 4160 Dublin Boulevard Suite 250)
Dublin, CA 94568 Leased Redfin Corporation 7510 Hazard, LLC 7676 Hazard Center Drive Suite 640 San Diego, CA 92108 Leased Redfin Corporation Post-Montgomery Associates 1 Montgomery Street Suite 800 San Francisco, CA
94104 Leased Redfin Corporation Fusion Workplaces - Palm Desert 74-710 Highway 111 Suite 109 Palm Desert, CA 92260 Leased Redfin Corporation Miramar - Aston View, LLC 1808 Aston Avenue Suite 200 Carlsbad, CA 92008
Leased Redfin Corporation THE IRVINE COMPANY LLC 163 Technology Suite 150 Irvine, CA 92618 Leased Redfin Corporation Miracle Mile Properties 3711 Long Beach Boulevard Suite 610 Long Beach, CA 90807 Leased Redfin|
Corporation Reus Management Group, LLC 1090 Homer Street Sulte 317 Vancouver, BC V6B 2W9 Leased Redfin Corporation Regus Management Group, LLC 251 Consumers Road Suites 1238 & 1247 Toronto, ON MZJ 4R3 Leased

412 Victoria, BC V8W 276 Leased Redfin Corporation Alturas Stanfor
C. Herman & Associates, Inc. 2001 S Street NW Suite 400 Washington, DC 20009 Leased
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12 Redfin Corporation Fairway Westshore Owner, LLC 600 N Westshore Blvd. Suite 800 & 701 Tampa, FL 33609 Leased Redfin Corporation Michael C. Wilde, Esq 5901 Broken Sound Parkway NW Suite 501 Boca Raton, FL 3348
Leased Redfin Corporation JB Property Venture, LLC 491 Montgomery Place Suite 1001 Altamonte Springs, FL 32714 Leased Redfin Corporation WeWork 1155 Perimeter Center West 1155 Perimeter Center West 10- 126 Atlanta, GA|
30338 Leased Redfin Corporation Waterfront Plaza, LLC 500 Ala Moana Boulevard Suite 3-A Honolulu, HI 96813 Leased Redfin Corporation Finance Factors, Limited 1164 Bishop Street Suites 614 and 938 Honolulu, HI 96813 Leased|

Claude Avenue Room 210 New Orleans, LA 70117 Lease!
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13 Redfin Corporation Jumbo Captial Management 150 Royall Street 2nd Floor Canton, MA 02021 Leased Redfin Corporation Workbar 100 Summit Drive Burlington, MA 01803 Leased Redfin Corporation Workbar 500 Unicorn Pari
Drive Office 315 Woburn, MA 01801 Leased Redfin Corporation DAS REALTY TRUST, Alexander Shore, Trustee 293 Belmont Street Belmont, MA 02478 Leased Redfin Corporation FP 540 GAITHER, LLC 540 Gaither Road Suite 500
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14 Redfin Corporation AP Grinnell Water Works, LP 1435 West Morehead Street Suite 135 & 235 Charlotte, NC 28208 Leased Redfin Corporation Regus Management Group, LLC 717 Green Valley Road Suite 200, 203 & 204]
reensboro, NC 27408 Leased Redfin Corporation 630 Davis Drive LLC 630 Davis Drive Suite 125 Durham, NC 27709 Leased Redfin Corporation Rockbrook Village Inc. 11060 Oak Street Suite 8 Omaha, NE 68144 Leased Redfil
[Corporation Gold Group 619 Lake Avenue Private Office #10 Asbury Park, NJ 07712 Leased Redfin Corporation Regus - Paramus Vendor 140 East Ridgewood Avenue Office 485 Paramus, NJ 07652 Leased Redfin Corporation PPI -]
Simms, LLC 400 Gold Avenue SW Suite 716 Albuguerque, NM 87102 Leased Redfin Corporation J&D Realty Holdings, New Mexico, LLC 1630 Alameda, N.W. Albuguerque, NM 87114 Leased Redfin Corporation CounterTrade Products|
Inc. 1630 Alameda, N.W. Albuguerque, NM 87114 Leased Redfin Corporation CENTRA POINT OWNER LLC 8329 West Sunset Road Suite 280 Las Vegas, NV 89113 Leased Redfin Corporation Centra Polnt Owner, LLC 8329 Wesf
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15 Redfin Corporation Serendipity Labs 44 South Broadwa)

Suite 100, Office 225 White Plains, NY 10601 Leased Redfin Corporation Regus - Buffalo Vendor 50 Fountain Plaza Suite 1400, Office 1430 Buffalo, NY 14202 Leased Redfin|
[Corporation Regus Cincinnati Vendor 8044 Montgomery Road Office #732 Cincinnati, OH 45236 Leased Redfin Corporation Kooperman Mentel Ferguson Yaross, Ltd. 400 West Rich Street Suite 253 Columbus, OH 43215 Leased Redfin|
[Corporation Limelight, LLC 425 Literary Road Offlce #3 Cleveland, OH 44113 Leased Redfin Corporation Cohatch 752 High St Office #2 Columbus, OH 43085 Leased Redfln Corporation Multa Negotium, LLC 14 NE 13th Street Sulte 11.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 374/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Fﬁ slide233

16 Redfin Corporation Brookwood Properties Subsidial

, LLC 300 East Sonterra Boulevard Suite 1180 San Antonio, TX 78258 Leased Redfin Corporation Hall G2, LLC 2611 Internet Boulevard Suite 200-201 Frisco, TX 75034 Leased|

Redfin Corporation Starwood Capital Group 10415 Morado Circle Suite 350 Austin, TX 78759 Leased Redfin Corporation c/o Lovett Companies 401 Franklin St. Suite 2550 Houston, TX 77201 Leased Redfin Corporation Common Desk -}
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17 Redfin Corporation TMG Lynnwood, LLC 808 134th Street SW Building B Suites 203, 204 & 206 Everett, WA 98204 Leased Redfin Corporation SDC Creative LLC 5601 Sixth Avenue South Suite 167 Seattle, WA 98108 Leased Redfin|

INC. 271 17th Street Suite 1800 Atlanta, GA, 30363 Leased (b)(v) Prior Names See Schedule 5.6 herein. (b)(vi) Merger or Corporate Reorganization The Compan:
IForm 8-K filed April 8, 2021. The Company acquired Bay Equity LLC on April 1, 2022. See the Company’s Form 8-K filed April 7, 2022}
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18 Schedule 4.8(f) sit and Investment Accounts See attached Schedule 4.8(f) — Bank Accounts.|
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19 Schedule 5.1 Consents None|
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20 Schedule 5.2(a) States of Qualification and Good Standing See attached Schedule 5.2(a) — States of
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21 Schedule 5.2(b) Subsidiaries Current Legal Entity Owned Jurisdiction Record Owner Loan Party / Excluded Subsidiary Walk Score Management, LLC WA Redfin Corporation Excluded (Immaterial Subsidiary) Forward Settlement|
[Solutions, Inc. DE Redfin Corporation Loan Pal Guarantor) BE Holdco LLC DE Redfin Corporation Excluded (Immaterial Subsidiary) RDFN Ventures, Inc. DE Redfin Corporation Excluded (Immaterial Subsidiary) Redfin Home Service:
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23 Schedule 5.6 Prior Names The Compan 5 ton in October 2002 and was reincorporated in February 2005 in Delaware and changed its name to Redfin Corporation in May 2006
changed its name to Redfin Unlimited Company on November 1, 2018. Front Seat Management, LLC changed its name to Wallg

IScore Management, LLC on May 2, 2012. Redfin Financial, Inc. changed its name to Redfin Mortgage, Inc. on June 26, 2008 and changed it again to Forward Settlement Solutions, Inc. on May 8, 2012

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 382/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

I=

slide241

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

383/459

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

I=

25 Schedule 5.8(c) Plal

s, Inc. Thrift & Retirement Plan e Ba)
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Schedule

chedule 5.9 Redfin - Trademarks and (ii) Schedule 5.9 Rent - Trademarks |

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 385/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

I=

27 Schedule 5.10 Licenses and Permits None |
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[28 Schedule 5.14 Labor Disputes See “Note 7: Commitments and Contingencies” in the Company’s Form 10-Q filed August 3, 2023,
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Interests Owner and Percentage of Equity Interest Subscription/ Options/Warrants/Calls/ Commitments/ Rights o
Eoui

29 Schedule 5.23 Equity Interests Name of Subsidiary Loan Party/Type of Excluded Subsidiary Type of Equi
1
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0 Name of Subsidiary Loan Party/Type of Excluded Subsidiary Type of Equi

Interests Owner and Percentage of Equity Interest Subscription/ Options/Warrants/Calls/ Commitments/ Rights or Agreements/Restrictions on Transfer
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31 Schedule 5.26 Material Contracts See attached Schedule 5.26 R
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- Material Contracts. See attached Schedule 5.26 Redfin - Material Contracts |
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32 Schedule 7.10 Transactions with Affiliates None |
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Schedule 4.8(f) Redfin Deposit Accounts Name of Company Account Number Type of Account Name and Address of Financial Institution Redfin Corporation 3139240240 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (120) PO Box 699
Redfin Corporation 3265390306 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (120) PO Box 6995 Redfin Corporation 4940710452 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (120) PO Box 6995 Redfin Corporation 4077371573 Checking/Wells]

. (182) PO Box 63020 Forward Settlement Solutions Inc 3265390314 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (120) PO Box 6995 Forward Settlement Solutions Inc 1382173480 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (120) PO Box|
995 Forward Settlement Solutions Inc 6259963731 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (120) PO Box 6995 Forward Settlement Solutions Inc 9178014065 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (120) PO Box 6995 Forwar
Settlement Solutions Inc 4604648261 Checkin

of 4619000730 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (182) PO Box 63020 Forward Settlement Solutions of 4421034497 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (182) PO Box 63020 Forward Settlement Solutions of 4290377399
hecking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (182) PO Box 63020 Forward Settlement Solutions of 4944129659 Checkin
[Fargo Bank, N.A. (182) PO Box 63020 Redfin Home Services, LLC 4943556670 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (182) PO Box 63020 Redfin Home Services, LLC 4290377423 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (182) PO
Box 63020 Redfin Home Services, LLC 4509128971 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (182) PO Box 63020 Redfin Ventures, Inc 4955941102 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (182) PO Box 63020 Redfin Ventures, Inc]
4604153841 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (182) PO Box 63020 Redfin Ventures, Inc 4534864467 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (182) PO Box 63020
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[Redfin Ventures, Inc 4943796656 Checking/Wells Wells Far , NLA. PO Box 63020 Redfin Ventures, Inc 4388369522 Checking/Wells Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (182) PO Box 63020 Redfin Unlimited Liability Co 00313-101-054-

Business Royal Bank of Canada PO Box 4047 Redfin Unlimited Liability Co 00313-101-251-7 Business Royal Bank of Canada PO Box 4047 Redfin Unlimited Liability Co 00313-101-053-7 Business Royal Bank of Canada PO Box 404

Redfin Unlimited Liability Co 00313-101- 084 2 Busmess Royal Bank of Canada PO Box 4047 Redfm Unlimited Llablht Co [)0313 100-074 4 Business Ro al Bank of Canada PO Box 4047 Redfln Unllmlted Llablllt Co 00313 101-083 4
siness Royal Bank of C r i

1BB59633 Money Market Wells Fa 0 Bank, N.A. 233 S Grand Ave Redfin Corpor: ato 1051004790 nve
Inc 1077719333 Deposit Acct PNC Bank, N.A. Rent Group Inc 1077719309 Daily Interest PNC Bank, N.A]
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RDFN Ventur 231299: N Ventures, Inc. 7375220 PA DE 2. Redfin
10118318 AK DE 5-| Feb 09 Redfln Corporation F15042751 AZ DE 12-Aug- 14 Redfln Corporation 811058926 AR DI
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6-Jun-13 Redfin Corporation 20518436-1 SC DE 2-Mar-21 Redfin Corporation FB197783 SD DE 11-Jul-14 Redfin Corporation 763598 TN DE 25-Apr-14 Redfin Corporation 9022702-0143 UT DE 11-Jul-14 Redfin Corporation 293336 VT

Home Services LLC 21084931 GA DE 15-Apr-21 Redfin Home Services LLC 254368 C6 HI DE 17-Mar-23 Redfin Home Services LLC 8747636 IL DE 23-Feb-21 Redfin Home Services LLC 721432968 MD DE 2-Nov-20 Redfin Home
ervices LLC 1468397 MA DE 26-Mar-21 Redfin Home Services LLC 1.22693E+12 MN DE 30-Oct-19 Redfin Home Services LLC NV20191621679 NV DE 23-Apr-21 Redfin Home Services LLC 2177199 NC DE 3-Mar-21 Redfin Home]
Services LLC 1790504-98 OR DE 25-Mar-21 Redfin Home Services LLC 1183259 TN DE 26-Oct-20 Redfin Home Services LLC 11126783 VA DE 10-Aug-18 Redfin Home Services LLC 604 322 496 WA DE 16-Apr-18 Redfin Home
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[15-Sep-21 Redfin Home Services LLC 7363955 PA DE 15-Sep-21 Redfin Home Services LLC 450702575 NJ DE 23-Aug-18 Redfin Subsidiary Holdin
28-

RedfinNow Borrower LLC 803377753 TX DE 29-Sep

g Corporation 7028016 DE DE 14-Jun-19 RedfinNow Borrower LLC 7467365 DE DI
-Jul-21 RedfinNow Borrower LLC 10618401 IL DE 30-Mar-21 RedfinNow Borrower LLC 1.22773E+12 MN DE 31-Mar-21 RedfinNow Borrower LLC 1184954 TN DE 7-Oct-20 RedfinNow Borrower LLC 604 553 493 WA DE 25-Jul-19

-21 RedfinNow Borrower LLC 7365866 PA DE 14-Jun-19 RedfinNow Pledgor LLC 7467369 DE DE 14-Apr-23 Title Forward Agency of Arizona, LLC 7408866 DE DE 18-May-23 Titl
[Forward Agency of Arizona, LLC 13443469 PA DE 11-Jul-23 Title Forward Agency of Arizona, LLC 23553651 AZ DE 22-Sep-20 Title Forward of California Inc. 4644823 CA CA 5-Feb-07 Walk Score Management LLC 602 693 112 WA
/A Redfin Unlimited Liability Com

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

397/459
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. R E F I N I T I V I <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

slide256

Date Status - Next Action REDF 3CA CA ONLINE SCHEDULING OF REAL ESTATE TOURS Redfin Corporation Published

Schedule 5.9 Redfin - Patents KMOB Reference Country Title Assignee Status A

2907316 06-Oct-2015 Response filed 7/7/2023 Awaiting further actiol
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Rent. — Issued Patent Summary Chart Client No. 32806 Updated: November 30, 2022 MATTER NO. TITLE U.S. PATENT NO. PRIORITY DATE / FILING DATE / ISSUE DATE ASSIGNEE(S) REPRESENTATIVE ISSUED CLAIM CLAIM|

SUMMARY 32806- 115339 CONSOLIDATING LEADS RECEIVED FROM POTENTIAL RENTERS FOR BILLING A LISTER 8,112,329 December 30, 2008 December 30, 2008 February 7, 2012 Rent Group Inc. Claim 1 This patent|

ND APPARATUS FOR APARTMENT LISTINGS 10,643,263 February 1

to processing information from telephone conversations held between property listers and users (potential purchasers), where an online listing system coordinates the telephone conversations with proxy telephone numbers. Upol
completion of the telephone conversations, the online listing system scans the call information to determine whether a contract associated with a property listing was formed between the listers and users. PRIVILEGED AND]
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Rent. / Issued Patent Summary Chart Page 2 of 10 MATTER NO. TITLE U.S. PATENT NO. PRIORITY DATE / FILING DATE / ISSUE DATE ASSIGNEE(S) REPRESENTATIVE ISSUED CLAIM CLAIM SUMMARY 32806- 60!
ISYSTEMS AND METHODS FOR DISPLAYING FILTERS AND INTERCEPTS LEVERAGING A PREDICTIVE ANALYTICS ARCHITECTURE 11,250,486 August 3, 2018 August 5, 2019 February 15, 2022 Rent Group Inc. Claim 1 Thid]
patent relates to presenting suggestions (via filters and inline intercepts) to a user currently engaged in a property listing search session on the user's device. Information regarding the user’s search session is processed within a web:

search session data and matching the search session data with a user action suggestion. Narrow limitations including processing}
resenting suggestions to a user currently engaged in a property listing search|
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1. A computer-implemented method, comprising: receiving at least one lead from a user device corresponding to at least onej

Chart Page 3 of 10 U.S. Patent No. 8,112,329 / Claim 1 (Return to Chart
listing associated with a lister; consolidating two or more leads received from a same potential renter into a lead group;

otential renters, the billing including counting each lead group as a distinct lead }

[Rent. / Issued Patent Summar
potential renter via a network, the at least one lead directed to a prope
of distinct leads received from
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received from one or more users including the same user to the lister, the forwarding including notifying the lister of a first count of the second plurality of leads, the first count including the lead group counted as one lead.}
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Rent. / Issued Patent Summary Chart Page 6 of 10 U.S. Patent No. 8,908,846 / Claim 1 (Return to Chart) 1. A computer-implemented method of operating an online listing system, the computer- implemented method including}

[determining, by a processor, an identity of a user based on an identifier entered by the user that uniquely identifies the user; capturing, by the processor, call histol

0 a lister, a first part of the proxy telephone number being the same for the user and one or more additional users of the online listing system; upon completion of the routed call, transmitting, to the user, additional information about a

information to determine whether a contract associated with the listing is formed between|

he user and the lister; and validating a transaction associated with the listing based on the determination that the contract is formed between the user and the lister.
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earch session data, process the search session data at the one or more processing modules to identify search session patterns or indicators representative of user search behavior via static logic or dynamic logic, wherein the static logid]

comprises predetermined logic for identifying predetermined search patterns or indicators within the search session data, and wherein the dynamic logic comprises machine learning-generated logic for identifying search patterns orf

to the user scrolling through the linear scrollable arrangement|
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art Page 8 of 10 U.S. Patent No. 11,314,811 / Claim 1 (Return to Chart
put from the electronic computing device in response to a user providing a plurality of search terms via the application, and wherein the plurali

connected to the web-based platform, wherein the semantic search engine is configured to}

Rent. / Issued Patent Summan
herein the web-based platform is configured to receive real-time user in|

[comprise location, price, and/or size information relating to available dwellings for rent or purchase; and a semantic search engine operativel

Isearch query to a search database for matching the plurality of search terms with relevant data, wherein relevant data comprises dwelling listings and corresponding dwelling listing information; receive search results from the search

atabase, wherein the search results comprise matched relevant data; and transmit the search results to the user for presenting the search results on a display at the electronic computing device, wherein the search results comprise one;
a semantic meaning of the location, price, and/or size information provided in the real-time user input |

or more listings for available dwellings for rent or purchase, wherein each dwelling comprises characteristics matchin
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Rent. / Issued Patent Summary Chart Page 9 of 10 U.S. Patent No. 11,301,914 / Claim 1 (Return to Chart) 1. A method, comprising: receiving a signal on a mobile device corresponding to a display of a map region, the ma

of physical buildings, the second icon having displayed thereon a second number indicator representative of a total number of physical buildings included in the subset of physical buildings, and wherein a particular color of the second icon|
indicates the user's prior viewing history with respect to at least one of the subset of physical buildings
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[Rent. / Issued Patent Summary Chart Page 10 of 10 U.S. Patent No. 11,507,992 / Claim 1 (Return to Chart) 1. A system comprising: a server comprising a processor, wherein the server is operatively connected to an electronic computing
[device and is configured to receive search session data in an uninterrupted data flow from the electronic computing device, the search session data corresponding to a user continuously viewing and interacting with one or more property}
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[Date Goods / Services ACTION 151038 97/464,697 06/17/2022 Class 09: Downloadable computer software for suggesting rental properties based on certain parameters; downloadable mobile application for promoting housing and|

Imanagement companies and owners Class 36: Providing real estate rental information online, namely, providing text and photographic information over the Internet concerning the availability, price, location and description of residential

software as a service (SAAS) services featuring software for management, tracking and reporting of leads and tracking of leads to signed leases, for others in the field of apartment rentals; software as a service (SAAS) services featurin:
software for management, tracking and reporting of online marketing activities for third parties; software as a service (SAAS) services featuring software for suggesting rental properties based on certain parameters AWAITING]

EXAMINATION
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onfidential; Attorney-Client Privileged Attorney Work Product Last Updated: January 12, 2023 2 MMM Ref. Mark Serial No. / Registration No. Filing Date / Registration Date Goods / Services ACTION 151039 97/464,694 06/17/2022

tracking and reporting of leads and tracking of leads to signed leases, for others in the fle\d of apartment rentals; software as a service (SAAS) services featurm software for management, tracking and reporting of online markelln
activities for third parties; software as a service (SAAS) services featuring software for suggesting rental properties based on certain parameters AWAITING EXAMINATION]
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onfidential; Attorney-Client Privileged Attorney Work Product Last Updated: January 12, 2023 3 MMM Ref. Mark Serial No. / Registration No. Filing Date / Registration Date Goods / Services ACTION 151040 97/464,692 06/17/2022

tracking and reporting of leads and tracking of leads to signed leases, for others in the fle\d of apartment rentals; software as a service (SAAS) services featurm software for management, tracking and reporting of online markelln
activities for third parties; software as a service (SAAS) services featuring software for suggesting rental properties based on certain parameters AWAITING EXAMINATION]
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onfidential; Attorney-Client Privileged Attorney Work Product Last Updated: January 12, 2023 4 MMM Ref. Mark Serial No. / Registration No. Filing Date / Registration Date Goods / Services ACTION 151041 97/464,591 06/17/2022

tracking and reporting of leads and tracking of leads to signed leases, for others in the fle\d of apartment rentals; software as a service (SAAS) services featurm software for management, tracking and reporting of online markelln
activities for third parties; software as a service (SAAS) services featuring software for suggesting rental properties based on certain parameters AWAITING EXAMINATION]
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[Confidential; Attorney-Client Privileged Attorney Work Product Last Updated: January 12, 2023 5 MMM Ref. Mark Serial No. / Registration No. Filin

Date / Registration Date Goods / Services ACTION 151042 RENTMARKETPLACE]

per-click search and online marketing campaigns, consulting to others in respect of the aforementioned services AWAITING EXAMINATION 151045 RENTSOCIAL 97/464,698 06/17/2022 Class 35: Advertising and marketing services;|
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ladvertising and marketing services provided by means of indirect methods of marketing communications, namel

, social media, search engine marketing, internet marketing, mobile marketing, blogging and other forms of passive,
and management, social media advertising, content creation, influencer marketing, and marketins

sharable or viral communications channels; marketing services in the nature of social media strateg

and advertising conceptf
roviding marketing consulting in the field of social media; social media strate

and awareness consulting services in social media content management and content distribution|

AWAITING EXAMINATIO!
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onfidential; Attorney-Client Privileged Attorney Work Product Last Updated: January 12, 2023 7 MMM Ref. Mark Serial No. / Registration No. Filing Date / Registration Date Goods / Services ACTION 153029 FIND IT. LOVE IT. RENT IT)

97/670,143 06/17/2022 Class 09: Downloadable computer software for suggesting rental properties based on certain parameters; downloadable mobile application for promoting housing and apartment pro
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rospective tenants video walkthroughs, property descriptions, text, price, location, maps and other information that would be influential to a prospective tenant in making a rental decision; downloadable computer software for directol
ublications in the field of housing and rentals, real estate marketing, and consumer resources; downloadable software application for connecting consumers with apartment management companies and owners; downloadable mobile
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[Confidential; Attorney-Client Privileged Attorney Work Product Last Updated: January 12, 2023 9 MMM Ref. Mark Serial No. / Registration No. Filing Date / Registration Date Goods / Services ACTION 153131 RENTDISCOVER
97/616,457 10/02/2022 Class 42: Developing property management community websites for others; providing turnkey website design and development services for property managers for others AWAITING EXAMINATION 153433]

ebsite with real estate rental listings where users may post or respond to advertisements seeking roommates attached to those listings AWAITING EXAMINATION|
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RENT. IT. 97/670,146 11/09/2022 Class 09: Downloadable computer software for suggesting rental properties based on certain parameters; downloadable mobile application for promoting housing and apartment properties through

lapartment rentals; software as a service (SAAS) services featuring software for management, tracking and reporting of online marketing activities for third parties; software as a service (SAAS) services featuring software for suggesting
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pthers; providing a website that enables consumers to advertise and market their services by means of indirect methods of marketing communications AWAITING EXAMINATION
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listings and information on topics of general interest, on housing and rentals, on various trades, business, and professional training and consumer resources]
roviding via a global computer communications network, non-downloadable magazines, newspapers, newsletters, guides]

Imagazines, newspapers, newsletters, guides and directories
rofessional training and consumer resources REGISTERED Allow to expire due to nonuse 126757

REGISTERED Allow to expire due to nonuse 126773 4,450,746 12/17/2013 Class 41: Computer services, namel

land directories providing listings and information on topics of general interest, on housing and rentals, on various trades, business, and
re due to nonuse 126756 4,505,057 04/01/2014 Class 035: Advertising of commercial or residential real estat

14,489,823 02/25/2014 Class 35: Management of call centers for others REGISTERED Allow to ex|

rospective tenants video walk throughs, property descriptions, text, price,

estate, apartments, and residential rentals; Providing an interactive real estate website which promotes housing and apartment properties through offerin
rospective tenant in making a rental decision; Real estate advertising services; Real estate marketing services; Real estate marketing services in the field of online
tial and commercial real estate REGISTERED Allow to expire due to nonuse]

location, maps and other information that would be influential to a

arketplace for residential rentals.; Real estate marketing services, namely, on-line services featuring tours of resid
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12, 2023 14 MMM Ref. Mark Serial No. / Registration No. Filing Date / Registration Date Goods / Services ACTION 126755 4,528,555 05/13/2014

onfidential; Attorney-
[Class 036: Classified real estate listins gs in different neighborhoods and communities; Providing a database of residential
real estate listings within neighborhoods and communities specificall

gs of apartment rentals and housing rentals; Providing a database of information about residential real estate listin
identified by users; Providing information in the field of real estate via the Internet; Providing real estate listings and real estate information via the Internet; Providing
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real estate listings via the Internet; Real estate listing services for housing rentals and apartment rentals; Real estate rental services, namely, rental of residential housing; Rental of apartments; Rental of apartments and offices; Rental of|

Allow to expire due to nonuse]
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on-line searchable interactive website featuring information in the field of real estate, namel idi i rospective renters search for residential real property to rent; Providing a website with real estate rental listings]
here users may post or respond to advertisements seeking roommates attached to those listings Class 041: Providing on-line non-downloadable directory publications in the field of housing and rentals, real estate marketing, business

land consumer resources REGISTERED Allow to expire due to nonuse}
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or respond to advertisements seeking roommates attached to those listings Class 041: P

tions in the field of housing and rentals, real estate marketing, business, and consumer
resources REGISTERED Allow to e: due to nonuse

I=
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onfidential; Attorney-Client Privileged Attorney Work Product Last Updated: January 12, 2023 17 MMM Ref. Mark Serial No. / Registration No. Filin:
[Class 035: Providing an interactive real estate web site through which owners and managers of residential real propert

Date / Registration Date Goods / Services ACTION 126744 4,857,824 11/24/201
promote properties available for rent to prospective renters Class 036: Providing real estate rental information online,
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lapartment management companies and owners; services rendered to the multi-famil reparing advertisements for others; advertising consulting services; promotion consulting services; marketing consulting

romoting the services of the multi-famil ing i through the distribution of printed and audio promotional materials and b i romotional advice REGISTERED Allow to expire due to nonuse]

slide296

p
software for mobile communications devices, namely, software for providing website containing a directory or listing of apartments, condos and homes for rent or lease, featuring text and photographic information concerning thef

shoppers and providing an advertising medium for apartment owners and managers REGISTERED allow to expire due to nonuse 126760 5,060,480 10/11/2016 Class 009: Computer application software for mobile phones, namel
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software for providing a directory or listing of apartments, condos and homes for rent or lease, featuring text and photographic information concerning the availability, price, location and description of residential real property of others to
prospective apartment renters and shoppers; Downloadable computer software for mobile communications devices for providing a directory for apartment shoppers and providing an advertising medium for apartment owners and
imanagers REGISTERED allow to expire due to non- use 126761 5,049,132 09/27/2016 Class 35: Advertising, marketing and promoting the goods and services of others; real estate marketing services connecting consumers witl

artment management companies and owners; real estate marketing services, namely, online advertising services featuring textual and photographic representations of residential real estate Class 36: Providing residential rental housing|

listings as well as other information on topics of general interest in the field of real estate to consumers in the housing and rental markets via the Internet REGISTERED Allow to expire due to nonuse

slide297

Date / Registration Date Goods / Services ACTION 126762 5,018,898 08/09/2016]

he field of real estate, namely, providing a website where prospective renters search for residential real property to rent; Providing a website with real estate rental listings where users may post or respond to advertisements seeking
roommates attached to those listings Class 41: Providing on-line non-downloadable directory publications in the field of housing and rentals, real estate marketing, business, and consumer resources REGISTERED Allow to expire due to|
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onfidential; Attorney-Client Privileged Attorney Work Product Last Updated: January 12, 2023 20 MMM Ref. Mark Serial No. / Registration No. Filing Date / Registration Date Goods / Services ACTION 126765 4,991,938 07/05/20

he field of real estate, namely, providing a website where

rospective renters search for residential real property to rent; Providing a website with real estate rental listings where users ma

post or respond to advertisements seekin

non- use 126766 4,987,862 06/28//2016 Class 009: Computer application software for mobile
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price, location and description of residential real of others to prospective renters; software for displaying and interacting with an on-line searchable interactive website featuring information in thej

Internet concerning the availabilit

ield of real estate, namely, for accessing and interacting with a website where prospective renters search for residential real property to rent; and software for accessing and displaying on-line non-downloadable directory publications ir

he field of housing and rentals, real estate marketing REGISTERED Allow to expire due to non- use}
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newspapers, newsletters, guides and directories providing information on topics of general interest, on various trades, business, [ education, vocational ] and professional training and consumer resources REGISTERED Allow to expire
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Attorney Work Product Last Updated: January 12, 2023 22 MMM Ref. Mark Serial No. / Registration No. Filing Date / Registration Date Goods / Services ACTION 126781 4,274,600 01/15/2013
Class 35 CANCELLED AIIOW to expire due to nonuse 126785 APARTMENT GUIDE A DIRECTORY FOR THE APARTMENT SHOPPER FREE 1,410,440 09/23/1986 Class 16 CANCELLED Allow to expire due to nonuse 126780

JAPARTMENT GUIDE SOCIALMEDIA MANAGER 4,271,234 01/08/2013 Class 42 CANCELLED Allow to expire due to nonusel
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[Schedule 5.26 Redfin Material Contracts]
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Vi erates Goo
D between Redfin and Adswerve Inc., dated November 22, 2022 and The Amended and Restated Service Schedule #2 between Redfin and Adswerve, Inc. dated January 1, 2021 Workda Master Subscription Agreement between|
[Workday, Inc. and Redfin dated August 1, 2014 AWS AWS Customer Agreement between AWS Contracting Party and Redfin dated [unknown] and AWS Beta Test Participation Agreement between Amazon Web Services, Inc. and Redfin|

Sales Representation Agreement with Direct Sales between Playwire, LLC and Redfin dated December 13, 2022 and Amendment No. 2 to the Advertising Sales]
Representation Agreement with Direct Sales between Playwire, LLC and Redfin dated December 13, 2022 Coupa Master Subscription Agreement between Coupa and Redfin dated June 27, 2019 Netsuite Netsuite Subscription Services|
Agreement between Netsuite Inc. and Redfin dated November 22, 2013 Docusign DocuSign Master Services Agreement between DocuSign and Redfin dated January 28, 2021 Virtru (Title Forward) Virtu Pro Subscription Agreement]

between Virtu Pro and Title Forward dated February 10, 2020}
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CHANGE IN CONTROL SEVERANCE AGREEMENT

This Change in Control Severance Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into by and between (the “Executive”) and Redfin
Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Redfin”), is effective as of the date that this Agreement is signed (the “Effective Date”). This Agreement was approved by
the Board, or a committee thereof, on [DATE] (the “Approval Date”). This Agreement supersedes and replaces in its entirety any prior Change in Control Severance
Agreement between Executive and the Company (“Prior Agreement”).

L] Term of Agreement.

This Agreement shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the three (3) year anniversary of the Approval Date, or as extended pursuant to the Renewal Provision
(as defined below), (ii) the date Executive’s employment with Redfin terminates for a reason other than a CIC Qualifying Termination or (iii) the date Redfin has met
all of its obligations under this Agreement following a CIC Qualifying Termination (the “Expiration Date”). If the Agreement has not previously terminated, this
Agreement shall automatically renew for additional one (1) year terms following the initial three (3) year anniversary of the Approval Date unless either party
provides the other party with written notice of non-renewal at least thirty (30) days prior to the date of automatic renewal (the “Renewal Provision”). This Agreement
shall expire on the Expiration Date unless renewed pursuant to the Renewal Provision or extended pursuant to the immediately following sentence.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a definitive agreement relating to a Change in Control has been signed by Redfin on or before the Expiration Date, then this
Agreement shall remain in effect through the earlier of (a) 12 (twelve) months following such Change in Control; (b) the date Executive’s employment with Redfin
terminates for a reason other than a CIC Qualifying Termination or (c) the date Redfin has met all of its obligations under this Agreement following a CIC Qualifying
Termination.
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For the avoidance of doubt, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 2 below, Redfin’s non-renewal of this Agreement shall not constitute a
CIC Qualifying Termination.

2. Severance Benefit.

Any other provision of this Agreement notwithstanding, Executive’s receipt of any payments or benefits under Section 2(a) is subject to Executive’s delivery
to Redfin of a general release (in a form prescribed by Redfin) of all known and unknown claims that he or she may then have against Redfin or persons affiliated
with Redfin (the “Release”), and satisfaction of all conditions to make the Release effective, within thirty (30) days (the “Release Period”) following Executive's CIC
Qualifying Termination. In no event will any payment or benefits under Section 2(a) be paid or provided until the Release becomes effective and irrevocable.

(a) Qualifying Termination During a Change in Control Period. If Executive is subject to a CIC Qualifying Termination, Executive shall be entitled to
the following:

(i) Severance Payments. Redfin shall pay Executive six (6) months of Executive’s base salary at the rate in effect immediately prior to the actions
that resulted in the CIC Qualifying Termination or when the Change in Control occurred, whichever is greater, in a cash lump-sum on the later
of (x) the fifth (5th) business day following expiration of the Release Period and (y) the closing of the Change in Control.

(ii) Health Care Benefit. Redfin shall pay Executive a taxable cash lump-sum payment in an amount equal to six (6) months of Executive’s
COBRA payments for Executive and his or her eligible dependents for continued health benefits, on the later of (x) the fifth (5th) business day
following expiration of the Release Period and (y) the closing of the Change in Control.

(i) Equity. Each of Executive’s then-outstanding unvested Equity Awards, other than Performance Awards (defined below), shall accelerate and
become vested and exercisable or settleable as if Executive had continued in service for an additional twenty-four (24) months. With respect
to awards that would otherwise vest only upon satisfaction of performance criteria (“Performance Awards”), then the vesting will accelerate
as set forth in the terms of the applicable performance-based Equity Award agreement. The accelerated vesting described above shall be
effective as of the later of (x) the fifth (5th) business day following expiration of the Release Period and (y) the closing of the Change in
Control; provided, that if (1) Redfin terminates Executive’s employment for any reason other than Cause before a Change in Control or
(2) Executive voluntarily resigns his or her employment for Good Reason before a Change in Control, then any unvested Equity Awards that
would otherwise forfeit upon such termination shall remain outstanding and eligible to vest for three (3) months following such termination
(provided that in no event will the Equity Awards remain outstanding beyond the expiration of the Equity Award’s maximum term) to permit the
acceleration described above. In the event that a Change in Control is not completed during such three (3) month period, any unvested
portion of the Equity Awards will be automatically and permanently forfeited without having vested effective three (3) months following such
termination.

(b) Non-Assumption of Equity Awards granted under the 2017 Plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if the successor or acquiring
corporation (if any) of Redfin refuses to assume, convert, replace or substitute Executive’s unvested Equity Awards as provided in Section 21.1 of Redfin’s 2017
Equity Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”) in connection with a Corporate Transaction (as defined in the 2017 Plan), then notwithstanding any other provision in this
Agreement, the Plan or any Equity Award Agreement to the contrary, each of Executive’s then-outstanding and unvested Equity Awards, other than Performance
Awards, that are not assumed, converted, replaced or substituted, shall accelerate and become vested and exercisable as to 100% of the then-unvested shares
subject to the Equity Awards effective immediately prior to the Corporate Transaction and terminate to the extent not exercised (as applicable) upon the Corporate
Transaction. With respect to Performance Awards, the vesting for such Performance Awards will accelerate as set forth in the terms of the applicable performance-
based Equity Award agreement.

(c) Accrued Compensation and Benefits. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 2(a) above, in connection with any termination of
employment, Redfin shall pay Executive’s earned but unpaid base salary and other vested but unpaid cash entitlements, including unused earned vacation pay and
unreimbursed documented business expenses incurred by Executive through and including the date of termination (collectively “Accrued Compensation and
Expenses”). In addition, Executive shall be entitled to any other vested benefits earned by Executive for the period through and including the termination date of
Executive’s employment under any other employee benefit plans and arrangements maintained by Redfin, in accordance with the terms of such plans and
arrangements, except as modified herein (collectively “Accrued Benefits”). Any Accrued Compensation and Expenses to which Executive is entitled shall be paid to
Executive in cash as soon as administratively practicable after the termination, and, in any event, no later than two and one-half (2-1/2) months after the end of the
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taxable year of Executive in which the termination occurs or at such earlier time as may be required by applicable law. Any Accrued Benefits to which Executive is
entitled shall be paid to Executive as provided in the relevant plans and arrangements.

3. Redfin Policies. Executive will be bound by and comply fully with Redfin’s standard confidentiality agreement (a form of which was been provided to
Executive), insider trading policy, code of conduct, and any other policies and programs adopted by Redfin regulating the behavior of its employees, as such policies
and programs may be amended from time to time to the extent the same are not inconsistent with this Agreement.

4. Definitions.
(a) “Board” means Redfin’s Board of Directors.
(b) “Cause” means the occurrence of any of the following events, as determined by Redfin and/or the Board in its and/or their sole and absolute
discretion:
(0] Executive has been convicted of, or has pleaded guilty or nolo contendere to, any felony or any crime involving moral turpitude;

(i) Executive has engaged in willful act of gross misconduct that results in (or would reasonably be expected to result in) harm to Redfin;
(i)  Executive has made any unauthorized disclosure or use of Redfin’s confidential or proprietary information;

(iv) Executive has breached any material term or condition of Executive’s Confidential Information and Invention Assignment Agreement with
Redfin;

) Executive has committed any act of fraud, theft, embezzlement, misappropriation of funds, breach of fiduciary duty or other willful act of
material dishonesty against Redfin that results in (or would reasonably be expected to result in) harm to Redfin; or

(vi) Executive has breached any material term or condition of this Agreement or any other material agreement with Redfin;

(vii)  provided; however, that the action or conduct described in clause (vi) above will constitute “Cause” only if such action or conduct continues
after Redfin has provided Executive with written notice thereof and ten (10) business days to cure the same if such action or conduct is
curable. The determination as to the existence of grounds for Executive’s termination for Cause shall be made in good faith by Redfin or the
Board and shall be final and binding on Executive.

(c) “COBRA" means theConsolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended.
(d) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

(e) “Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the
Exchange Act) becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of Redfin representing more than
fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented by Redfin’s then outstanding voting securities; or (ii) the consummation of the sale or disposition by Redfin
of all or substantially all of Redfin’s assets; or (iii) the consummation of a merger or consolidation of Redfin with any other corporation, other than a merger or
consolidation which would result in the voting securities of Redfin outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or
by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or its parent) at least fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented by the voting securities
of Redfin or such surviving entity or its parent outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation.

(0] “CIC Qualifying Termination” means a Separation (i) within twelve (12) months following a Change in Control or (ii) within three (3) months
preceding a Change in Control, but as to part (ii) only if the Separation occurs following a Potential Change in Control, in each case, resulting from (X) Redfin
terminating Executive's employment for any reason other than Cause or (Y) Executive voluntarily resigning his or her employment for Good Reason. “Potential
Change in Control” means the date of execution of a definitive agreement for a corporate transaction which, if consummated, would constitute the applicable
Change in Control. A termination or resignation due to Executive’s death or disability shall not constitute a CIC Qualifying Termination.

(9) “Equity Awards” means all awards for Redfin common stock granted to Executive, including but not limited to options, stock bonus awards,
restricted stock, restricted stock units and stock appreciation rights.

(h) “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
(i) “Good Reason” means the occurrence of any of the following events or conditions, without Executive’s express written consent:
(i) a material reduction in Executive’s base salary (other than a reduction generally applicable to executive officers of Redfin and in generally the

same proportion as for Executive);

(ii) a material reduction in Executive’s authority, duties or responsibilities at Redfin;

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 453/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

(i)  a change in the geographic location at which Executive must perform services which results in an increase in the one-way commute of
Executive by more than 50 miles; or

(iv) Redfin’s material breach of this Agreement comprised of its failure to ensure assumption of this Agreement by its successor, as set forth in
Section 5(a) hereof.

(v) With respect to each of subsection (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above, Executive must provide notice to Redfin of the condition giving rise to “Good
Reason” within ninety (90) days of the initial existence of such condition, and Redfin will have thirty (30) days following such notice to remedy
such condition.

Executive must resign Executive’s employment and effect a Separation no later than thirty (30) days following expiration of Redfin’s thirty (30) day cure period.
(0] “Separation” means a “separation from service,” as defined in the regulations under Section 409A of the Code.
Bl Successors.

(a) Redfin’s Successors. Redfin shall require any successor (whether direct or indirect and whether by purchase, merger, consolidation, liquidation or
otherwise) to all or substantially all of Redfin’s business and/or assets, by an agreement in substance and form satisfactory to Executive, to assume this Agreement
and to agree expressly to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent as Redfin would be required to perform it in the absence of a
succession. For all purposes under this Agreement, the term “Redfin” shall include any successor to Redfin’s business and/or assets or which becomes bound by
this Agreement by operation of law.

(b) Executive’s Successors. This Agreement and all rights of Executive hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, Executive’s
personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees.

6. Golden Parachute Taxes.

(@) Best After-Tax Result. In the event that any payment or benefit received or to be received by Executive pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise
(“Payments”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and (ii) but for this subsection (a), be subject to the excise
tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code, any successor provisions, or any comparable federal, state, local or foreign excise tax (‘Excise Tax”), then, subject to the
provisions of Section 6(b) hereof, such Payments shall be either (A) provided in full pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any other applicable agreement, or
(B) provided as to such lesser extent which would result in no portion of such Payments being subject to the Excise Tax (“‘Reduced Amount”), whichever of the

foregoing amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state, local and foreign income, employment and other taxes and the Excise Tax (including, without
limitation, any interest or penalties on such taxes), results in the receipt by Executive, on an after-tax basis, of the greatest amount of payments and benefits
provided for hereunder or otherwise, notwithstanding that all or some portion of such Payments may be subject to the Excise Tax. Unless Redfin and Executive
otherwise agree in writing, any determination required under this Section shall be made by independent tax counsel designated by Redfin and reasonably
acceptable to Executive (“Independent Tax Counsel”), whose determination shall be conclusive and binding upon Executive and Redfin for all purposes. For
purposes of making the calculations required under this Section 6(a), Independent Tax Counsel may make reasonable assumptions and approximations concerning
applicable taxes and may rely on reasonable, good faith interpretations concerning the application of Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code; provided that
Independent Tax Counsel shall assume that Executive pays all taxes at the highest marginal rate. Redfin and Executive shall furnish to Independent Tax Counsel
such information and documents as Independent Tax Counsel may reasonably request in order to make a determination under this Section. Redfin shall bear all
costs that Independent Tax Counsel may reasonably incur in connection with any calculations contemplated by this Section. In the event that Section 6(a)(ii)(B)
above applies, then based on the information provided to Executive and Redfin by Independent Tax Counsel, Executive may, in Executive’s sole discretion and
within 30 days of the date on which Executive is provided with the information prepared by Independent Tax Counsel, determine which and how much of the
Payments (including the accelerated vesting of equity compensation awards) to be otherwise received by Executive shall be eliminated or reduced (as long as after
such determination the value (as calculated by Independent Tax Counsel in accordance with the provisions of Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code) of the amounts
payable or distributable to Executive equals the Reduced Amount). If the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) determines that any Payment is subject to the Excise
Tax, then Section 6(b) hereof shall apply, and the enforcement of Section 6(b) shall be the exclusive remedy to Redfin.

(b) Adjustments. If, notwithstanding any reduction described in Section 6(a) hereof (or in the absence of any such reduction), the IRS determines that
Executive is liable for the Excise Tax as a result of the receipt of one or more Payments, then Executive shall be obligated to surrender or pay back to Redfin, within
120 days after a final IRS determination, an amount of such payments or benefits equal to the “Repayment Amount.” The Repayment Amount with respect to such
Payments shall be the smallest such amount, if any, as shall be required to be surrendered or paid to Redfin so that Executive’'s net proceeds with respect to such
Payments (after taking into account the payment of the Excise Tax imposed on such Payments) shall be maximized. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Repayment
Amount with respect to such Payments shall be zero if a Repayment Amount of more than zero would not eliminate the Excise Tax imposed on such Payments or if
a Repayment Amount of more than zero would not maximize the net amount received by Executive from the Payments. If the Excise Tax is not eliminated pursuant
to this Section 6(b), Executive shall pay the Excise Tax.

7. Miscellaneous Provisions.
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(a) Section 409A. To the extent (i) any payments to which Executive becomes entitled under this Agreement, or any agreement or plan referenced
herein, in connection with Executive’s termination of employment with Redfin constitute deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code and (ii)
Executive is deemed at the time of such termination of employment to be a “specified” employee under Section 409A of the Code, then such payment or payments
shall not be made or commence until the earlier of (i) the expiration of the six (6)-month period measured from the date of Executive’s “separation from service” (as
such term is at the time defined in regulations under Section 409A of the Code) with Redfin; or (ii) the date of Executive’'s death following such separation from
service; provided, however, that such deferral shall only be effected to the extent required to avoid adverse tax treatment to Executive, including (without limitation)
the additional twenty percent (20%) tax for which Executive would otherwise be liable under Section 409A(a)(1)(B) of the Code in the absence of such deferral.
Upon the expiration of the applicable deferral period, any payments which would have otherwise been made during that period (whether in a single sum or in
installments) in the absence of this paragraph shall be paid to Executive or Executive’s beneficiary in one lump sum (without interest).

Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, to the extent any expense reimbursement or the provision of any in-kind benefit under this Agreement (or otherwise
referenced herein) is determined to be subject to (and not exempt from) Section 409A of the Code, the amount of any such expenses eligible for reimbursement, or
the provision of any in-kind benefit, in one calendar year shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement or in kind benefits to be provided in any other
calendar year, in no event shall any expenses be reimbursed after the last day of the calendar year following the calendar year in which Executive incurred such
expenses, and in no event shall any right to reimbursement or the provision of any in-kind benefit be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

To the extent that any provision of this Agreement is ambiguous as to its exemption or compliance with Section 409A, the provision will be read in such a manner so
that all payments hereunder are exempt from Section 409A to the maximum permissible extent, and for any payments where such construction is not tenable, that
those payments comply with Section 409A to the maximum permissible extent. To the extent any payment under this Agreement may be classified as a “short-term
deferral” within the meaning of Section 409A, such payment shall be deemed a short-term deferral, even if it may also qualify for an exemption from Section 409A
under another provision of Section 409A. Payments pursuant to this Agreement (or referenced in this Agreement) are intended to constitute separate payments for
purposes of Section 1.409A 2(b)(2) of the regulations under Section 409A.

(b) Other Severance and Acceleration Arrangements. Except as otherwise specified herein, this Agreement represents the entire agreement between
Executive and Redfin with respect to any and all severance arrangements, vesting acceleration arrangements and post-termination stock option exercise period
arrangements, and supersedes and replaces any and all prior verbal or written discussions, negotiations and/or agreements between Executive and Redfin relating
to the subject matter hereof as may be set forth under, but not limited to, any and all prior agreements governing any Equity Award, any change in control and
severance agreements [(including the Prior Agreement)]:, employment agreement, offer letter or programs and plans which were previously offered by Redfin to
Executive, and Executive hereby waives Executive’s rights to any and all such other severance arrangements, vesting acceleration arrangements and post-
termination stock option exercise period arrangements, as applicable.

(c) Dispute Resolution. To ensure rapid and economical resolution of any and all disputes that might arise in connection with this Agreement, Executive
and Redfin agree that any and all disputes, claims, and causes of action, in law or equity, arising from or relating to this Agreement or its enforcement, performance,
breach, or interpretation, will be resolved solely and exclusively by final, binding, and confidential arbitration, by a single arbitrator, in King County, WA, and
conducted by the American Arbitration Association under its then-existing employment rules and procedures. Nothing in this section, however, is intended to prevent
either party from obtaining injunctive relief in court to prevent irreparable harm pending the conclusion of any such arbitration. Each party to an arbitration or
litigation hereunder shall be responsible for the payment of its own attorneys’ fees.

(d) Notice. Notices and all other communications contemplated by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when
personally delivered or when mailed by U.S. registered or certified mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid or deposited with Federal Express
Corporation (or a comparable delivery Redfin), with shipping charges prepaid. In the case of Executive, mailed notices shall be addressed to him or her at the home
address which he or she most recently communicated to Redfin in writing. In the case of Redfin, mailed notices shall be addressed to its corporate headquarters,
and all notices shall be directed to the attention of its Secretary.

(e) Amendment; Waiver. This Agreement may not be amended or waived except by a writing signed by Executive and by a duly authorized
representative of Redfin other than Executive. No provision of this Agreement shall be modified, waived, superseded or discharged unless the modification, waiver
or discharge is agreed to in writing and signed by Executive and by an authorized officer of Redfin (other than Executive) and, to the extent it supersedes this
Agreement, that this Agreement is referred to by date. No waiver by either party of any breach of, or of compliance with, any condition or provision of this Agreement
by the other party shall be considered a waiver of any other condition or provision or of the same condition or provision at another time.

1NTD: To be included for Executives with prior Change in Control Severance Agreements.

f) Withholding Taxes. All payments made under this Agreement shall be subject to reduction to reflect taxes or other charges required to be withheld
by law.

(9) Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any
other provision hereof, which shall remain in full force and effect.

(h) No Retention Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall confer upon Executive any right to continue in service for any period of specific duration or
interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the rights of Redfin or any subsidiary of Redfin or of Executive, which rights are hereby expressly reserved by each, to
terminate his or her service at any time and for any reason, with or without Cause.
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(i) Choice of Law. The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Washington
(other than their choice-of-law provisions).

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has executed this Change in Control Severance Agreement as of the dates below.

REDFIN CORPORATION

By:
Its: [Title]
Dated:

EXECUTIVE:

[Name]
Dated:

[Signature Page to the Change in Control Severance Agreement]

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
1, Glenn Kelman, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Redfin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting; and
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5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: November 2, 2023 May 7, 2024

/sl Glenn Kelman

Glenn Kelman
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
1, Chris Nielsen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Redfin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over

financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: November 2, 2023 May 7, 2024

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 457/459

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

/sl Chris Nielsen

Chris Nielsen
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

1, Glenn Kelman, Chief Executive Officer of Redfin Corporation (the “Company”), certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 that, to my knowledge, the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: November 2, 2023 May 7, 2024

/sl Glenn Kelman

Glenn Kelman
Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

1, Chris Nielsen, Chief Financial Officer of Redfin Corporation (the “Company”), certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 that, to my knowledge, the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: November 2, 2023 May 7, 2024

/sl Chris Nielsen

Chris Nielsen
Chief Financial Officer
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO
FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING
THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS
REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY'S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY INVESTMENT
OR OTHER DECISIONS.

©2024, Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Patents Pending.
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